
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

BOARD OF EDUCATION 

MEETING 
 
 
 

       
 
 
 
 

       
 
 
 
 

May 21, 2012 

1



 

 

BOARD OF EDUCATION 
MILLARD PUBLIC SCHOOLS 

OMAHA, NEBRASKA 
 
BOARD MEETING                        STROH ADMINISTRATION CENTER 
6:00 P.M.                                          5606 SOUTH 147th STREET 
                                                                     MAY 21, 2012 
 

AGENDA 
 

A. Call to Order 
 

The Public Meeting Act is posted on the Wall and Available for Public Inspection 
 

B. Pledge of Allegiance 
 
C. Roll Call 

 
D. Public Comments on agenda items – This is the proper time for public questions and comments on agenda items only.  Please 

make sure a request form is given to the Board President before the meeting begins. 
 

E. Routine Matters 
1. *Approval of Board of Education Minutes – May 7, 2012 
2. *Approval of Bills 
3. *Receive the Treasurer’s Report and Place on File 
4. Committee of the Whole Meeting – May 14, 2012 

 
F. Information Items 

1. Showcase:  PAYBAC Awards 
2. Superintendent’s Comments 
3. Board Comments/Announcements 
4. Report from Student Representatives and Presentation of Plaques 

 
G. Unfinished Business: 

1. Approval of Policy 3923 – Support Services – Risk Management – Activity Limitations – Travel Not Sponsored by the 
District 

2. Approval of Policy 6660 – Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment – Problem Solving Process 
3. Approval of Policy 7305 – Technology – Web Publishing 

 
H. New Business 

1. Approval of  Collective Bargaining Agreement with Millard Education Association 
2. Approval of Resolution Regarding Technology Lease-Purchase 
3. Approval of 2012 Graduates 
4. Approval of High School Calendars 
5. *Reaffirm  Policy 1105 – Community Relations – News Media 
6. *Reaffirm Rule 1105.1 – Community Relations – News Media - School Department and School-Related Groups  
7. *Reaffirm Policy 1120  - Community Relations – Board of Education Meetings 
8. *Reaffirm Rule 1120.1 – Community Relations – Board of Education Meetings 
9. *Reaffirm Policy 1125 – Community Relations  - Responsibilities of the Board of Education 
10. *Reaffirm Policy 1215 – Community Relations – Citizens’ Advisory Committees:  For the Staff 
11. *Reaffirm Rule 1215.1 – Community Relations – Citizens’ Advisory Committees: For the Staff 
12. Approval of Rule 1105.2 – Community Relations -  News Media – Coverage of Board Meetings 
13. Approval of Rule 3923.1 – Support Services – Risk Management – Activity Limitations – Travel Not Sponsored by the 

District 
14. First Reading of Policy 5120 – Pupil Services – Withdrawals 
15. First Reading of Policy 6331 – Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment – Acceleration and Retention  
16. Delete Rule 6660.1 – Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment – Millard Intervention Team Procedures 
17. First Reading of Policy 6900 – Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment – Research-Testing  
18. Approval of Rule 7305.1 – Technology – Web and Social Media Publishing 
19. Approval of  Renewal of Contract with Score Tables by Design 

2



 

 

20. Approval of Response to Instruction and Intervention Model (RtI+I) 
21. Approval of Personnel Actions:  
22. Negotiation (Executive Session) 

  
I. Reports 

1. Legislative Update 
2. Insurance Report 

 
 
J.   Future Agenda Items/Board Calendar.   

1. Board of Education Meeting on Monday, June 4, 2012 at 6:00 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 South 
147th Street 

2. Committee of the Whole Meeting on Monday, June 11, 2012 at 6:00 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 
South 147th Street 

3. Board of Education Meeting on Monday, July 2, 2012 at 6:00 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 South 
147th Street  

4. New Staff Breakfast on Friday, August 3, 2012 at 8:00 a.m. at Millard South High School, 14905 Q Street 
5. Board of Education Meeting on Monday, August 6, 2012 at 6:00 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 

South 147th Street 
6. Committee of the Whole Meeting on Monday, August 13, 2012 at 6:00 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 

5606 South 147th Street 
 

K. Public Comments - This is the proper time for public questions and comments on any topic.  Please make sure a request form is 
given to the Board President before the meeting begins. 

L.  Adjournment:   

All items indicated by an asterisk (*) will comprise the Consent Agenda and may be acted on in a single motion.  Items may be 
deleted from the Consent Agenda by request of any board member. 
 
 
 
 

3



 

 

BOARD OF EDUCATION 
MILLARD PUBLIC SCHOOLS 

OMAHA, NEBRASKA  
 
BOARD MEETING          STROH ADMINISTRATION CENTER 
6:00 P.M.                             5606 SOUTH 147TH STREET 
                                                                             May 21, 2012 
 

ADMINISTRATIVE MEMORANDUM 
 

A. Call to Order 
 

The Public Meeting Act is posted on the Wall and Available for Public Inspection 
 
B. Pledge of Allegiance 
 
C. Roll Call 
 
D. Public Comments on agenda items - This is the proper time for public questions and comments on agenda items only.  Please 
 make sure a request form is given to the Board President prior to the meeting. 
 
*E.1. Motion by                     , seconded by, ______________, to approve the Board of Education Minutes – May 7, 2012 (See 

enclosure.) 
 
*E.2. Motion by                     , seconded by                     , to approve the bills (See enclosure.) 
 
*E.3.  Motion by                     , seconded by                     , to receive the Treasurer’s Report and Place on File (See enclosure.) 
 
 E.4.  Summary of Board Committee of the Whole Meeting – May 14, 2012 
 
 F.1.  Showcase:  PAYBAC Awards 
 
 F.2.  Superintendent’s Comments  
 
 F.3. Board Comments/Announcements 
 
 F.4. Report from Student Representatives and Presentation of Plaques 
 
G.1. Motion by ______________, seconded by ________________, to approve Policy 3923 – Support Services – Risk       

Management – Activity Limitations – Travel Not Sponsored by the District (See enclosure.) 
 
G.2. Motion by ______________, seconded by ________________, to approve Policy 6660 – Curriculum, Instruction, and 

Assessment – Problem Solving Process (See enclosure) 
 
G.3. Motion by ______________, seconded by ________________, to approve Policy 7305 – Technology – Web and Social 

Media Publishing (See enclosure.) 
 
H.1.  Motion by ______________, seconded by ________________, to approve the Collective Bargaining Agreement with 

Millard Education Association (See enclosure) 
 
H.2.  Motion by ______________, seconded by ________________, to approve the Resolution Regarding Technology Lease-

Purchase 
 
H.3.  Motion by ______________, seconded by ________________, to approve the 2012 Graduates (See enclosure) 
 
H.4.  Motion by ______________, seconded by ________________, to approve the High School 2012-2013 Calendars (See 

enclosure) 
 
*H.5.  Motion by ______________, seconded by ________________, to reaffirm Policy1105 – Community Relations – News 

Media (See enclosure)  

4



 

 

 
Administrative Memorandum 
May 21, 2012 
Page 2 
 
 
*H.6.  Motion by ______________, seconded by ________________, to reaffirm Rule 1105.1 - Community Relations – News 

Media - School Department and School-Related Groups (See enclosure) 
 
*H.7.  Motion by ______________, seconded by ________________,  to reaffirm Policy 1120  - Community Relations – Board 

of  Education Meetings. (See enclosure.) 
 
*H.8.  Motion by ______________, seconded by ________________, to reaffirm Rule 1120.1 – Community Relations – Board of 

Education Meetings (See enclosure) 
 
*H.9.  Motion by ______________, seconded by ________________, to reaffirm Policy 1125 – Community Relations  - 

Responsibilities of the Board of Education (See enclosure.) 
 
*H.10.  Motion by ______________, seconded by ________________, to reaffirm Policy 1215 – Community Relations – Citizens’ 

Advisory Committees:  For the Staff (See enclosure.)  
 
*H.11.  Motion by ______________, seconded by ________________, to reaffirm Rule 1215.1 – Community Relations – Citizens’ 

Advisory Committees: For the Staff (See enclosure.) 
 
H.12.  Motion by ______________, seconded by ________________, to approve Rule 1105.2 – Community Relations - News 

Media – Coverage of Board Meetings (See enclosure.) 
 
H.13.  Motion by ______________, seconded by ________________, to approve Rule 3923.1 - Support Services – Risk 

Management – Activity Limitations – Travel Not Sponsored by the District (See enclosure.) 
 
H.14.  First Reading of Policy 5120 – Pupil Services – Withdrawals (See enclosure.) 
 
H.15.  First Reading of Policy 6331 – Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment – Acceleration and Retention (See enclosure.) 
 
H.16.  Delete Rule 6660.1 – Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment – Problem Solving Process (See enclosure.) 
 
H.17.  First Reading of Policy 6900 – Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment – Research-Testing (See enclosure.) 
 
H.18.    Motion by ______________, seconded by ________________, to approve Rule 7305.1 – Technology – Web and Social    

Media Publishing (See enclosure.) 
 
H.19. Motion by ______________, seconded by ________________, to approve the recommendation that the contract for the 

maintenance of electronic advertisement displays in the gymnasiums of Millard North High School, Millard South High 
School, and Millard West High School as well as the sales of advertisement panels for the electronic displays in the high 
school gymnasiums be awarded to ScoreTables by Design for the 2012-2013, 2013-2014, and 2014-2015 school years and 
that the Director of Activities and Athletics be authorized and directed to execute the contract as well as any and all other 
documents related to such contract. (See enclosure) 

 
H.20  Motion by ______________, seconded by ________________, to approve the Response to Instruction and Intervention 

Model (RtI+I) (See enclosure) 
 
H.21.  Motion by ______________, seconded by ________________, to approve Personnel Actions: Amendment to Continuing 

Contract(s), Leave(s) of Absence, Resignation(s), and New Hire(s) (See enclosure.) 
 
H.22.  Negotiations (Executive Session) 
 
I.  Reports: 

1. Legislative Update 
2. Insurance Report 

5



 

 

Administrative Memorandum 
May 21, 2012 
Page 3 
 
 
J.  Future Agenda Items/Board Calendar 

1. Board of Education Meeting on Monday, June 4, 2012 at 6:00 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 South 
147th Street 

2. Committee of the Whole Meeting on Monday, June 11, 2012 at 6:00 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 
South 147th Street 

3. Board of Education Meeting on Monday, July 2, 2012 at 6:00 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 South 
147th Street  

4. New Staff Breakfast on Friday, August 3, 2012 at 8:00 a.m. at Millard South High School, 14905 Q Street 
5. Board of Education Meeting on Monday, August 6, 2012 at 6:00 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 

South 147th Street 
6. Committee of the Whole Meeting on Monday, August 13, 2012 at 6:00 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 

5606 South 147th Street 
 
K. Public Comments - This is the proper time for public questions and comments on any topic.  Please make sure a request form is 

given to the Board President before the meeting begins. 
 
L.    Adjournment   All items indicated by an asterisk (*) will comprise the Consent Agenda and may be acted on in a single motion.  

Items may be deleted from the Consent Agenda by request of any board member. 

6



MILLARD PUBLIC SCHOOLS 
SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 17 

 
A meeting was held of the Board of Education of the School District No. 17, in the County of Douglas in the State of Nebraska.  The 
meeting was convened in open and public session at 6:00 p.m., Monday, May 7, 2012, at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 
South 147th Street. 
 
 Present:  Dave Anderson, Mike Pate, Linda Poole, Patrick Ricketts, Todd Clarke and Mike Kennedy 
 
   
Notice of this meeting was given in advance thereof by publication in the Daily Record on Friday, May 4, 2012; a copy of the 
publication is being attached to these minutes.  Notice of this meeting was given to all members of the Board of Education and a copy 
of their Acknowledgment of Receipt of Notice and the agenda are attached to these minutes.  Availability of the agenda was 
communicated in advance notice and in the notice of the Board of Education of this meeting.  All proceedings hereafter shown were 
taken while the convened meeting was open to the attendance of the public. 
 
At 5:55 p.m. Dave Anderson opened the public hearing on student fees.  Board members present were:  Dave Anderson, Mike Pate, 
Linda Poole, Patrick Ricketts, Mike Kennedy and Todd Clarke.    There were no questions from the public, so Mr. Anderson asked for 
a motion to adjourn the public hearing on student fees. 
 
Motion by Mike Kennedy, seconded by Mike Pate, to adjourn the hearing, upon roll call vote, all members voted aye.  Motion carried. 
 
At 6:00 p.m. Dave Anderson called the meeting to order and announced the Public Meeting Act is posted on the wall and available for 
public inspection.  Mr. Anderson asked everyone to say the Pledge of Allegiance 
 
Roll call was taken and members present were Dave Anderson, Linda Poole, Mike Pate, Patrick Ricketts, Mike Kennedy, and Todd 
Clarke.   
 
Motion by Mike Kennedy, seconded by Pat Ricketts, to approve the Board of Education Minutes from April 16, 2012 to approve the 
bills, and receive the treasurer’s report and place on file, upon roll call vote, all members voted aye.  Motion carried. 
 
Employees of the Month for May were Kathy Gates, first grade teacher at Abbott Elementary and Lori Lirette, secretary at Aldrich 
Elementary 
 
Showcase highlighted State and National winners in Debate, DECA, Forensics, SkillsUSA (VICA), World Languages: French,  
German, Latin, Spanish, HOSA, Culinary Arts, Presidential Scholars, Economic Challenge 
 
Superintendent’s Comments: 
 

1. Upcoming functions are the Employee Recognition dinner on May 9, 2012 and a Hall of Fame Banquet on May 11, 
2012.   

 
2. The last day of school will be May 23, 2012. 

 
3. High School graduation will be held on May 26, 2012. 

 
Board Comments: 
 
Todd Clarke said he attended the presentation by Mike Donahue on bullying.  He also read at Sandoz Elementary last week. 
 
Mike Kennedy commented that Congratulations go to all the students who received awards.  It is not by circumstances that this 
happens, but by the parents and teachers who have been in their lives for 13 years. 
 
Mr. Pate attended the Learning Community meeting two weeks ago.  He reported there was a debate on whether to fund the truancy 
program to pay for county attorneys.  He said he suggested not to fund this, because it doesn’t fit the parameters of the Leaning 
Community.  However, the majority voted to fund the program for another year.  Another program that was funded was the summer 
school program from the Elementary Learning Center funds.  Millard will receive around $131,000. 
 
Mrs. Poole offered her congratulations to the students for all of their awards received.   
 
 

7



Board of Education Minutes 
May 7, 2012 
Page 2 
 
 
Mrs. Poole said she was unable to attend the MEA President’s Dinner, but will be at the Employee Recognition dinner and the 
Foundation Hall of Fame Banquet. 
 
Pat Ricketts reported that he was able to attend the MEA Dinner, and that the district will miss a lot of talent next year.  He also noted 
he will be at the Employee Recognition Dinner and the Foundation Banquet on Friday. 
 
He said it was very impressive to see all of the awards acquired by the students this evening. 
 
Mr. Anderson said he attended the National School Boards Association Conference in Boston as an officer of the Nebraska School 
Boards Association.  He named some of the speakers at the conference which included Soledad O’Brien, CNN News Correspondent, 
Sal Khan, Khan Academy, Sr. Stephen Strocha, and Geoffrey Canada, the founder of Harlem Children’s Zone, an online website.  Mr. 
Anderson said he also attended the presentation by the National Teacher of the Year, which was very well done. 
 
Mr. Anderson will be attending Career Day at Millard North High and also stated he would be in attendance at the Employee 
Recognition Dinner, and the Hall of Fame Banquet. 
 
Lorraine Chang is the new Chair of the Learning Community and she is asking to meet with all of the metro area board presidents.  
The President of the Papillion/LaVista School Board is also facilitating a meeting of area school board presidents on June 14, 2012.  If 
any board member has questions they would like to have raised at this meeting, get them to Mr. Anderson. 
  
Ryan Hogan, student representative from Millard South High School, reported on the academic and athletic happenings at his school. 
 
Motion made by Mike Pate, seconded by Linda Poole to approve Policy 7310 – Technology – Internet Safety: Filtering, upon roll call 
vote, all members voted aye.  Motion carried. 
 
Motion by Linda Poole, seconded by Mike Pate, to approve the Real Estate Purchase Agreement, the Temporary Construction 
Easement, and the Warranty Deed related to the City’s street widening project near 144th and Blondo Streets be approved as 
submitted; that the Associate Superintendent for General Administration be authorized and directed to execute said Purchase 
Agreement on behalf of the Board; and, that the Board President be authorized and directed to execute said Easement and Deed on 
behalf of the Board, upon roll call vote, all members voted aye.  Motion carried. 
 
Motion by Pat Ricketts, seconded by Linda Poole, to approve Job Description 2011.21 – Coordinator for Communications, upon roll 
call vote, all members voted aye.  Motion carried. 
 
Mike Pate provided the first reading of Policy 3923 - Support Services – Risk Management – Activity Limitations – Travel Not 
Sponsored by the District.  This policy will be on the next board agenda for approval. 
 
Mike Kennedy provided the first reading of Policy 6660 – Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment – Problem Solving Process.  This 
policy will be on the next board agenda for approval. 
 
Motion by Linda Poole, seconded by Mike Pate to approve Rule 6750.1 – Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment – Student Fees,            
upon roll call vote, all members voted aye.  Motion carried. 
 
Motion by Linda Poole, seconded by Mike Pate to approve Rule 7310.1 – Technology – Internet Safety: Filtering, upon roll call vote, 
all members voted aye.  Motion carried. 
 
Motion by Pat Ricketts, seconded by Linda Poole to approve the continued participation with Avenue Scholars Foundation including  
the adoption of the recommended changes to the program for seniors to earn additional elective credit for Avenue Scholars courses, 
upon roll call vote, all members voted aye.  Motion carried. 
 
Motion by Linda Poole, seconded by Pat Ricketts to approve Administrators for Hire; Casey Lundgren, Assistant Principal at MNHS; 
 Matthew Fedde, Assistant Principal at MSHS; Rebecca Kleeman, Coordinator of Communications, upon roll call vote, all members 
voted aye.  Motion carried. 
 
Motion by Mike Pate, seconded by Pat Ricketts to approve Personnel Actions: Amendment to Continuing Contract: Lula K.  
McCaskill, Anna L. Mintkin, Amy L. Hall;  Resignations: John K. Hood, Alexandra Matyja, Morgan Simpson, Katrina Johnson, Katy  
Dornbos, Natalie M. Webber, Mark Al Kevan, Teresa Barta, Sarah Owen, Jackie Burklund, Cindy Pecquet, Keri L. Watkins, Brittany  

8



Board of Education Minutes 
May 7, 2012 
Page 3 
 
 
J. Trampe, Ashley Buman, Ann M. Gigstad, Lori L. Smith, Wendy G. Scott, and New Hires: Julie A. Adams, Amanda L. Aksamit,  
Lisa J. Baker, Sarah E. Bush, Sean M. Carlson, Kathleen W. Carney, Hayley D. Clevenger, Grady J. Cummings, Lauren M. Egli,  
Katherine A. Garth, Bethany H. Grimm, Angela M. Hagaman, Joshua F. Hennagir, Vicky L. Jordan, Kevin J. Kloewer, Susan K. 
Lessman, Scott P. Loveless, Michelle R. Lupardus, Michael J. McCauley, Melanie L. Olson, Jennifer M. Ploen, Renegah. D. Ramiah, 
Sarah M. Rozeboom, Kimberley E. Schnase, Sarah A. Scott, Alyssa S. Watson, Megan L. Wisner, upon roll call vote, all members 
voted aye.  Motion carried. 
 
Negotiation & personnel matter were delayed to the end of the meeting for Executive Session. 
 
Reports:  Enrollment Report, the Senior Status of ELO’s, and the Attendance Report. 
 
Future Agenda Items/Board Calendar:   A Committee of the Whole Meeting will be held on Monday, May 14, 2012 at 6:00 p.m. at the 
Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 South 147th Street.  A Board of Education Meeting will be held on Monday, May 21, 2012 at 
6:00 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 South 147th Street. A Board of Education Meeting will be held on Monday, 
June 4, 2012 at 6:00 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 South 147 th Street.  A Committee of the Whole Meeting will 
be held on Monday, June 11, 2012 at 6:00 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 South 147th Street.  A Board of 
Education Meeting will be held on Monday, June 18, 2012 at 6:00 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606 South 147 th 
Street.  A Board of Education Meeting will be held on Monday, July 2, 2012, at 6:00 p.m. at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 
5606 south 147th Street. 
 
A Millard resident spoke to the Board to inquire why Millard Public Schools does not have a sports program for disabled children.  He 
has a Millard student that plays wheel chair sports and would like for this child to play Millard sports and be recognized for his 
accomplishments and possibly earn a letter. 
 
At 7:34 p.m. Dave Anderson said the Board will go into Executive Session for the purpose of negotiation & personnel matter. 
 
Motion by Linda Poole, seconded by Mike Kennedy, to go into Executive Session for the purpose of negotiation and personnel matter, 
upon roll call vote, all members voted aye.  Motion carried. 
 
Dave Anderson announced the Board would go into Executive Session for the purpose of negotiations and personnel matter. 
 
Motion by Linda Poole, seconded by Mike Kennedy, to come out of Executive Session, upon roll call vote, all members voted aye.  
Motion carried.    
 
Dave Anderson adjourned the meeting. 
 
 
 
_________________________________________, Secretary 

9



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Millard Public Schools 
May 21, 2012 

 

10



Millard Public Schools
Check Register

Prepared for the Board Meeting of  May 21, 2012

Date: 5/16/2012

Check No Vend No Vendor Name Amount
DANIEL P CONWAY138547393658 200.00 
CHRISTOPHER M HUGHES108153393659 1,055.21 
HY-VEE INC133397393660 838.02 
HY-VEE INC133397393661 1,363.34 
HY-VEE INC049850393662 164.05 
MANHATTAN COLLEGE139118393664 1,790.00 
STATE OF NEBRASKA068801393666 12,747.01 
BRIAN L NELSON107732393667 268.75 
OMAHA ROYALS LIMITED PARTNERSHIP135251393668 146.00 
VICKIE L PELLEY130873393669 33.00 
SECURITY BENEFIT LIFE INS CO098765393670 8,545.00 
CCT ENTERPRISES LLC136754393671 90.48 
STEPHEN W. VENTEICHER107354393672 75.00 
COX COMMUNICATIONS INC108436393686 102.19 
MUTUAL FIRST FEDERAL CREDIT UNION139194393688 700.00 
SECURITY BENEFIT LIFE INS CO098765393689 6,465.00 
SKILLSUSA-VICA NEBRASKA107716393690 420.00 
TARGET088654393691 61.70 
WASHBURN UNIVERSITY OF TOPEKA139195393692 1,725.00 
DANIEL P WOOTTON138505393694 75.00 
DOROTHY M ADDISON136182393695 182.96 
ALEGENT HEALTH136365393696 4,916.66 
RAYMOND J SAVARD136956393697 3,000.00 
BISHOP BUSINESS EQUIPMENT019111393699 24,417.39 
ROSE MARY BRAUN139190393700 15.00 
DIAN  H CARLSON138642393703 134.92 
COMPUMASTER101057393705 199.00 
COX COMMUNICATIONS INC108436393707 44,277.72 
CPI QUALIFIED PLAN CONSULTANTS INC137395393708 1,707.50 
WICHITA WATER CONDITIONING INC106893393709 59.45 
JANET L DAHLGAARD131483393710 15.67 
WILLIAM R DAUGHTRIDGE136517393711 61.00 
EVA M DENTON136316393712 22.88 
EDUCATIONAL SERVICE UNIT #3037525393716 65.00 
KELLY A EKUE134225393717 17.87 
FEDERAL EXPRESS040450393718 143.58 
WRIGHT EXPRESS FINANCIAL SVCS CORP138496393719 23,062.35 
CAROLYN A GASSERT134989393720 20.00 
PATRICK T GEARY131710393721 100.00 
TAMMY GEBHART106894393722 343.00 
DAVID L. GERARD130343393723 581.25 
DAVID C HEMPHILL108478393725 585.02 
MARILYN B KERKHOVE130642393728 96.48 
JANET L LARSON136518393729 5.35 
LOWE'S HOME CENTERS INC131397393730 529.19 
KEITH W LUTZ060153393732 55.00 

11



Millard Public Schools
Check Register

Prepared for the Board Meeting of  May 21, 2012

Date: 5/16/2012

Check No Vend No Vendor Name Amount
NEXTEL PARTNERS INC109843393733 975.36 
NILA J NIELSEN106326393734 974.45 
AMY NUNAMAKER134628393735 400.00 
MARILYN M O'CONNELL137533393736 46.94 
STEPHANIE L OLSON137468393737 7.50 
PAPIO TRANSPORT SCHOOL SERVICE INC138288393741 29,640.00 
TYLER J PEARSON131646393742 55.77 
HEIDI T PENKE107783393743 421.16 
ELIZABETH A PETERSON139193393744 20.64 
CHRISTINA PREUSS109845393745 57.47 
AMBER E RIPA137470393746 752.48 
EDWARD V ROCKWELL131723393747 63.59 
JOHN D ROSE137510393748 7.50 
JOHN W ROSE137873393749 7.50 
ERIN L SALTON137209393750 17.92 
DORAN SCHMIDT134831393752 250.00 
MARTI K SEIBERLING082920393753 10.68 
SNYDER CHARLESON THERAPY SERVICES132808393756 11,889.35 
CYNTHIA F STIGGE084630393757 15.00 
LORI A TRITZ132593393760 15.00 
UNITED EQUIPMENT SERVICES CO INC109861393761 335.00 
UNITED PARCEL SERVICE090242393762 366.45 
KAREN E WILWERDING131026393766 30.99 
YOUNG & WHITE096200393767 23,556.65 

211,396.39 Total for GENERAL FUND
GREGORY B ALLOWAY13900423630 6.95 
NOVA RDH INC13760923631 2,281.89 
SARAH J BANIK13788923632 97.30 
ALEXANDER J BOYER13905123633 20.85 
KATHERINE L BOYLE13505723634 58.05 
TERRELL V FALKNER13892323635 97.30 
DYLAN P FESSLER13905223636 83.40 
MARLEY J FLEMING13700023637 90.35 
JARED A GARDNER13789023638 27.80 
ENCORE ONE LLC13598323639 70.93 
DREW A GRANDGENETT13846623640 31.28 
LAUREN N GRIEB13857423641 20.85 
GRACE C KUBIK13143723642 8.90 
ROWAN W LANG10222923643 153.31 
ANGELA M LEUSCHEN13763323644 12.21 
ZAKARY R LINES13833423645 34.75 
AVERY K LOVGREN13772923646 20.85 
ANDREW E LUCAS JR13725123647 31.28 
TRAYTAISA S MAYFIELD13882423648 60.81 
ALLYSSA M MERRITT13905323649 20.85 
JOSHUA C MESSICK13886523650 6.95 

12



Millard Public Schools
Check Register

Prepared for the Board Meeting of  May 21, 2012

Date: 5/16/2012

Check No Vend No Vendor Name Amount
MILLARD PUBLIC SCHOOL CLEARING ACCT13627923651 141.35 
SOPHIA O NICHOLS13778623652 34.75 
BRIANNE M PARKER13892423653 31.28 
EDRIE K PEARCE10244523654 655.36 
TYLER J PEDERSON13896723655 50.39 
ROY ANTHONY PHILLIPS13905423656 72.98 
TREY A SCHULTZ13700223657 31.28 
BARBARA J SHIFFERMILLER13204723658 51.06 
KAITLYN C SNODDY13636723659 83.40 
ZEFFREY A TRUSLER13840223660 6.95 
ELIJAH TYNES13573923661 97.30 
JOSE R VIGIL13892223662 12.21 
BRANDI R WASHINGTON13886723663 83.40 
BRET A WATSON13778523664 20.85 
CARLY J WHITE13767223665 34.75 
MARCIA L WILLIAMS13124123666 27.30 
AUSTIN K WILSON13700323667 31.28 
JOSHUA E ZACH13886823668 31.28 

4,734.03 Total for FOOD SERVICE 
FUND

NEBRASKA COUNCIL OF SCHOOL068415393665 1,348.00 
AARON DAVIS PRESENTATIONS INC139196393684 700.00 
DILLON CATHRO139060393685 180.00 
JEWISH FEDERATION OF OMAHA INC134875393687 464.00 
WESTSIDE CHURCH SBC139104393693 575.00 
COLLEEN D BALLARD135852393698 94.26 
KATIE L BUTTERFIELD139158393702 14.97 
DEBRA J CONYERS130368393706 908.70 
TERRY A DISCHLER132919393714 5.72 
DOANE COLLEGE135201393715 603.00 
KELLY A EKUE134225393717 15.99 
SANDRA BRIGITTE LURRY138653393731 180.00 
LOEL SCHETTLER131256393751 1,182.75 
DEBRA A SHELDON130512393754 246.87 
ROY EUGENE KIRK135412393755 1,000.00 
UNIVERSITY OF NEBRASKA AT OMAHA068840393763 0.00 
UNIVERSITY OF NEBRASKA-LINCOLN068834393764 356.95 
NICOLE K WEIDEMAN135746393765 22.11 
KAREN E WILWERDING131026393766 410.55 
MAUREEN F ZOHLEN136468393768 153.56 

8,462.43 Total for GRANT FUND
BRUCE B JUNEK135411393663 1,925.00 
PAIGE BURNETT139191393701 198.00 
MARTIN KLABUNDE139192393704 240.00 
DIETZE MUSIC HOUSE INC033473393713 138.00 
WAYNE GRUDLE130309393724 44.00 

13



Millard Public Schools
Check Register

Prepared for the Board Meeting of  May 21, 2012

Date: 5/16/2012

Check No Vend No Vendor Name Amount
WILLIAM SPRAGUE, JR.132592393726 207.70 
JIM L JOHNSON054492393727 480.00 
OMAHA SYMPHONY134051393738 579.00 
DUSTIN TAYLOR138062393758 104.00 
MARK THOLEN137472393759 84.00 

3,999.70 Total for ACTIVITY FUND
BRUCE B JUNEK135411393663 -77.00 
ROY EUGENE KIRK135412393755 -40.00 

-117.00 Total for 

228,475.55 Report Total               

14



5/15/2012 5/21/2012 5/21/2012

Lot Quantity

1 20

2 2

3 1

4 1

5 1

6 1

7 1

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

laptops

Millard Public Schools - Planned Disposition of Surplus Property 

BOE Packet Due Date: BOE Meeting Date: Sale or Disposals Scheduled After:

Description

lots calculators

cart

alpha smart

postal scale

listening station

lot wireless keyboards

15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



Committee Meeting Minutes 
May 14, 2012 
 
The members of the Board of Education met as a committee of the whole on Monday, May 14, 2012 at 
6:00 P.M.  at the Don Stroh Administration Center, 5606South 147th Street.  Four topics were on the 
agenda for discussion. 
 
 Present:  Linda Poole, Dave Anderson, Mike Pate, Patrick Ricketts and Todd Clarke 
 
 Mike Kennedy was absent 
 
Also in Attendance were Keith Lutz, Ken Fossen and other Administrators. 
 
Vicki Hoskovec, presented on Security for Social Media.  Her message and the discussion were centered 
around the proper use of Facebook in the classrooms and the differences between Facebook and Twitter.  
It was noted that there are several benefits for the use of Facebook by classroom instructors such as, 
pictures, communication to parents, instructions, and forms.  Special classes are being set up for 
Administrators and Instructors to take.  Resources for learning are also available on the Staff 
Development website.  Policy 7305 and 7305.1 regarding this subject will be up for approval at the next 
Board Meeting on May 21, 2012. 
 
Mark Feldhausen spoke on the agenda topic, MPS Assessment System Options and Recommendations.  
Many changes have occurred in public education at the state, national, and local levels.  Consequently 
several options were presented including the replacement of the ELO assessments with NeSA and/or the 
Explore/PLAN/ACT and Work Keys assessments.  The intentions of these changes would be to raise the 
standards for our students and insure that all of our graduates will be College and Career ready.   Future 
discussion will take place on this subject at Strategic Planning in August.   
 
Technology Leasing Plan was the topic presented by Ken Fossen.  The District has been studying the 
options available for replacing its technology after the failure of the last bond issue. Mr. Fossen spoke on 
the District’s technology inventory and the depreciation schedule for this technology over the next few 
years.  A lease-purchase cost analysis was presented to show what would be required by the District to 
replace all of the technology as it depreciates.  
 
Mr. Fossen also gave an update on the budget.  Many cuts have been made with most of the reductions 
out of the General Fund.  Large class sizes were discussed due to the cut in teaching staff.  The budget 
continues to be a work in progress. 
 
There was a short discussion concerning the possible cancelation of the June 18, 2012 Board Meeting. 
   
 
 
 
____________________________ 
                Chairman 
 
 

85



          Enclosure  
          May 21, 2012 
 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM: Approval of the Activity Guidelines for High Schools and Middle Schools 
 
MEETING DATE:  May 21, 2012 
 
DEPARTMENT: Activities and Athletics 
 
TITLE AND BRIEF DESCRIPTION:   Board Policy 3923, Travel Not Sponsored by the 

District. 
 
 The District currently has policy in place regarding 

foreign travel by students. Travel is not sponsored 
by the District if such travel occurs outside the 
United States or Canada. What the current policy 
does not address are trips not sponsored by the 
District if such travel is not foreign travel. 

 
 The new policy and its accompanying rule attempts 

to address all private travel when such travel is not 
foreign travel. The same guidelines in place for 
foreign travel are used in the new policy and its 
accompanying rule. The accompanying rule also 
states the guidelines for facility use by non-District 
organizations involved with private travel, as well 
as what announcements need to be made by these 
private organizations regarding District non-
sponsorship during the meeting if that meeting takes 
place on District property. 

 
ACTION DESIRED:     Approval   __X__ 
 
BACKGROUND:      
OPTIONS/ALTERNATIVE CONSIDERATIONS:  The current policy and rule, as 
stated above, does not truly address non-foreign private travel, yet there are trips that 
occur within the country that are not school-sponsored activities. Without this new policy 
and rule, District officials are left to interpret the District’s position on such travel (and 
potential facility usage for such travel) without the support of current policy. Without the 
approval of this policy and rule, the District may continue to interpret how such travel 
will be addressed, but such interpretations are open to challenge. The approval of the new 

86



policy and rule seeks to eliminate a challenge to the current District interpretations of 
such travel. 

.RECOMMENDATIONS:  It is recommended that the board policy 3923 and board 
rule 3923.1 be approved and that the Superintendent or designee be authorized and 
directed to execute the application of the policy and rule. 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:   N/A 

 
IMPLICATIONS OF ADOPTION OR REJECTION:  With approval, the interpretation now 
used for student travel that is not sponsored by the school and/or District has the backing of 
board policy and rule.  
 
TIME LINE:      Immediate 
 
PERSONS RESPONSIBLE:    Director of Activities, Craig Whaley 
 
SUPERINTENDENT’S APPROVAL:  ________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

87



Support Services – Risk Management 
 
Activity Limitations –Travel Not Sponsored by the District 3923 
 
No student travel shall be approved, sponsored, or endorsed in any way by the District (or any of its schools or 
organizations) if such travel is not a school-sponsored and/or District-sponsored activity. 
 
Related Policies & Rules:  3923.1 
 
Date of Adoption:  May 21, 2012 Millard Public Schools 

Omaha, NE 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

88



Support Services – Risk Management 
 
Policy:       Activity Limitations – Travel Not Sponsored by the District 
Rule:         Activity Limitations – Travel Not Sponsored by the District 3923.1 
 
Pursuant to Policy 3923, the District does not sponsor nor endorse any student travel when such travel is not a 
school-sponsored and/or District-sponsored activity. In furtherance of such policy, the following rules are 
established: 
 

I. If a private (non-school-related) organization desires to arrange private travel, the organizational 
meetings for such travel should be held at non-school locations. However, if the private organization 
submits a request to use District facilities for such purposes, the request shall comply with the District’s 
facility use policies and procedures and the organization shall be treated as a for-profit organization. 
Further, within the first ten minutes and again during the last ten minutes of any meeting held on District 
property, the individual in charge of such meeting shall inform those in attendance that the travel is in no 
way sponsored or endorsed by the District. 

 
II. No money for such private travel shall be deposited into a District account nor shall any expenses for 

such private travel be paid out of District funds. 
 

III. No private travel fundraising activities shall be conducted on District grounds or as part of any school 
activity. 

 
IV. No teacher, administrator, or other employee of the District shall, in his/her capacity as a District 

employee, promote private travel plans in his/her classroom, at school activities, or during any other time 
when the teacher is on duty with the District. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a teacher may, during the 
summer months when he/she is not under contract with the District, provide services to a private 
organization conducting private travel tours. 

 
 
Related Policies & Rules:  3923 
 
 
Date of Adoption:  May 21, 2012 Millard Public Schools 
 Omaha, NE 
 

89



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM: Revise Policy 6660 

 
MEETING DATE: May 21, 2012 
 
DEPARTMENT: Educational Services 
 
TITLE: Problem Solving Process 
 
BRIEF DESCRIPTION: Revise Policy 6660 
  
ACTION DESIRED:   X  .  Approval 
 
BACKGROUND: Policy 6660 is being revised to incorporate changes resulting 

from continued implementation of the District’s RtI+I Model.   
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: Approve recommend revisions of Policy 6660 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN Strategy 4,  Action Plan 8 
 
REFERENCE: N/A 
 
IMPLICATIONS OF 
ADOPTION OR REJECTION: N/A 
 
TIMELINE: N/A 
 
RESPONSIBLE Mark Feldhausen, Andy DeFreece, Nancy Johnston, 
PERSON(S): Charlene Snyder, Tami Williams 
 
SUPERINTENDENT’S  
APPROVAL: 
 

90



Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment 
 
Millard Intervention Teams   Problem Solving Process 6660 
 
All dDistrict schools, K-12, shall use a consistent, and collaborative problem solving and 
intervention model K-12, called the Millard Intervention Team (MIT) Response to Instruction 
and Intervention (RtI+I). that will  This process is designed to assist teachers in developing 
problem solving and intervention strategies, and when necessary, recommend other appropriate 
dDistrict resources so as to ensure the success in school of students. who are referred because of 
academic, social, or emotional needs. 

The District will develop written procedures for implementation of the MIT RtI+I model and for 
the training of staff participating in the use of the MIT model problem solving and intervention 
process.  Under the direction of the Superintendent, the administration shall establish and 
maintain procedures consistent with applicable federal and state statutes and regulations to 
govern implementation of the problem solving and intervention process.  
 
 
Related Policies & Rules: 6660.1 
 
Legal Reference:  Title 92, Nebraska Administrative Code, Chapter 51-006.01C.   

 
Policy Approved:  April 16, 2001 Millard Public Schools 
Revised: December 4, 2006,  May 21, 2012 Omaha, NE 

91



 -1- 

AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
 
AGENDA ITEM:  Technology Policy 7305 
 
 
MEETING DATE:  May 21, 2012  
 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Technology Division 
 
 
TITLE AND  
BRIEF DESCRIPTION: Policy 7305 – Web and Social Media Publishing 
 
ACTION DESIRED: Approve Policy 7305 – Web and Social Media Publishing 
 
 
BACKGROUND: This Policy and its accompanying Rule are being revised to include 

guidelines for using approved social media sites for 
communication with parents, community and appropriate students. 

 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: Approve Policy 7305 – Web and Social Media Publishing 
 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:     N/A 
 
 
TIMELINE:  Immediate 
 
 
RESPONSIBLE PERSON(S):  Victoria L. Hoskovec, Dr. James Sutfin, Dr. Mark Feldhausen  
 
 
SUPERINTENDENT’S APPROVAL:    ______________________                                                    
       (Signature) 
 
BOARD ACTION: 
 

92

sphelps
Kieths Stamp



Technology 
 
Web and Social Media Publishing 7305 
 
The Millard School District and its schools will communicate using the World Wide Web and approved social 
media sites to inform the public in order to and advance the mission of the District. All dDistrict web and approved 
social media sites shall be used only for purposes related to dDistrict communications, to the educational curriculum 
of the District, and/or administration of the District. Commercial, political, and/or private use of any of the District’s 
web and approved social media sites is strictly prohibited except as approved by the Superintendent or designee. All 
computers either owned or leased by the District and web and social media publishing sites are public property and 
no right of individual privacy shall extend to the computer, or any information or communications stored or 
contained in the computer or any of its components or software, or to the web and social media publishing sites. The 
administration reserves the right to monitor any computer activity and on-line communications, including, but not 
limited to, web and approved social media sites, for improper use. 
 
Related Policies & Rules: 5710.1, 7305.1 
 
Policy Adopted:  July 17, 2000  Millard Public Schools 
Revised: May 2, 2005; May 21, 2012  Omaha, Nebraska 
Reaffirmed: October 6, 2008 
 
Renumbered from 1102: May 2, 2005 
 

93



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
 
 
Agenda Item: Collective Bargaining Agreement with the MEA 
 
Meeting Date: May 21, 2012 
 
Department: Human Resources 
 
Title & Brief Description: The District and the Millard Education Association (“MEA”) have reached tentative 

agreement for the 2012-13 and the 2013-14 school year.  The MEA voted for approval of the 
tentative agreement on May 21, 2012.  The proposed agreement includes the following 
changes: 
 
 YEAR 1 (2012-13) 

 Estimated 3.0% total package; 
 Salary Increase = 1.5% total package increase; 
 Health Insurance Rates = 0.4% total package increase; 
 Extra Duty Increases = 0.1% total package increase; 
 NPERS Increase = 0.8% total package increase; 
 Other (Dental, Life, FICA, etc) = 0.2% total package increase. 

 Change salary methodology; 
 New Formula funded 25%; 
 Minimum Raise of 1.1%; 

 District Percentage Contribution to NPERS will increase 0.9% per State Law; 
 Add two contract days for first year teachers (195 days); 
 Coaching salary increases per pro-com study committee recommendations; 
 Change grandfathering date for National Board Certification; 
 Clarification of cash-in-lieu phase out; 
 Estimated 2.5% Health Insurance Premium increase; 
 Health Insurance Deductibles increase from $500/$1,000 to $600/$1,200; 
 Study committee for possible high deductible health plan; 
 Wellness premium incentive granted one year after participation instead of mid-year; 
 Change in Association President return language. 

 YEAR 2 (2013-14) 
 Estimated 3.0% total package; 

 Voluntary Separation Program Cuts = 1.5% total package decrease. 
 Salary Increase = 2.9% total package increase; 
 Health Insurance Rates = 0.9% total package increase; 
 Extra Duty Increases = 0.1% total package increase; 
 Other (NPERS, Dental, Life, FICA, etc) = 0.6% total package increase; 

 District Contribution to NPERS not anticipated to increase (except in relation to 
salaries increase); 

 Coaching salary increases per pro-com study committee recommendations; 
 Salary Formula fully funded; 

 Minimum Raise of 1.25%; 
 Estimated 7.0% Health Insurance Premium increase; 
 First year employees pay 10% of Health Insurance Premium; 
 Voluntary Separation Program Reductions; 

 Eligible for 5 years instead of 10; 
 Must have 20 years of continuous service to be eligible instead of 10; 
 Total Benefit Cap established of $1,666.67 per month. 

 
Recommendation: It is recommended that the Negotiated Agreement for Teachers with the Millard Education 

Association be approved. 
 
Background: Wage increases are in line with budget parameters. 

94



 
Options and Alternatives: Return to the bargaining table. 
 
Responsible Persons: Chad Meisgeier, Jim Sutfin, Ken Fossen, Duncan Young, Keith Lutz 
 
Superintendent's Approval: ______________________________ 
 

95



2012-2014 

COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT 

between Millard Public Schools 

and the Millard Education Association 
 
 
THIS AGREEMENT made and entered into this ___ day of ________, 2012 by and between 
School District Number 17, Douglas County, Nebraska, also known as the Millard School district 
(hereinafter called "District"), and the Millard Education Association (hereinafter called 
"Association"). 
 
WHEREAS, the parties have from time to time met and negotiated the terms and conditions of 
employment for teachers for the 2012-13 and the 2013-14 school years; and 
 
WHEREAS, the parties have reached an agreement with respect to the terms and conditions of 
the employment for teachers for the 2012-13 and the 2013-14 school years; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the covenants and conditions as hereinafter set forth, 
the parties agree as follows: 
 
 

ARTICLE I 

RECOGNITION 

The District hereby agrees to recognize the Millard Education Association as the exclusive 
bargaining agent for the certificated staff employed by the District defined as "teachers" under 
Nebraska Rev. Stat. §79-101 for the purpose of negotiating collectively on those terms and 
conditions of employment required by law. 
 
 

ARTICLE II 

PROCEDURE AND PROTOCOL 

The parties hereby agree that negotiation shall be commenced, conducted and completed 
according to the procedure and protocol set forth and described in Appendix A, which is attached 
hereto and made a part of this agreement. 
 
 

ARTICLE III 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 
1. Term of Contract: 

 
The term of the contract shall begin on August 1, 2012 and terminate on July 31, 2014. In each 
contract year, the contract shall consist of 193 teacher days for returning teachers and 195 days 
for new teacher hires. The District may require any new teacher hire to work day 194 and day 195 
of his or her contract without compensation, provided days 194 and 195 are scheduled after the 
commencement of the regular teacher work calendar. Each new teacher hire who attends new 
teacher workshops before the commencement of the regular teacher work calendar shall be 
compensated for each day of attendance at a rate of $200 per day. New teacher hire workshop 
compensation shall be rendered as a stipend and tracked separately from total salary for the 
purposes of calculating the new teacher hire's daily rate of pay. In addition, the District may 
require any teacher covered by this agreement to work up to two additional days (e.g. 195 days 

96



for returning teachers and 197 days for new teacher hires), provided that the teacher is 
compensated at his or her daily rate and given a minimum of 90 days' advance notice. A teacher's 
daily rate of pay is his or her annual salary divided by the total number of paid contract days in 
the corresponding contract year. A teacher may be excused without pay from working the 
additional day(s) by providing good cause; good cause shall include any of the leave of absence 
reasons set forth in Board Policy and Rule. Failure to show good cause may result in disciplinary 
action.  
 

If upon the expiration of this agreement on the 31st day of July, 2014, the parties hereto have not 
agreed to a collective bargaining agreement for the school year 2014-15, the terms of this 
agreement shall continue in full force and effect so long as the parties are continuing to engage in 
good faith collective bargaining. 
 
 

2. Salary / Compensation: 

 
Formula Salary Methodology: The salary will be adjusted proportionately according to changes 
in the individual teacher's full-time equivalency (F.T.E.) and / or number of contract days. For the 
2012-13 and the 2013-14 school years, each teacher's pay shall be as set forth in Appendix B, 
subject to the following limitations: 
 

a) An employee's existing 2011-12 graduate degree stipend shall first be added to 
his or her base salary for the purposes of the teacher's salary calculation (e.g., a 
teacher earning $45,000 in salary and $2,000 in pre-05 MA stipend shall be 
considered to be earning $47,000 in total teacher salary for the purposes of the 
methodology which follows in sections (b) through (f) below); 

 
b) For 2012-13, a returning teacher's salary shall be the greater of: (i) 25% of the 

difference between the Appendix B formula salary and his or her 2011-12 salary 
(e.g. a teacher earning $45,000 in 2011-12 whose years of credited service and 
graduate credits generate a formula salary under Appendix B of $50,000 shall 
earn $46,250 in 2012-13); or (ii) an increase of 1.10% of his or her 2011-12 
salary;  

 
c) For 2013-14, a returning teacher's salary shall be the greater of: (i) his or her 

formula salary in Appendix B; or (ii) an increase of 1.25% of his or her 2012-13 
salary; 

 
d) Any teacher newly hired to the District for the 2012-13 school year shall receive 

the greater of (i) the salary generated by the new hire placement methodology 
used in 2011-12 (as set forth in Appendix B); or (ii) an increase equal to twenty 
five percent (25%) of the difference between the 2012-13 Appendix B amount 
and the 2011-12 methodology;  

 
e) Any teacher newly hired to the District for the 2013-14 school year shall receive 

a salary as set forth in Appendix B; and 
 

f) Any error found in salary shall only be corrected retroactive to the beginning of 
the year in which the error was discovered (e.g. a salary error discovered in 
January of 2014 will be corrected retroactively to the September of 2013 pay 

97



3 

 

period). The District may (but shall not be required) to delay the correction of 
errors that decrease a teacher's salary until the next contract year. 

 
Additional Days: Each teacher who is required to work extra days beyond the contracted days 
specified in this agreement will be compensated at his or her regular daily rate of pay, provided, 
however, that the District may set pay rates without reference to salary per diem under any of the 
following conditions:  
 

a) when a new teacher hire works extra days as provided for in Article III, Section 1 
of this agreement; 

 
b) when non-teaching duties are offered and accepted during non-contract days (e.g. 

painting, maintenance, moving furniture, configuration and setup of computers, 
etc.), the rate of pay shall be at the sole discretion of the District; 

 
c) when non-required direct delivery of instruction is offered and performed as 

additional days (e.g. summer school), the District may set a rate of pay which 
shall not be less than $250 per day; 

 
d) when non-required duties related to teaching are offered and performed as 

additional days (e.g. curriculum writing, required staff development, assessment 
development), the District may set a rate of pay which shall not be less than $200 
per day; and 

 
e) supervision duties during the year shall be at the extra duty rate provided in 

Appendix C. 
 

f) The District may offer optional staff development during off-contract time. 
Optional staff development may be offered with or without a monetary incentive 
(or other incentive), as offered by the District, for the employee to participate.  

 
g) In the event duties are performed for less than a full day, the District may set a 

comparable hourly rate by dividing the daily rate by eight (8) or a one-half daily 
rate set by dividing the daily rate by 2. In no event shall the totals an hourly rate 
or a one-half daily rate exceed the daily rate for any one day worked.  

 

All salary will be adjusted proportionately according to the individual teacher's full time 
equivalency status (F.T.E.) and / or the teacher's total number of paid contract days. 
 
Critical Shortage Program: The District may determine critical shortage teaching areas and 
may determine a stipend to be offered to candidates who accept job offers in those areas. Eligible 
stipend recipients shall include any teacher employed by the district in a non-critical shortage area 
who is selected to fill a critical shortage area position. The stipend will be distributed over a one-
year period providing the recipient remains employed by the district in the critical shortage area 
during the entire one-year period. Recipients who cease to be employed by the District in the 
critical shortage area shall forfeit all future stipend payments on the day their assignment ends. 
The policies, procedures, implementation and all decisions related thereto shall be the sole 
responsibility of the District; provided however, the District will review the program with the 
Association prior to implementation. 
 

98



Extra Duty Compensation: The schedule for extra duty compensation is attached hereto as 
Appendix C and by reference incorporated and made a part of the contract. Extra duty may be 
paid proportionately over the remaining contract beginning when the extra duty is assigned and 
when the District Human Resources office is notified of the extra duty assignment and ending in 
August. In the event a teacher is permitted to withdraw from an extra duty assignment, any 
payments previously paid will be deducted from the employee's compensation.  
 

National Board Certification for Professional Teaching Standards (NBCPTS): Each teacher 
holding an unexpired NBCPTS certificate issued prior to July 31, 2012 shall be paid a stipend of 
$2,000 by the District for the time remaining on that teacher's certification. Any teacher enrolled 
in the NBCPTS program on or before July 31, 2011 but not yet holding the certificate shall be 
eligible for the NBCPTS stipend, provided the teacher's initial certification is completed on or 
before July 31, 2014. No new stipends (or renewals of stipends) will be permitted.  
 
 

3. Insurance: 

 
The District shall provide each full-time teacher with health, dental, life, and long-term disability 
coverage and benefits. Health Plan and Dental Plan benefits are outlined in Appendix F and 
Appendix G, which are attached hereto and by reference incorporated in and made a part of this 
Contract. The District may set the District's contribution amounts towards Benefit Premiums. The 
amount of the District Premium contributions shall be made available to teachers.  
 
Health Insurance for Returning Teachers: For each eligible full-time teacher who was 
employed by the District in the prior contract year and who did not participate in the employee 
wellness plan in the prior year, the District shall pay 90% of the cost for single or family health 
coverage provided, however, that the teacher elects coverage and pays the balance of the 
premiums for such coverage. For each full-time employee who voluntarily participates in the 
wellness plan and meets the criteria in the wellness plan in the prior year, the District shall pay an 
additional 10% of the District designated premium amount for single or family health coverage. 
Any returning teacher who did not participate in the wellness plan in the prior year and elects a 
change to coverage at open enrollment or due to a qualifying event shall pay 10% of the 
premium. Any returning teacher who did participate in the wellness plan in the prior year and 
elects a change to coverage at open enrollment or due to a qualifying event shall be entitled to a 
fully paid premium by the District. The District may deduct the employee's 10% premium 
contribution beginning in September for each full time employee who elects health coverage but 
did not participate in the wellness plan or who did not meet the criteria of the wellness plan in the 
prior year.  
 
Health Insurance for New Teachers: For each eligible full-time teacher newly hired to the 
District in the first year of this agreement (2012-13), the District shall pay 100% of the cost for 
single or family health coverage for one year only. The District will pay 90% of the cost in 
subsequent years, subject to the conditions for returning teachers described in the previous 
section. For each eligible full-time teacher newly hired to the District in the second year of this 
agreement (2013-14), the District shall pay 90% of the cost for single or family health coverage, 
subject to increase to 100% in subsequent years, provided the employee participates in the 
wellness program as described in the previous section. 
 
Wellness Program: The District may continue to develop and amend the wellness program, 
provided that the District seeks input from the Association. The policies, procedures, 

99



5 

 

implementation, amendments to, and all decisions related to wellness program shall be the 
responsibility of the District; subject only to the following limitations: 
 

a) In each year, the District shall provide the Association with a written description 
of the terms and conditions of the wellness program including: (i) enrollment 
procedures; (ii) minimum participation criteria; (iii) scoring methodology; (iv) 
any appeals process; and (v) a list of all laboratory tests used as a part of the 
health screening; 

 
b) The District shall communicate annually to the Association: (i) the number of 

teachers enrolled in the wellness program; (ii) the number of teachers not 
meeting the participation criteria; and (iii) aggregate data setting forth the reasons 
the teachers did not meet the participation criteria; 

 
c) The District and the District's agent(s) shall maintain the confidentiality of all 

private health information in accordance with applicable federal, state, and local 
laws; 

 
d) Employee participation in the wellness program shall be voluntary. The wellness 

program shall provide an alternative participation standard in compliance with 
applicable law for any employee who, due to a medical condition and / or 
disability, is unable to meet the wellness program's criteria. Any employee 
completely exempted from any participation in the wellness program, including 
inability to meet any alternative participation standard, due to requirement of law 
(e.g. Americans with Disabilities Act), will not be charged designated premium 
amounts for non-participation or failure to meet the criteria of the wellness plan;  

 
e) The 2012-13 school year Wellness Plan participation shall be limited to a health 

screening and an individual health survey similar to the 2011-12 school year; 
 

f) Beginning in the 2013-14 school year, the District may: 
 

i. expand the wellness program to include participation elements (e.g. 
seminars and on-line activities) for meeting the criteria of the wellness 
plan; or 

 
ii. maintain the same methodology as 2012-13; or 

 
iii. discontinue the wellness program (if the District discontinues the 

wellness program, premiums shall be calculated as if the teacher had 
completed the wellness program);  

 
g) The District shall not include a mandatory health score for participation during 

this Agreement. 
 
 
Emergency Room Co-Pay: The District may include a co-pay of up to $100 for each non-
qualified emergency room visit. 
 
High Deductible Health Plan: The MEA and the District shall establish a study committee for 
the purposes of evaluating a high deductible health plan with possible District contributions to a 

100



corresponding Health Savings Account. The advisory study committee shall submit its findings to 
the MEA and the District for possible (but not mandatory) inclusion in the 2014-15 Negotiated 
Agreement.  
 
Dental Insurance: The District shall pay the full cost of single dental coverage; the teacher may 
purchase family dental coverage by paying the additional premium through payroll deduction.  
 
Life Insurance: The District shall pay the full cost of $50,000 term life coverage.  
 
Long-Term Disability Plan: Each full-time teacher shall participate in the long-term disability 
plan and the teacher shall pay the full premium through payroll deduction; the premium shall not 
be paid through the District's Section 125 plan.  
 
Married Employees both Employed by the District: When two District employees are married 
to each other and each qualifies for District paid family health insurance, the District shall 
provide and pay the premium for one family health plan and one family dental plan; provided 
neither of the employees is eligible for nor elects to participate in "cash option." 
 
Part-time teachers: The District shall provide the same health, and dental insurance coverage 
and benefits for part-time teachers (who are employed as one-half F.T.E. or more, defined as at 
least 20 hours per week) as for full-time teachers. The District shall contribute an amount equal to 
one-half of the amount it contributes on behalf of a full-time teacher (including proportionate 
additional contributions for participants in the wellness program (i.e. an additional 5%); provided, 
however that the part-time teacher elects coverage and pays the balance of the premiums for such 
coverage. The District shall provide each part-time teacher with a $50,000 term life insurance 
policy and will pay the full premium. Additionally, each part-time teacher who is employed at 
least 20 hours per week or more shall participate in the District's long-term disability plan and the 
teacher shall pay the premium. 
 
Cash Option: Each full-time teacher who was employed by the District during the 1996-97 
school year and who has been continuously employed by the district thereafter, shall be eligible to 
exercise a cash option of $325.28 per month in lieu of health and dental insurance in accordance 
with the cash option plan adopted by the District. Any such teacher electing cash option may 
purchase single or family dental coverage. Any such teacher electing cash option may, at his or 
her option, receive a reduced cash option of $157.40 per month and the district will pay the 
premium for single health and dental. Continuous service shall include school-years during which 
a teacher was on an approved leave of absence. Any teacher who does not receive cash-option as 
of January 1, 2013 shall not be allowed to elect cash-option at a later date, even if the teacher was 
continuously employed from the 1996-97 school year. Any teacher who elects cash-option of 
$157.40 per month as of January 1, 2013 may not elect cash option of $325.28 at a later date even 
if the teacher was continuously employed from the 1996-97 school year. 
 
Direct Bill: In order to be eligible for the Direct Bill Plan as an early retiree, the employee, the 
spouse and dependents each must have had a minimum number of months of continuous coverage 
under the District's Health and/or Dental Plan at the time continued coverage begins. The 
minimum number of months of continuous coverage required is 60 months 
 

101



7 

 

 
4. Leaves of Absence:  

 

Paid Leave: During each school year covered by this contract, each full-time teacher shall 
receive twelve (12) days leave, and further be allowed any unused and accumulated leave from 
the previous year to a maximum total of ninety-two (92) days of leave at full pay. Such leaves 
shall be taken only for reasons of: personal illness, family illness, family death, and business and 
emergency. The rules for use of leave are established in Board Policy and Rule.  
 
Business and Emergency Leave: Up to three days of a teacher's accumulated paid leave per year 
may be used for business and emergency leave; and a maximum of one business and emergency 
leave day per year may be taken for any or no reason whatsoever; subject to limitations on 
permissible dates of leave, limitations on number of teachers eligible for leave on any given day, 
and application procedures developed by the District. In addition to the sufficient grounds 
currently listed in Board Rule, Business and Emergency Leave may be approved for: (a) District 
approved college course work; (b) graduations, college visits, or competitions in which the 
employee's children participate; (c) serious illness of a friend or non-immediate family member; 
and (d) weddings of a friend or non-immediate family member (subject to single day restrictions 
in Board Rule). Additional clarification of business and emergency leave consistent with these 
parameters may be established in Board Policy or Rule. 
 

Part-time teachers shall be allowed leave on a prorated basis equivalent to that portion of the 
total of twelve (12) days leave which is, equal to the proportion of his or her hours of part-time 
employment to the total regular employment hours per school year, and further be allowed any 
unused and accumulated leave from the previous school year to an equivalent total not to exceed 
what that proportion is to the ninety-two (92) days for regular full-time employees. Use of paid 
leave by part-time teachers shall only be allowed on a prorated basis. Effective August 1, 1994, a 
teacher whose employment status changes from full-time to part-time and whose accumulated 
leave is greater than the maximum allowable prorated amount shall have the excess amount 
placed in reserve until such time that the employee's full-time equivalency increases. When the 
employee's full-time equivalency increases, some or all of the reserve leave shall again be part of 
the accumulated leave up to the maximum allowable prorated amount. 
 
Extended Personal Illness Leave: Extended paid leave shall be provided to teachers as follows: 
 

a) Borrowed Personal Illness Leave: Each eligible teacher who has used his or her 
current and accumulated paid leave may borrow up to ten (10) days from the next 
school year's paid leave allotment. If the teacher resigns before receiving 
sufficient additional paid leave days during the succeeding year(s) to repay the 
borrowed leave, the teacher shall be required to repay the District for the salary 
received for the borrowed leave. The salary repayment will be at the teacher's 
daily rate at the time of repayment for each borrowed day of paid leave and shall, 
if possible, be deducted from the employee's last paycheck. Should personal 
illness be the reason leading to resignation or termination of the teacher, the 
teacher shall not be required to pay back the salary for the borrowed days. 

 
b) Substitute Deduct Pay: A teacher who will qualify for long-term disability and 

who has fully used all of his or her paid leave and any applicable borrowed 
personal illness leave, as identified in Paragraph (a) above, prior to being eligible 
to receive long-term disability benefits, will be eligible for substitute-deduct 
leave. During substitute-deduct leave, the teacher shall continue to receive his/her 

102



salary reduced by the cost to the District of the substitute employed to replace the 
teacher. 

 
In the event the District and the teacher, after receiving any information which 
determines that a teacher may qualify for long-term disability (and the teacher 
elects substitute-deduct leave prior to being approved for long-term disability) 
and the insurance carrier subsequently denies the long-term disability request, the 
teacher will be responsible for reimbursing the District the total amount of 
payments made to the teacher during the substitute-deduct leave. Such 
reimbursement will be through payroll reduction, if possible. 

 
c) Procedures: The procedures and rules for administration of extended personal 

illness leave shall be established by the District. 
 
Reimbursement for unused Paid Leave: At the conclusion of each school year covered by this 
agreement, each full-time teacher shall receive reimbursement for each unused day of 
accumulated paid leave in excess of eighty (80) days and further shall have his or her 
accumulated paid leave allotment reduced to eighty (80) days. Each part-time teacher shall 
receive reimbursement for each unused day of accumulated paid leave in excess of that portion of 
eighty (80) days which is equal to the proportion of his or her hours of part-time employment to 
the total regular employment hours per school year and further shall have his or her accumulated 
paid leave allotment reduced by the number of reimbursed leave days. The rate of reimbursement 
shall be $100 per day. The District shall establish procedures for payment of the leave 
reimbursement program.  
 
Association President Leave: The President of the Association representing the majority of the 
teachers, at the request of the Association, will be given leave with pay during such President's 
term of office; provided however, the Association shall reimburse the District the full cost of 
salary and fringe benefits of the Association President. The leave shall be for no less than one 
semester. The Association must provide the District a ninety (90) day notice in advance of such 
leave request. Upon returning to employment as a teacher, reasonable efforts will be made by the 
District to place the President in the same or comparable position held when the leave 
commenced. The President will be advanced on the salary schedule as other teachers and without 
any limitation because of the leave granted. 
 
 

5. Voluntary Separation Program: 

 
For the 2012-13 school year, each teacher who has completed the equivalent of ten (10) or more 
full-time years of service in the District as a full-time or part-time certificated employee may 
participate in the Voluntary Separation Program (VSP) if the teacher is at least fifty-five (55) 
years of age; provided, however, that any teacher so electing to participate shall be required to 
complete the school year before separation from employment with the District commences.  
 
For the 2013-14 school year, each teacher who has completed the equivalent of twenty (20) or 
more full-time years of consecutive service in the District as a full-time or part-time certificated 
employee may participate in the Voluntary Separation Program (VSP) if the teacher is at least 
fifty-five (55) years of age; provided, however, that any teacher so electing to participate shall be 
required to complete the school year before separation from employment with the District 
commences.  
 

103



9 

 

VSP payments represent the purchase of a teacher's "permanent certificated/tenure rights." The 
procedures to administer this Program shall be established by the District. The schedule of 
payments to be made under this Program is as shown in Appendix E, which is attached hereto and 
by reference incorporated in and made a part of this agreement.  
 
Each teacher retiring after at least 20 consecutive years of service in the District or who is at least 
55 years of age with: (a) at least 10 years of service in the District at the conclusion of the 2012-
13 school year; or (b) at least 20 years of consecutive service in the District at the conclusion of 
the 2013-14 school year, shall receive $100 per day for each day of unused accumulated paid 
leave at retirement. To the degree permitted by law, payment for unused paid leave at retirement 
may be paid as "employer contributions" to either a 403(b) / TSA account or a Health 
Reimbursement Arrangement (HRA) established for the employee by the District. Each employee 
participating in the District's Health Plan for retirees shall have these employer contributions 
made to the HRA; each employee not participating in the District's Health Plan for retirees shall 
have these employer contributions made to the District-designated 403(b) unless the District 
decides, at its sole discretion, to pay said amounts as cash. The policies, procedures, 
implementation and all decisions related thereto shall be the sole responsibility of the District; 
provided however, the District will review the program with the Association prior to 
implementation.  
 
 

6. Elementary Planning Time: 

 
Elementary teachers shall have a minimum of 300 minutes, during student contact time, of 
preparation/conference/planning time during a two-week instructional period. Elementary 
teachers include all teachers who work in an elementary building. 
 
 

7. Compensation for Lost Planning Time: 

 
A teacher covered by this agreement shall not be required to cover a class for another teacher 
during his or her personal planning time when a substitute is authorized and available. In an 
emergency situation a teacher having personal planning time may be required by his or her 
principal or designee to cover a class. The teacher losing the personal planning time shall be paid 
for each clock hour (or porting thereof, rounded to the nearest one-fourth hour) at the rate of $25 
per hour. If no teacher with planning time is available students may be reassigned to other 
teacher's classes, such reassignment shall be divided equally among all teachers in the building 
over the course of the year. 
 

8. Facility Use: 

 
The Association shall be permitted to place in mailboxes provided for individual staff members 
MEA/NSEA newsletters, circulars, notices and other materials relating to the Association and its 
operations. The Association shall be permitted to post or place any material relating directly to 
Association business on the bulletin boards located in faculty lounges. No local, state or national 
political campaign material for public office or any other material which violates the Policies or 
Rules of the District will be permitted to be either distributed through the staff mailboxes or 
placed on faculty lounge bulletin boards. 

104



 
IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties have duly executed this agreement as of the day and year 
first above written. 
 
Millard School District Millard Education Association 

School District No. 17 
Douglas County, Nebraska 

 
 
 

by________________________________ by________________________________ 
 
 
 

105



11 

 

Appendix A 

Procedure and Protocol of Contract Negotiations 

 
1. Upon notice by either party to the other, the parties agree to enter into negotiations for the 

purpose of entering into a contract and agreement for teacher salaries and terms and 
conditions of employment which are either required by law or made the subject of 
negotiations by agreement of the parties. 

 
2. Either party, upon giving notice to the other party, may include with such notice its 

proposals to be included in the contract to be negotiated by the parties. 
 
3. The parties shall conduct negotiations in such a manner as to permit each of the parties to 

provide the other party with an explanation of its proposals, presentation of relevant data, 
dialogue and exchange of points of view. 

 
4. Each of the parties may make proposals and counter proposals during the negotiations. 
 
5. Either party may utilize the services of outside consultants to assist in negotiations. 
 
6. Both parties shall designate and appoint representatives of that party for the conduct of 

negotiations. 
 
7. Unless otherwise agreed upon, the negotiations shall be conducted in closed sessions and 

no releases shall be made to any of the news media as to the progress of negotiations until 
the contract has been accepted by both parties, whereupon the media will be given a joint 
statement. 

 
8. If the parties fail to reach an agreement after good faith negotiations, the parties shall 

proceed in accordance with law. 
 
9. If the representatives of the parties reach an agreement, the agreement shall be reduced to 

writing and submitted to the Board of Education of the District and to the membership of 
the Association for approval and acceptance and as approved and accepted by both 
parties, the Agreement shall be signed by the duly authorized officers of both parties. 

  
10. The agreement shall constitute the full and complete agreement between the parties; 

provided however, that the agreement shall not supersede any rules, regulations, practices 
or policies of the Board of Education of the District. If any provision of these proposed 
terms and conditions are contrary to or inconsistent with any of the rules, regulations, 
practices or policies of the District, such inconsistencies shall be jointly submitted in 
writing to the Board of Education for its consideration at the time the Contract is 
submitted to the Board for its acceptance of rejection. 

 
11. If any provision of the contract or any application of the contract to any employee or 

groups of employees shall be found to be contrary to law, then such provisions shall not 
be in effect but all other terms and conditions shall continue in full force and effect. 

 
 

106



Appendix B 

TEACHER SALARY CALCULATION 
 
I. Salary shall be calculated as follows for a teacher holding a Bachelor's degree: 
 

a) The Base Bachelor's (BA) Salary shall be $35,400 in 2012-13 and $35,700 in 
2013-14; 

 
b) Each Year of Experience at the BA level shall add $300 to the teacher's salary up 

to a maximum of ten (10) years. The current year of the teacher's contract shall 
equal a year of experience; and, 

 
c) Subject to the terms and conditions described in Appendix D, each Approved 

Graduate Credit Hour shall add $185 to the teacher's base salary, up to a 
maximum of 36 hours (or 39 hours if a District-approved course or program). 

 
II. Salary shall be calculated as follows for a teacher holding a Master's degree: 
 

a) The Base Master's (MA) Salary shall be $42,060 in 2012-13 and $42,360 in 
2013-14 (the total of the Bachelor's Base and the value of 36 BA+ credit hours at 
$185 each); 

 
b) Each Year of Experience shall add $600 to the teacher's salary up to a maximum 

of twenty-five (25) years. No MA teacher shall be credited for more than thirteen 
(13) years of experience outside the District. The current year of the teacher's 
contract shall equal a year of experience; and, 

 
c) Subject to the terms and conditions described in Appendix D, each Approved 

Graduate Credit Hour shall add $243 to the teacher's base salary, up to a 
maximum of 36 hours (or 39 hours if a District-approved course or program). 

 
III. Salary shall be calculated as follows for a teacher holding an Educational Specialist's 

degree: 
 

a) The Base Educational Specialist's (EdSpec) Salary shall be $50,808 in 2012-13 
and $51,108 in 2013-14 (the total of the Bachelor's Base and the value of 36 BA+ 
credit hours at $185 each and the value of 36 MA+ credit hours at $243 each); 

 
b) Each Year of Experience shall add $630 to the teacher's salary up to a maximum 

of twenty-five (25) years. No EdSpec teacher shall be credited for more than 
thirteen (13) years of experience outside the District. The current year of the 
teacher's contract shall equal a year of experience; and, 

 
c) Subject to the terms and conditions described in Appendix D, each Approved 

Graduate Credit Hour shall add $243 to the teacher's base, up to a maximum of 3 
additional hours if the final 3 credits are earned through a District-approved 
course or program. 

 

107



13 

 

IV. Salary shall be calculated as follows for a teacher holding a Doctoral degree: 
 

a) The Base Doctoral Degree (Doctorate) Salary shall be $50,808 in 2012-13 and 
$51,108 in 2013-14 (the total of the Bachelor's Base and the value of 36 BA+ 
credit hours at $185 each and the value of 36 MA+ credit hours at $243 each); 

 
b) Each Year of Experience shall add $660 to the teacher's salary up to a maximum 

of twenty-five (25) years. No doctoral teacher shall be credited for more than 
thirteen (13) years of experience outside the District. The current year of the 
teacher's contract shall equal a year of experience; 

 
c) Subject to the terms and conditions described in Appendix D, each Approved 

Graduate Credit Hour shall add $243 to the teacher's base, up to a maximum of 3 
additional hours if the final 3 credits are earned through a District-approved 
course or program. 

 
V. For the purposes of salary calculation, a "credited year of experience" shall be calculated in 

accordance with Nebraska Revised Statute § 79-825. 
 
 

 

108



APPENDIX B (continued) 
 

NEW HIRE TEACHER SALARY PLACEMENT TABLE FOR 2012-13 
 

 
Previous 

Years 

 
STEP 

 
BA+0 

 

 
BA+12 

 
BA+24 

MA+0 
BA+36 

 
MA+15 

 
MA+30 

EdSpec 
MA+36 

EdD 
/PhD 

0  $ 36,032 $ 36,686 $ 37,505 $ 38,288 $ 39,927 $ 41,530 $ 44,248 $ 45,576 
1  $ 36,032 $ 36,686 $ 37,505 $ 38,288 $ 39,927 $ 41,530 $ 44,248 $ 45,576 

2  $ 36,032 $ 36,686 $ 37,505 $ 38,288 $ 39,927 $ 41,530 $ 44,248 $ 45,576 
3  $ 38,306 $ 38,924 $ 39,698 $ 40,440 $ 41,987 $ 43,502 $ 46,071 $ 47,339 

4  $ 38,874 $ 39,504 $ 40,291 $ 41,048 $ 42,622 $ 44,166 $ 46,781 $ 48,074 
5  $ 39,504 $ 40,135 $ 40,953 $ 41,710 $ 43,316 $ 44,891 $ 47,569 $ 48,897 

6  $ 40,008 $ 40,669 $ 41,489 $ 42,246 $ 43,882 $ 45,490 $ 48,199 $ 49,579 
7  $ 40,544 $ 41,205 $ 42,024 $ 42,591 $ 44,230 $ 45,868 $ 48,577 $ 50,006 

8  $ 41,080 $ 41,741 $ 42,591 $ 43,159 $ 44,766 $ 46,402 $ 49,156 $ 50,559 
9  $ 41,615 $ 42,307 $ 43,159 $ 43,693 $ 45,332 $ 46,970 $ 49,712 $ 51,147 

10  $ 42,151 $ 42,844 $ 43,726 $ 44,796 $ 46,402 $ 48,040 $ 50,853 $ 52,255 
11   $ 43,410 $ 44,293 $ 45,868 $ 47,506 $ 49,156 $ 51,994 $ 53,395 

12   $ 44,009 $ 44,860 $ 46,970 $ 48,577 $ 50,265 $ 53,135 $ 54,551 
13   $ 44,577 $ 45,615 $ 48,324 $ 50,006 $ 51,700 $ 54,551 $ 56,065 

 
METHODOLOGY FOR NEW HIRE PLACEMENT FOR 2012-13 

 
STEP 1 • Determine previous years of teaching experience up through and including 2011-12. 
 
STEP 2 • Separate all graduate credit hours earned before September 1, 2004 from those earned after 
September 1, 2004. 
 
STEP 3 • Calculate a new hire's placement on the salary schedule above based upon years of previous 
experience and using all qualified graduate credits earned prior to September 1, 2004. [For example, a person 
with 9 years of experience and pre-September 2004 graduate credits of BA+27 would be placed at $43,159]. 
 
STEP 4 • Add all graduate semester credits earned prior to September 1, 2004 which were not used for 
placement on the schedule (and all graduate credits earned after September 1, 2004) at the rate of $165 per 
credit hour. Maximum graduate credits allowed is 36. No credits allowed beyond the EdSpec or Doctorate. 
[For example, if a person has pre-September 2004 graduate credit hours of BA+27, only 24 were previously 
used and 3 remain to be used at $165 per hour. If the same person has MA+3 in total, take the maximum 36 
hours earned prior to the MA degree, minus the 24 hours already used to get 12 hours at $165 per graduate 
credit hour. That is a total of $1,980. Then take the 3 hours earned after the MA degree at $495 and add 
together to get $2,475]. 
 
STEP 5 • Add the salary of Step 3 to the salary of Step 4 to get a total salary. [In the example listed above, 
add $43,159 to $2,475 for a total of $45,634]. 
 
STEP 6 • Determine the date of the MA degree if applicable. If the MA is before June 1, 2005, create a MA 
stipend of $2,000. If the MA is after June 1, 2005 create a MA stipend of $800. Keep the MA stipend as a 
separate line item within total compensation. 

109



15 

 

APPENDIX C 
COMPENSATION STIPENDS FOR EXTRA DUTIES 

2012-2013 and 2013-2014 
 

 

        

HIGH SCHOOL 
  

  

ATHLETIC STIPENDS 
  

  

  
  

  

  2012-13 2013-14   

FOOTBALL 
  

  

Head Coach  $7,500  $8,600   

Assistant Varsity  $4,900  $5,590   

Assistant Coach  $3,950  $4,558   

[boys] 
  

  

  
  

  

BASKETBALL 
  

  

Head varsity  $7,150  $7,740   
  

Varsity Assistant $4,700 $5,031 
   

J.V. Coach  $4,700  $5,031   

Assistant Coach  $3,750  $4,102   

[boys and girls] 
  

  

  
  

  

TRACK 
  

  

Head Coach  $5,750  $6,880   

Assistant Coach  $3,200  $3,784   

[boys and girls] 
  

  

  
  

  

WRESTLING 
  

  

Head Coach  $6,200  $7,740   

Assistant Coach  $3,450  $4,257   

[boys] 
  

  

  
  

  

BASEBALL 
  

  

Head Coach  $5,950  $6,880   

Assistant Coach  $3,284  $3,784   

110



[boys] 
  

  

  
  

  

SWIMMING 
  

  

Head Coach  $6,650  $7,740   

Assistant Coach  $3,550  $4,257   

[boys and girls combined] 
  

  

  
  

  

VOLLEYBALL 
  

  

Head Coach  $6,200  $7,740   

Assistant Coach  $3,450  $4,257   

[girls] 
  

  

  
  

  

SOFTBALL 
  

  

Head Coach  $5,750  $6,880   

Assistant Coach  $3,200  $3,784   

[girls] 
  

  

  
  

  

SOCCER 
  

  

Head Coach  $5,750  $6,880   

Assistant Coach  $3,200  $3,784   

[boys and girls] 
  

  

  
  

  

GOLF 
  

  

Head Coach  $3,300  $3,870   

[boys and girls] 
  

  

  
  

  

TENNIS 
  

  

Head Coach  $3,300  $3,870   

Assistant Coach  $2,300  $2,516   

[boys and girls] 
  

  

  
  

  

CROSS COUNTRY 
  

  

Head Coach $3,300  $3,870   

Assistant Coach $2,300  $2,516   

[boys and girls combined] 
  

  

  
  

  

111



17 

 

 

INTRAMURAL SUPERVISOR 
  

  

Fall  $1,110  $1,110   

Winter  $1,300  $1,300   

Spring $1,110  $1,110   

  
  

  

AQUATICS DIRECTOR $10,140  $10,140   

  
  

  

Strength and Conditioning $6,650  $8,600   

Weight Trainer $5,200  $5,200   

Assistant Activities Director $5,550  $6,000   

  
  

  

  
  

  

OTHER HIGH SCHOOL 
  

  

 EXTRA DUTY STIPENDS 
  

  

  2012-13 2013-14   

Academic Decathlon $1,740 $1,740   

Annual (Yearbook) $3,770 $3,770   

Assistant Band Director $4,500 $4,500   

Assistant Debate $3,780 $3,780   

Assistant Forensics $3,780 $3,780   

Assistant Musical Director $1,520 $1,520   

Assistant Vocal Music Director $3,400 $3,400   

Band Director $7,560 $7,560   

Cheerleading [varsity] $3,620 $3,620  

Cheerleading [junior varsity] $2,320 $2,320  

Cheerleading [freshman] $2,320 $2,320  

Cheerleading [wrestling] $1,450 $1,450  

Class board sponsor [senior] $870 $870  

Class board sponsor [junior]  $1,300 $1,300  

Class board sponsor [sophomore] $290 $290  

Class board sponsor [freshman] $290 $290  
 

Club sponsor $580 $580   
 

Dance Team $2,320 $2,320   

Debate $7,560 $7,560   

112



DECA $1,450 $1,450   

Drama Director $5,750 $5,750   

FBLA $1,110 $1,110   

FCCLA $1,110 $1,110   

FinishLynx System Operator $580 $580  

Forensics $7,560 $7,560   

Literary Magazine $870 $870   

Musical Director $3,030 $3,030   

National Honor Society $1,450 $1,450   

Newspaper $3,190 $3,190   

Orchestra (strings) Director $3,780 $3,780   

PAYBAC Liaison $580 $580  

RTI+I Consultant $800 $800  

RTI+I Leader $800 $800  

Student Council $1,450 $1,450   

VICA $1,110 $1,110   

Vocal Music Director $6,800 $6,800   

  
  

  

  
  

  

MIDDLE SCHOOL 
  

  

 EXTRA DUTY STIPENDS 
  

  

  
  

  

  2012-13 2013-14   

BASKETBALL 
  

  

Head 8th $1,800 $1,850   

Assistant 8th $1,510 $1,575   

C Team 8th $1,210 $1,275   

[boys and girls] 
  

  

  
  

  

WRESTLING 
  

  

Head 8th $1,800 $1,850   

Assistant 8th $1,510 $1,575   

[boys] 
  

  

  
  

  

113



19 

 

 

TRACK 
  

  

Head 8th $1,800 $1,850   

Assistant 8th $1,510 $1,575   

[boys and girls] 
  

  

  
  

  

VOLLEYBALL 
  

  

Head 8th $1,800 $1,850   

Assistant 8th $1,510 $1,575   

[girls] 
  

  

  
  

  

FOOTBALL $1,800 $1,850   

[boys] 
  

  

  
  

  

Intramural Boys Basketball $740 $750   

Intramural Girls Basketball $740 $750   

Intramural Girls Volleyball $740 $750   

  
  

  

ACTIVITIES DIRECTOR $6,660 $6,660   

  
  

  

  
  

  

OTHER MIDDLE SCHOOL 
  

  

 EXTRA DUTY STIPENDS 
  

  

  2012-13 2013-14   

Annual (Yearbook) $1,450 $1,450   

Assistant Musical $1,150 $1,150   

Club Sponsor $580 $580   

Drama / Musical $1,300 $1,300   

Instrumental (Band) Director $1,740 $1,740   

Newspaper $730 $730   

Orchestra (Strings) Director $1,160 $1,160   

PAYBAC Partner Liaison $580 $580   

RTI+I Consultant $800 $800   

RTI+I Leader $800 $800   

Student Council $1,010 $1,010   

Vocal Music Director $1,740 $1,740   

114



Volunteer Coordinator $290 $290   

  

  
  

  

  
  

ELEMENTARY 
  

  

EXTRA DUTY STIPENDS 
  

  

  2012-13 2013-14   

Club Sponsor $580 $580   

PAYBAC Partner Liaison $580 $580   

RTI+I Consultant $580 $580   

RTI+I Leader $1,300 $1,300   

Safety Patrol $1,310 $1,310   

Student Council $730 $730   

  
  

  
 

DISTRICT 
  

  

EXTRA DUTY STIPENDS 
  

  

  2012-13 2013-14   

Building Web Page Initiator $1,450  $1,450    

Building Wellness Coordinator $580 $580   

Computer Initiator (Elementary, Middle, High) $2,320 $2,320   

Department Head [*] $2,320 $2,320   

IB Extended Essay Supervisor / Mentor $360  $360    

Instrumental Music Department Head (4-12) $2,750 $2,750   

Mentor $400 $400   
New Staff Induction (Peer Coaching and Productive 

Approaches) $290  $290    

Staff Development Facilitator $860 $860   

Supervisor (paid per supervision assignment) $25  $25    

TEAMMATES Sponsor (1-5 volunteer mentors) $290  $290    

TEAMMATES Sponsor (6-10 volunteer mentors) $580  $580    

TEAMMATES Sponsor (11 or more volunteer mentors) $870  $870    

  
  

  
*Buildings with Instructional Team Leaders and 

Facilitators in lieu of Department Heads split building's 
allocated Department Head salaries  

  
  

        

115



21 

 

Appendix D 

Salary Schedule – College Credit Courses for Salary Placement 

 
The following terms and conditions shall apply for salary range placement: 
 

1. For purposes of determining placement on the salary range, a teacher must have each 
college graduate course approved by the Building Principal and the Human Resource 
Office prior to taking the course. In making the approval / non-approval determination 
the District will consider: the individual teacher's assignment, the type and level of 
college accreditation, and the individual course. 

 

2. Each teacher who has been accepted into and is working on a degree program may 
submit his or her program to the Building Principal and Human Resource Office for 
approval. If approved it will be placed on file in the Human Resource Office and each 
individual course listed in the program will automatically be approved for future salary 
range placement. 

 

3. Application forms for approval of college graduate hours are available in the Principal's 
office or from Human Resources. 

 

4. Procedure for placement on the salary range: 
 

a. Placement on the salary range will be determined annually based upon the 
teacher's status at the commencement of the school year. 

b. Placement determinations will be based upon the teacher's official college 
transcript filed with the Human Resource Office. A transcript must be on file 
prior to December 15 of the school year in order for courses to be considered in 
placement on the salary range for the current school year. 

c. Only those courses completed prior to September 1 of the current school year, as 
evidenced in the official college transcript, will be considered for placement on 
the salary range for the current school year. 

d. Any payment due as a result of a change in placement on the salary range will be 
retroactive to the beginning of the school year. 
 

5. Maximum credit hours: 
 

a. Bachelor's: The maximum number of credit hours recognized for additional 
salary payment above a Bachelor's degree shall not exceed 39; provided however, 
the last 3 credit hours must have been earned after the second semester of 2006-
07 and are from a list of courses specifically approved by the Superintendent (or 
designee).  

 
b. Master's: The maximum number of credit hours recognized for additional salary 

payment above a Master's degree, shall not exceed 39; provided however, the last 
3 credit hours must have been earned after the second semester of 2006-07 and 
are from a list of courses specifically approved by the Superintendent (or 
designee).  

 
c. Educational Specialist: The maximum number of credit hours recognized for 

additional salary payment above an Educational Specialist degree, shall not 
exceed 3; provided however, the 3 credit hours must have been earned after the 

116



second semester of 2006-07 and are from a list of courses specifically approved 
by the Superintendent (or designee).  

 
d. Doctorate: The maximum number of credit hours recognized for additional salary 

payment above a Doctorate degree, shall not exceed 3; provided however, the 3 
credit hours must have been earned after the second semester of 2006-07 and are 
from a list of courses specifically approved by the Superintendent (or designee). 

 
e. Calculation Restrictions: In all salary ranges, (Bachelor's, Master's, Educational 

Specialist, and Doctoral), credit hours used for salary determination must not 
have previously been used to calculate salary. Credit hours used for salary 
determination must have been obtained after the date the preceding degree was 
earned as evidenced by the official college transcript.  
 

 

 
 

117



23 

 

Appendix E 

Schedule of Payments - Voluntary Separation Program (2012-13) 

 
An eligible employee who has been approved by the Board for participation in the Voluntary Separation 
Program shall receive a total benefit equal to his or her final salary times years of credited service times the 
salary factor indicated in the table below. The total benefit shall be divided into equal monthly payments as 
indicated in the table below: 
  

 

Year of Plan 

Eligibility 

 

 

Total Benefit 

 Formula 

 

Number of Equal 

Monthly Payments 

1 Salary x Years x .070  60 
2 Salary x Years x .065 60 
3 Salary x Years x .060 60 
4 Salary x Years x .055 60 
5 Salary x Years x .050 60 
6 Salary x Years x .045 60 
7 Salary x Years x .040 48 
8 Salary x Years x .035 36 
9 Salary x Years x .025 24 
10 Salary x Years x .015 12 
11 Eligibility Ends  

 
 

Definitions: 
Salary shall mean the employee's final school-year annual salary including longevity pay but not including 
payments for extra-duty, performance bonus, cash-option, or hourly paid work. 
 
A year of credited service shall mean:  

(a) any school year in which the employee is paid by the district for at least 135 days of full-time 
work; or  

(b) any two school years in which the employee is paid for the equivalent of at least 135 days of 
part-time work each year; or  

(c) any two school years in which the employee is paid for the equivalent of at least 67.5 days of 
full-time work each year. 

 
Years of employment as a substitute shall not be counted toward years of service under this plan. 

 
Monthly Payment Amount is the total benefit divided by the number of monthly payments 
 
Age shall mean an employee's age on June 1 of any given school year. 
 
Year of Plan Eligibility is determined by the school year when the employee is first eligible to participate. 
When an employee first meets the qualifications described in the eligibility section of this agreement, the 
employee is in year one (1) of his or her eligibility. The following school year is the employee's second 
year (2) of eligibility; this pattern continues until the employee elects to participate or until the eleventh 
(11th) year when the employee is no longer eligible to participate. 
 
 
 

118



 
 
 
 

Appendix E (continued) 

Schedule of Payments - Voluntary Separation Program (2013-14) 

 
An eligible employee who has been approved by the Board for participation in the Voluntary Separation 
Program shall receive a total benefit equal to the lesser of: (1) his or her final salary times years of credited 
service times the salary factor indicated in the table below; or (2) $20,000 per year. The total benefit shall 
be divided into equal monthly payments as indicated in the table below: 
 
 
  
 

 

Year of Plan 

Eligibility 

 

Total Benefit  

Formula 

 

Number of Equal 

Monthly Payments 

 
1 Salary x Years x .070  60 
2 Salary x Years x .060 60 
3 Salary x Years x .050 60 
4 Salary x Years x .030 60 
5 Salary x Years x .010 60 
6 Eligibility Ends  

 
 

Definitions: 
Salary shall mean the employee's final school-year annual salary including longevity pay but not including 
payments for extra-duty, performance bonus, cash-option or hourly paid work. 
 
A year of credited service shall mean:  

(a) any school year in which the employee is paid by the district for at least 135 days of full-time 
work; or  

(b) any two school years in which the employee is paid for the equivalent of at least 135 days of 
part-time work each year; or  

(c) any two school years in which the employee is paid for the equivalent of at least 67.5 days of 
full-time work each year. 

 
Years of employment as a substitute shall not be counted toward years of service under this plan. 

 
Monthly Payment Amount is the total benefit divided by the number of monthly payments. 
 
Age shall mean an employee's age on June 1 of any given school year. 
 
Year of Plan Eligibility is determined by the school year when the employee is first eligible to participate. 
When an employee first meets the qualifications described in the eligibility section of this agreement, the 
employee is in year one (1) of his or her eligibility. The following school year is the employee's second 
year (2) of eligibility; this pattern continues until the employee elects to participate or until the sixth (6th) 
year when the employee is no longer eligible to participate. 

119



25 

 

Appendix F 

MPS Health Plan 

 

Benefit Overview 

MPS PPO Plan 

Effective January 1, 2013 

Annual Deductible 

 In-network 
  Individual 
  Family 
 
 Out-of-network 
  Individual 
  Family 
 

 

 
 

$600 
$1,200 

 
 

$1,200 
$2,400 

 
 

Co-insurance % 

 In-network 
 Out-of-network 
 

 
 

80% 
60% 

 

Out-of Pocket Max, NOT including 

deductible 

 In-network 
  Individual 
  Family 
 
Out-of-network 
  Individual 
  Family 
 

 
 
 
 

$2,000 
$4,000 

 
 

$4,000 
$8,000 

 
  

 

 

 

Prescription Drug Copay 

 
Generic                       $10 
Preferred Brand          $35 
Non-Preferred Brand  $60 

 
Mail Order: 2.5 copays for 90 day 
supply 
 

 

Lifetime Maximum 

 
none 

  
 

120



Appendix G 

MPS Dental Plan for 2012-14 
 
 

Benefit Overview  

 In-Network Out-of-Network 

Annual Deductible 

 Individual 
 Family 
 

 
$25 
$75 

 

 
$25 
$75 

 
Individual Annual Maximum $1,500 combined 

Diagnostic & Preventive 

  (no deductible) 
 Exams 
 Cleanings 
 X-rays 
 Fluoride Treatment 
 Sealants 
 Space Maintainers 
 

 
 

100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 
100% 

 
 

90% 
90% 
90% 
90% 
90% 
90% 

Regular Restorative Services 

  (deductible applies) 
 Emergency treatment to relieve pain 
 Fillings, stainless crowns 
 Simple extractions, surgical services 
 

 
 

80% 
80% 
80% 

 
 

70% 
70% 
70% 

Major Services 

  (deductible applies) 
 Endodontics – root canal therapy 
 Periodontics – treatment of gum disease 
 
 Crowns, inlays, onlays 
 Bridges and dentures 
 Repairs and adjustments 
 

 
 

80% 
80% 

 
50% 
50% 
50% 

 
 

70% 
70% 

 
40% 
40% 
40% 

Orthodontics N/A N/A 

 
 
 
 

121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
 
 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM: Approve 2012-2013 High School Calendars 
 
MEETING DATE: May 21, 2012 
 
DEPARTMENT: Office of the Superintendent    
 
TITLE AND BRIEF DESCRIPTION: 2012-2013 High School Calendars 
 
 
ACTION DESIRED: APPROVAL   XX       DISCUSSION          INFORMATION ONLY  _____         
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
The attached high school calendars were derived from the district calendar previously approved by the board 
(attached).  High schools have a similar calendar to last year.  High schools are flexing time for freshman 
orientation and late start days to accommodate state required testing in January.  If there is any deviation from 
these calendars, it will be according to rule 6020.2, which allows the board and/or superintendent to dismiss 
school in emergency situations.  The calendars are approved by the school improvement team at each school 
which includes staff and parents.     
 
These calendars are published by each school and are also available on the school web site.   
  
OPTIONS AND ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED: 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION:   Approve the 2012-2013 high school calendars. 
 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE: 
 
 
IMPLICATIONS OF ADOPTION OR REJECTION: 
 
 
TIMELINE: 
 
 
RESPONSIBLE PERSON: Angelo Passarelli 
 
 
SUPERINTENDENT’S APPROVAL:                                                                  
        (Signature) 
 
BOARD ACTION: 

139



Millard North High School Comprehensive Calendar 
2012-2013 

 

August 2012 

M T W T F 

  1 2 3 

6 7 8 9 10 

13 14 15 16 17 

20 21 22 23 24 

27 28 29 30 31 
 

September 2012 

M T W T F 

3 4 5 6 7 

10 11 12 13 14 

17 18 19 20 21 

24 25 26 27 28 

     
 

October 2012 

M T W T F 

1 2 3 4 5 

8 9 10 11 12 

15 16 17 18 19 

22 23 24 25 26 

29 30 31   
 

November 2012 

M T W T F 

   1 2 

5 6 7 8 9 

12 13 14 15 16 

19 20 21 22 23 

26 27 28 29 30 
 

December 2012 

M T W T F 

3 4 5 6 7 

10 11 12 13 14 

17 18 19 20 21 

24 25 26 27 28 

31     
 

January 2013 

M T W T F 

 1 2 3 4 

7 8 9 10 11 

14 15 16 17 18 

21 22 23 24 25 

28 29 30 31  

 

February 2013 

M T W T F 

4 5 6 7 8 

11 12 13 14 15 

18 19 20 21 22 

25 26 27 28  

     
 

March 2013 

M T W T F 

    1 

4 5 6 7 8 

11 12 13 14 15 

18 19 20 21 22 

25 26 27 28 29 
 

April 2013 

M T W T F 

1 2 3 4 5 

8 9 10 11 12 

15 16 17 18 19 

22 23 24 25 26 

29 30    

 

May 2013 

M T W T F 

  1 2 3 

6 7 8 9 10 

13 14 15 16 17 

20 21 22 23 24 

27 28 29 30 31 

     
 

June 2013 

M T W T F 

3 4 5 6 7 

10 11 12 13 14 

17 18 19 20 21 

24 25 26 27 28 

     
 

July 2013 

M T W T F 

1 2 3 4 5 

8 9 10 11 12 

15 16 17 18 19 

22 23 24 25 26 

29 30 31   

 
Aug. 3 First Day for New Teachers 
Aug. 1 Fall Orientation  
 10th Grade 8-11 am  
 11th Grade 1-4 pm 
Aug. 2 9th Grade 8-11 am 
 12th Grade 1-4 pm 
Aug. 13 Make-Up Day Grades 8am-12pm 
Aug. 8 First Day for Veteran Teachers 
Aug. 13 New Student ELO Testing 
Aug. 15 FIRST DAY OF SCHOOL-GRADE 9 ONLY 
Aug. 16 FIRST DAY OF SCHOOL-ALL STUDENTS 
Aug. 17 First day for 0 and 8th hour classes 
Aug. 23 MNHS Open House 6-8pm 
Sep. 3 Labor Day – NO SCHOOL 
Sep. 8 ACT at MNHS 
Sep. 15 Homecoming Dance 8-11pm 
Oct. 17 End of 1st Quarter 
Oct. 18 NO SCHOOL – Teacher Work Day 
Oct. 18 Parent-Teacher Conferences 4-8:00 pm 
Oct. 19 NO SCHOOL – Staff Development 8-4 pm 
Oct. 20 PSAT at MNHS 8am – 12pm 
Oct. 20 Mock Interviews 
Oct. 24 Parent Teacher Conferences 4-8 pm 
Oct. 27 ACT at MNHS 
Oct. 25 9th Grade Terra Nova – 8:00-12:00 (PM classes) 
 10th Grade – Report at 12:00 
 11th Grade Science & Social Studies ELO – 8:00-12:00 
                 (PM classes)   
 12th Grade- Senior Meeting 11:00-12:00 (PM classes) 
Oct. 26 9th Grade Terra Nova 8-12:00 pm (12:00 dismissal) 
 10th Grade PLAN – 8:00-12:00 pm (12:00 dismissal) 
 11th & 12th Grade – Job Shadow/College Visit All Day 

Nov. 16 Mustang Mania 
Nov. 21 Teacher Comp Day 

     Nov. 21-23      NO SCHOOL – Thanksgiving Break 
Dec. 8              ACT at MNHS 
Dec. 20 Final Exams periods 1, 3, 5, 7 
Dec. 21 Final Exams periods 2, 4, 6, 0/8 
Dec. 24 –Jan. 2  NO SCHOOL-WINTER BREAK 
Jan. 3 2nd Semester Begins 
Jan. 9 Middle School Visits this Week-Registration 
Jan. 21 NO SCHOOL-MLK Day –Staff Development 
Jan. 22 IB Information/Application Night 5:00 pm 
Jan. 29 8th Grade Orientation 5-7pm (Auditorium) 
Jan. 23-24 9th Grade- Report at 10:00 
 10th Grade- AWA Testing 8:00-9:45am 
 11th Grade- State Writing 8:00-9:45am 
 12th Grade- Report at 10:00 
Jan. 31 8th Grade Orientation 5-7pm (Auditorium) 
Feb. 13 Traditional Conferences 4-8 pm  
Feb. 14 Mustang Time Advise. Conferences 4-8 pm  
Feb. 15 Mustang Time Advise. Conferences 1:00-4:00 pm 
Feb. 15 NO SCHOOL-  Professional Devl. and Conferences 
Feb. 9 ACT at MNHS 
Feb. 18 President’s Day – NO SCHOOL 
Feb. 19 8th Grade Registration Night 5-7 pm (C) 
Feb. 21 8th Grade Registration Night 5-7 pm (C) – All  
 within district transfer students come this night 
Feb. 26 IB MYP/DP 2/4-year Plan Night 5:00pm (MC/C) 
Feb. 28 IB MYP/DP 2/4-year Plan Night 5:00pm (MC/C) 
Mar. 12-13 10th Grade ELO Math - Pullout 
Mar. 13 End of 3rd Quarter 
Mar. 14 NO SCHOOL- Teacher Work Day 
Mar. 15 Teacher Comp Day 

Mar. 14-19 NO SCHOOL- Student Spring Break 
Mar. 26-27 11th Grade State Reading Assessment - Pullout 
Apr. 9-10 11th Grade State Science Assessment – Pullout 
Apr. 6 Prom @ Century Link Center 8-11pm 
Apr. 13 ACT at MNHS 
Apr. 16-17 11th Grade State Math Assessment – Pullout 
Apr. 26 Mock Interviews 
May 9 Senior Honors Night 6-7 pm (Auditorium) 
May 13-17 9th Grade Reading ELO – In English Classes 
May 24 Commencement Rehearsal @ 11:00 
 Last day for Seniors 
May 25 Commencement 4:00 pm 
May 27 NO SCHOOL-Memorial Day 
TBD Final Exams periods 1,3,5,7 
TBD Final Exams periods 0,2,4,6,8 
May 29  LAST DAY OF SCHOOL (Full Day) 
May 30 Teacher Work Day 
Jun. 8 ACT at MNHS 

 
 No School for Students 
 
 Late Start or Early Dismissal 
 
This calendar includes four days of school that may be used in 
case of inclement weather.  If fewer (or more) days are used, the 
last day of school will be adjusted accordingly.  
 

Students will only be allowed to take final exams in order 

to receive full credit on the designated dates.  

140



AUGUST 13 Aug. 1-2 Student Fall Orientation
M T W Th F Aug. 6-7 New Student Registration 

  1 2 3 Aug. 3-7 New Teacher Induction 
6 7 8 9 10 Aug. 8-14 All Certificated Staff – Workshops

13 14 15 16 17 Aug. 15 Patriot Pride Day, 9th graders only
20 21 22 23 24 Aug. 16 First day of school 9-12th graders/Student handbook orientation
27 28 29 30 31 Make-up date for student fall orientation

Aug. 20 Open House 6:30PM
Aug. 22 Fall Pep Rally

SEPTEMBER 19 Sept. 3 Labor Day
M T W Th F Sept. 6 Extended PRIDE Time

   Sept. 8 ACT
3 4 5 6 7 Sept. 11 Progress grades due 

10 11 12 13 14 Sept. 11 Senior Information Night 6:30 PM
17 18 19 20 21 Sept. 14 Last day to drop a class
24 25 26 27 28 Sept. 18 Academic Letter Awards 7:00 PM 

Sept. 22 Homecoming Dance

OCTOBER  13,8 Oct. 2 Progress grades due 
M T W Th F Oct. 3 PAYBAC Interviews 
1 2 3 4 5 Oct. 16 Parent/Teacher Conf 4:00-7:45 (3:45-4:00 prep)
8 9 10 11 12 Oct. 17 End of Quarter 1/Parent/Teacher Conf 4:00-7:45 (3:45-4:00 prep)

15 16 17 18 19 Oct. 18 Teacher Work Day
22 23 24 25 26 Oct. 19 Building Staff Development 7:30-3:45
29 30 31   Oct. 18-19 No school for students

Oct. 20 PSAT
Oct. 23 Extended PRIDE Time  
Oct. 25 Terra Nova, Grade 9/11th Sci & Soc Stu ELO 8:00AM 

12th Grade Senior Workshop 10:30AM
12:00 PM School Starts Grades 9-12

Oct. 26 Terra Nova, Grade 9   8:00AM-12:00 PM
PLAN Test 10th Gr 8:00AM- 11:30 AM
Junior and Senior College/Career/Community Service Day

Oct. 27 ACT

NOVEMBER 19 Nov. 6 College Prep/AP Night 7:00 PM Tuesday
M T W Th F Nov. 8-9 9th Grade Respect Retreat

   1 2 Nov. 13 Progress grades due 
5 6 7 8 9 Nov. 14 Winter Pep Rally

12 13 14 15 16 Nov. 21 Teacher Comp day for conferences
19 20 21 22 23 Nov. 21-23 Thanksgiving Break
26 27 28 29 30

DECEMBER 15 Dec. 4 Progress grades due 
M T W Th F Dec. 8 ACT
3 4 5 6 7 Dec. 13 Extended PRIDE Time

10 11 12 13 14 Dec. 17-21 Finals Week
17 18 19 20 21 Dec. 22-Jan 2 Winter Break
24 25 26 27 28
31     

   2012-2013 Millard South Calendar 
REVISED 5-9-12

141



REVISED 5-9-12

JANUARY 20 Jan. 3 Semester 2 begins. Teachers and students return. PRIDE Time first
M T W Th F Jan. 21 MLK Day. No school for students.  Staff Dev. (AM - District.  PM - Building)

 1 2 3 4 Jan. 17 Vocational Career Fair 7:45-10:30AM
7 8 9 10 11 Jan. 23 AWA-10th and State Writing Assessment-Gr 11/Classes start @ 10:00AM 

14 15 16 17 18 Jan. 24 AWA-10th and State Writing Assessment-Gr 11-Classes Start @ 10:00AM 
21 22 23 24 25 Jan. 29 Progress grades due
28 29 30 31 Jan. 30 Extended PRIDE Time for Registration

Jan. 31 Extended PRIDE Time for Registration

 

FEBRUARY 18 Feb. 1 Last Day to drop a class 
M T W Th F Feb. 12 and 13 Advisement Conferences 4:00-7:45 (3:45-4:00 prep) 

   1 Feb. 15 No school for students
4 5 6 7 8 Feb. 15  Building Staff Development

11 12 13 14 15 Feb. 18 President’s Day.  No School for Students or Teachers
18 19 20 21 22 Feb. 20 Progress grades due
25 26 27 28 Feb. 21 Eighth Grade Orientation/Activities Fair 6:30-8:30 PM

 
MARCH 9,8 Mar. 6 PAYBAC Interviews
M T W Th F Mar. 5 & 7 Eighth Grade Registration 4-6 PM, CMS 3-5 and AMS3-7

 1 Mar. 5-8 Math ELO 10th in class/ pullout
4 5 6 7 8 Mar. 13  Spring Pep Rally  

11 12 13 14 15 Mar. 13 End of Quarter 3
18 19 20 21 22 Mar. 14 Teacher Work Day
25 26 27 28 29 Mar. 15 Teacher Comp. Day for Spring Conferences

Mar. 14-19 Spring Break
Mar. 26-29  NESA State Testing

APRIL 22 Apr. 9-12 NESA State Testing
M T W Th F Apr. 13 Prom
1 2 3 4 5 Apr. 13 ACT
8 9 10 11 12 Apr. 16 Progress grades due

15 16 17 18 19 Apr. 16 Senior Meeting  and Extended PRIDE Time 
22 23 24 25 26 Apr. 23-26 NESA State Testing
29 30    

MAY 16 May 6-17 Advanced Placement Exams
M T W Th F May 7 Progress grades due 

  1 2 3 May 14-17 ELO Reading 9th in class
6 7 8 9 10 May 16 Honors Night/ Senior Art Show 7:00 PM

13 14 15 16 17 May 25 Graduation 10:00 AM 
20 21 22 23 24 May 27 Memorial Day
27 28 29 30 31 May 29 Last day for students.  

May 30 Teacher Work Day

JUNE 0 June 8 ACT
M T W Th F

1 This calendar includes four days of school that may be used in case of
4 5 6 7 8 inclement weather.  If fewer than four days are used, the last day of school

11 12 13 14 15  will be adjusted accordingly.
18 19 20 21 22
25 26 27 28 29

142



Millard West High School Comprehensive Calendar 
2012-2013 

 

August 2012 

M T W T F 

  1 2 3 

6 7 8 9 10 

13 14 15 16 17 

20 21 22 23 24 

27 28 29 30 31 
 

September 2012 

M T W T F 

3 4 5 6 7 

10 11 12 13 14 

17 18 19 20 21 

24 25 26 27 28 

     
 

October 2012 

M T W T F 

1 2 3 4 5 

8 9 10 11 12 

15 16 17 18 19 

22 23 24 25 26 

29 30 31   
 

November 2012 

M T W T F 

   1 2 

5 6 7 8 9 

12 13 14 15 16 

19 20 21 22 23 

26 27 28 29 30 
 

December 2012 

M T W T F 

3 4 5 6 7 

10 11 12 13 14 

17 18 19 20 21 

24 25 26 27 28 

31     
 

January 2013 

M T W T F 

 1 2 3 4 

7 8 9 10 11 

14 15 16 17 18 

21 22 23 24 25 

28 29 30 31  

 

February 2013 

M T W T F 

4 5 6 7 8 

11 12 13 14 15 

18 19 20 21 22 

25 26 27 28  

     
 

March 2013 

M T W T F 

    1 

4 5 6 7 8 

11 12 13 14 15 

18 19 20 21 22 

25 26 27 28 29 
 

April 2013 

M T W T F 

1 2 3 4 5 

8 9 10 11 12 

15 16 17 18 19 

22 23 24 25 26 

29 30    
 

May 2013 

M T W T F 

  1 2 3 

6 7 8 9 10 

13 14 15 16 17 

20 21 22 23 24 

27 28 29 30 31 
 

June 2013 

M T W T F 

3 4 5 6 7 

10 11 12 13 14 

17 18 19 20 21 

24 25 26 27 28 

     
 

July 2013 

M T W T F 

1 2 3 4 5 

8 9 10 11 12 

15 16 17 18 19 

22 23 24 25 26 

29 30 31   

 
Aug. 3 First Day for New Teachers 
Aug. 3 “Back to School” Process  8-3:30  pm 
Aug. 6 “Back to School” Process 11-6 pm 
Aug. 13 “Back to School” Make-Up Day 1-3 pm 
Aug. 8 First Day for Veteran Teachers 
Aug. 13-14 New Student ELO Testing 
Aug. 15 FIRST DAY OF SCHOOL-GRADE 9 ONLY 
Aug. 16 FIRST DAY OF SCHOOL-ALL STUDENTS 
Aug. 17     Back to School Dance (8:00 – 11:00 pm) 
Aug. 31 Pep Rally 
Sep. 3 Labor Day – NO SCHOOL 
Sep. 6 Parent-Teacher Conferences 4:30-8:00/Drug & Alcohol 
 Parent Session 7:00/Scholarship Meeting 8:00 
Sep. 20 Arranged Parent-Teacher Conferences 4:30-8:00 
Sep. 21 Mock Interviews 
Sep. 27 Homecoming Pep Rally 
Sep. 29      Homecoming Dance 
Oct. 3-12 High School Retests (Oct. 9th and 10th AWA) 
Oct. 6 Craft Fair 
Oct. 17 End of 1st Quarter 
Oct. 18 NO SCHOOL – Staff Development 8-4 pm 
Oct. 19 NO SCHOOL 
Oct. 20 PSAT at MWHS 8am – 12pm 
Oct. 22 2nd Semester Begins 
Oct. 25 9th Grade Terra Nova – 8:00-12:00 (PM classes) 
 11th Grade Science & Social Studies ELO – 8:00-12:00 
                 (PM classes)   
 10th & 12th Grade – Report at 12:00 
Oct. 26 9th Grade Terra Nova 8-12:00 pm (12:00 dismissal) 
 10th Grade PLAN – 8:00-12:00 pm (12:00 dismissal) 
 11th & 12th Grade – Job Shadow/College Visit All Day 
Oct. 27 ACT at MWHS 
Nov. 16  Mock Interviews 
Nov. 21 Teacher Comp Day (No School for Students) 

N   Nov. 22-23      No School – Thanksgiving Break 
D   Nov. 30       Pep Rally 
De Dec. 8      ACT at MWHS 

Dec. 12-21 9th Grade Reading ELO   
Dec. 21 End of 2nd Semester 
Dec. 22-26  Holiday Break Moratorium on Activities  
Dec. 24 –Jan. 2  NO SCHOOL-WINTER BREAK 
Jan. 3 3rd Semester Begins 
Jan. 10 Open House (7:00 – 8:15) 
Jan. 15 AP Information/Application Night 7:00 pm 
Jan. 21 NO SCHOOL-MLK Day –Staff Development 
Jan. 22 AP Information Night 7:00 pm 
Jan. 23-24 9th Grade- Report at 10:00 
 10th Grade- AWA Testing 8:00-9:45 am 
 11th Grade- State Writing 8:00-9:45am 
 12th Grade- Report at 10:00 
Feb. 7 Advisement Conferences 4:30-8 pm  
Feb. 12 Advisement Conferences 4:30-8 pm  
Feb. 15 Advisement Conferences 1:00-4:00 pm 
Feb. 15 NO SCHOOL- Professional Development 
Feb. 9 ACT at MWHS 
Feb. 18 President’s Day – NO SCHOOL 
Feb. 21 8th Grade Registration Night/Activity Fair 5-7 pm 
Feb. 22 Mock Interviews  
Feb. 26 ELO Retests (AWA) 
Mar. 12-13 10th Grade ELO Math – Pullout 
Mar. 13 AP Kickoff Night (5:00-6:30 pm)  
Mar. 13 End of 3rd Quarter 
Mar. 14 NO SCHOOL- Teacher Work Day 
Mar. 15 Teacher Comp Day 
Mar. 14-19     NO SCHOOL- Student Spring Break 
Mar 20     4th Semester Begins 
Mar 21-24     Musical 
Mar 22     Pep Rally 

Mar. 26-27 11th Grade State Reading Assessment - Pullout 
Apr. 9-10 11th Grade State Science Assessment – Pullout 
Apr 13 Prom @ Century Link Center 8-11pm 
Apr 13 ACT at MWHS 
Apr 20 Spring Craft Fair 
Apr. 16-17 11th Grade State Math Assessment – Pullout 
Apr 19 Mr. Millard West 
Apr. 26 Mock Interviews 
May 6 -17 AP Tests 
May 7 Senior Honors Night -7 pm (Auditorium) 
May 1-3 Class Recognition Ceremonies (QT) 
May 13-17 9th Grade Reading ELO – In English Classes 
May 20 Senior Banquet (Commons) 
May 21 NHS Induction 7:00 pm (Auditorium) 
May 24 Commencement Rehearsal @ 10:00 
 Last day for Seniors (Civic Auditorium) 
May 25 Commencement 1:00 pm 
May 27 NO SCHOOL-Memorial Day 
May 29  LAST DAY OF SCHOOL (Full Day) 
May 30 Teacher Work Day 
Jun. 8 ACT at MWHS 

 
 No School for Students 
 
 Late Start or Early Dismissal 
 
This calendar includes four days of school that may be used in 
case of inclement weather.  If fewer (or more) days are used, the 
last day of school will be adjusted accordingly.  
 

143



AUGUST 13 Aug. 15 First Day for Students FEBRUARY 18
M T W Th F M T W Th F

1 2 3 Sept. 3 No School - Labor Day 1
6 7 8 9 10 4 5 6 7 8

13 14 15 16 17 Oct. 17 End of First Quarter 11 12 13 14 15
20 21 22 23 24 18 19 20 21 22
27 28 29 30 31 Oct. 18-19 No School - Conferences/Work Day/Professional Development 25 26 27 28

SEPTEMBER 19 Nov. 21-23 No School - Thanksgiving Break MARCH
M T W Th F M T W Th F
3 4 5 6 7 Dec. 21 First Semester Ends 1
10 11 12 13 14 4 5 6 7 8
17 18 19 20 21 Jan. 3 Second Semester Begins 11 12 13 14 15
24 25 26 27 28 18 19 20 21 22

Jan. 21 No School - Martin Luther King Jr. Day 25 26 27 28 29

OCTOBER Feb. 15 No School - Conferences/Professional Development APRIL 22
M T W Th F 1 2 3 4 5
1 2 3 4 5 Feb. 18 No School - Presidents' Day 8 9 10 11 12
8 9 10 11 12 15 16 17 18 19

15 16 17 18 19 Mar. 13 End of Third Quarter 22 23 24 25 26
22 23 24 25 26 29 30
29 30 31 Mar. 14-19 Spring Break

NOVEMBER 19 May 29 Last Day of School MAY 16
M T W Th F M T W Th F

1 2 May 25 Graduation 1 2 3
5 6 7 8 9 6 7 8 9 10

12 13 14 15 16 13 14 15 16 17
19 20 21 22 23 20 21 22 23 24
26 27 28 29 30 27 28 29 30 31

DECEMBER 15 This calendar includes four days of school that JUNE 0
M T W Th F may be used in case of inclement weather.  If fewer M T W Th F
3 4 5 6 7 (or more) days are used, the last day of school  3 4 5 6 7

10 11 12 13 14 will be adjusted accordingly. 10 11 12 13 14
17 18 19 20 21 17 18 19 20 21
24 25 26 27 28 Quarter Dates/Student Days 24 25 26 27 28
31 Oct. 17 45 days

Dec. 21 42 days 87
JANUARY 20 Mar. 13 47 days JULY 0
M T W Th F May 22 46 days 93 M T W Th F

1 2 3 4 Total 180 days 1 2 3 4 5
7 8 9 10 11 8 9 10 11 12

14 15 16 17 18 No School for Students 15 16 17 18 19
21 22 23 24 25 Make-up snow days 22 23 24 25 26
28 29 30 31 Approved:  December 5, 2011 29 30 31

   2012-13 School Calendar
*Middle and high school calendars vary and are available at <www.mpsomaha.org>

     9-8

 13-8

144



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
 
AGENDA ITEM:  Policy and Rule Affirmations  

1105, 1105.1, 1120, 1120.1, 1125, 1215 and 1215.1 
    Community –  

News Media  
Board of Education Meetings 
Communications with the Board of Education 
Citizens’ Advisory Committees:  For the Staff 

 
MEETING DATE:  Monday, May 21, 2012 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Superintendent's Office 
 
TITLE AND BRIEF  
DESCRIPTION:  We are seeking affirmations of Policy and Rule 
 
ACTION DESIRED:  Affirm 
 
BACKGROUND:  The proposed revisions have been reviewed by  

Attorney Duncan Young of Young and White Law Firm. 
 
OPTIONS AND 
ALTERNATIVES: Leave unchanged, delete, or make additional revisions. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN 
REFERENCE:  Parameter:  We will always communicate effectively, both 

internally and externally, in order to implement our 
Strategic Plan, operate our schools, and maintain high levels of 
community support. 

 
IMPLICATIONS OF 
ADOPTION/REJECTION: N/A 
 
TIMELINE: N/A 
 
PERSON RESPONSIBLE:  Amy Friedman 
 
SUPERINTENDENT APPROVAL: 
 
 
 
______________________________________________ 

145



Community 
 
News Media          1105 
 
The Superintendent or designee will maintain a professional working relationship with the news media for 
the purpose of disseminating accurate information about policies, programs, procedures, achievements, 
decisions and critical issues of the school district. Information, which may be disclosed to the news media, 
will be provided only after considering the best interests of the District’s students and staff together with 
the applicable state and federal laws. 
 
Legal Reference:  RRS 84-712, 84-712.01, 84-1408 
 
Related Rules:  1105R1, 1105R2,  
 
Policy Adopted:  February 17, 1975    Millard Public Schools 
Revised:  February 4, 2002,     Omaha, NE 
Reaffirmed:  May 21, 2012 
 

146



Community 

News Media: Schools, Departments and School-Related Groups 1105.1 

All information shall be released through the Office of the Superintendent except for information dealing with 
extracurricular clubs, activities and athletics and school-related groups. 

Building staff and District personnel shall not disclose or provide any information regarding the District, its staff, 
students, programs, policies, events or activities to the news media without the prior approval of the building 
principal.  The building principal, prior to approving any request for the disclosure of information or response to any 
inquiry about the District, its staff, students, programs, events or activities, shall advise the Superintendent or 
designee of such request for the disclosure of information or inquiry.  Upon approval by the Superintendent or 
designee, the disclosure of all such information shall be coordinated and released by the Superintendent or designee. 

All reasonable efforts shall be taken to prevent unnecessary intrusions on the students and staff and to minimize any 
disruption to the orderly operation of the school building and education process.  The building principal shall 
supervise all visits from the news media made in the school building during normal school day hours. 

School-Related Groups - As a matter of clarity, it is understood that school-related groups such as professional 
teacher organizations and parent-teacher organizations shall arrange for their own information releases. 
  
Related Policies: 1105P 6700P 

And Rules:  5710.1 
 
Rules Approved: February 17, 1975      Millard Public Schools 
Revised:  February 4, 2002        Omaha, NE 
Reaffirmed: May 21, 2012 

147

http://policy.mpsomaha.org/communityrelations/1105p.html


Community 
 
Board of Education Meetings 1120 
 
Meetings of the Board are conducted for the purpose of carrying on the business of the schools and, therefore, are 
not public meetings, but meetings held in public. 
 
Advanced publicized notice of the time, place, and business matters to be acted upon at all school board meetings 
shall be published in the official newspaper as designated annually by the Board of Education. 
 
The Board will provide an avenue for citizens to express their interest in and concerns for the schools.  Citizens who 
wish to make requests, presentations or proposals to the Board are requested to direct these to the Superintendent of 
Schools who will deal with them according to rules adopted by the Board. 
 
Board minutes shall be open to public inspection during normal business hours. 
 
Legal Reference:  RRS 84-1408, 84-1411, 84-1412, 84-1413 
 
Related Rules:  1102.1 
 
Policy Adopted:  February 17, 1975 Millard Public Schools 
Revised:  February 18, 2002 Omaha, NE 
Reaffirmed: May 21, 2012 
 
 

148



Community 
 
Board of Education Meetings 1120.1 
 
Residents of the school district who wish to have an item placed on the agenda must contact the Superintendent in 
writing by Monday of the week preceding the board meeting.  After the request is received, the Superintendent and 
President of the Board will decide whether the matter is appropriate to be placed on the agenda. 
 
Related Policy: 1120P 
 
Rules Approved:  June 6, 1977 Millard Public Schools 
Revised:  February 18, 2002.  
Reaffirmed:  May 21, 2012 Omaha, NE 
 
 

149



Community  
 
Communications with the Board of Education 1125 
 
Members of the Board, individually or collectively, recognize and welcome their responsibilities for listening to and 
seeking comments and suggestions from members of the community. 
 
Board members individually will refer complaints, suggestions, and constructive criticism about policy and 
operational matters directly to the Superintendent for appropriate consideration and action.  When a complaint 
concerning school personnel is made to a Board member individually, the Board member will explain the normal 
channel for complaints as written in Rule 1310.1 or refer the complaint to the Superintendent. 
 
No Board member may speak for, or in the name of, the total Board unless so directed. 
 
Related Policies & Rules:  1310, 1310.1, 1310.2 
 
Rev. Stat. § 79-526 
 
Policy Adopted:  February 17, 1975 Millard Public Schools 
Revised: December 16, 2002; March 17, 2003 Omaha, NE 
Reaffirmed:  May 21, 2012 
 
 

150



Community  
Citizens’ Advisory Committees: For the Staff  1215 
 

School- and District-level advisory committees shall be formed as needed to offer suggestions and advice to the staff 
in order to assist them in the decision-making process.  The final responsibility for all decisions, however, rests with 
the Board of Education and Superintendent. 

 

Legal Reference: Neb. Rev. Stat. 79-526 

Related Policies and Rules: 1215R1, 10000P, 10000R1 

Policy Adopted: February 17, 1975  Millard Public Schools 
Revised: January 27, 2003  Omaha, NE 
Reaffirmed:  May 21, 2012 
  

  

  

 

151

http://mps.schoolfusion.us/modules/groups/homepagefiles/cms/750516/File/Board%20Policies/Community%20Relations/1215r1.pdf
http://mps.schoolfusion.us/modules/groups/homepagefiles/cms/750516/File/Board%20Policies/Site-Based%20Planning%20&%20Management/10000P(1).pdf
http://mps.schoolfusion.us/modules/groups/homepagefiles/cms/750516/File/Board%20Policies/Site-Based%20Planning%20&%20Management/10000.1.pdf


Community  
Citizens’ Advisory Committees: For the Staff  1215.1 

 

Staff members wishing to establish an advisory committee for a school shall prepare a proposal for such a 
committee for consideration by the Principal.  Staff members wishing to establish an advisory committee for the 
District shall prepare a proposal for such a committee for consideration by the Superintendent or designee. 

Each advisory committee shall be instructed as to: 

1. The length of time each member is being asked to serve; 

2. The service the staff wishes it to render; 

3. The resources that the committee will have available to complete their task; 

4. The approximate date for the finalization of the committee work unless the committee is a standing 
committee; and 

5. Board policies which might influence the assignment, function and product of the committee. 

 

Related Policies and Rules: 1215P, 10000P, 10000R1 
 
Rule Approved: February 17, 1975  Millard Public Schools 
Revised: January 27, 2003,   Omaha, NE 
Reaffirmed:  May 21, 2012   
  
  
  
 

152

http://mps.schoolfusion.us/modules/groups/homepagefiles/cms/750516/File/Board%20Policies/Community%20Relations/1215p.pdf
http://mps.schoolfusion.us/modules/groups/homepagefiles/cms/750516/File/Board%20Policies/Site-Based%20Planning%20&%20Management/10000P(1).pdf
http://mps.schoolfusion.us/modules/groups/homepagefiles/cms/750516/File/Board%20Policies/Site-Based%20Planning%20&%20Management/10000.1.pdf


AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
 
AGENDA ITEM:  Rule Revision 1105.2 
    Community – News Media:  Coverage of Board Meetings 
 
MEETING DATE:  Monday, May 21, 2012 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Superintendent's Office 
 
TITLE AND BRIEF  
DESCRIPTION:  We are updating Rule 1105.2 
 
ACTION DESIRED:  Approval 
 
BACKGROUND:  The proposed revisions have been reviewed by Attorney 

Duncan Young of Young and White Law Firm. 
 
OPTIONS AND 
ALTERNATIVES: Leave unchanged, delete, or make additional revisions. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN 
REFERENCE:  Parameter:  We will always communicate effectively, both 

internally and externally, in order to implement our 
Strategic Plan, operate our schools, and maintain high levels of 
community support. 

 
IMPLICATIONS OF 
ADOPTION/REJECTION: N/A 
 
TIMELINE: N/A 
 
PERSON RESPONSIBLE:  Amy Friedman 
 
SUPERINTENDENT APPROVAL: 
 
 
 
______________________________________________ 
 
 

153



Category: Community Relations       1105.2 
 
Policy: News Media 
 
Rule: Coverage of Board Meetings  
 
Representatives of the news media are invited to attend meetings of the Board. 
 

I. The agenda and explanatory packet materials for each regular board meeting will be 
posted on the District web site. Upon request, a copy of the agenda will be sent to 
local newspapers, radio and television stations. Explanatory agenda materials will be 
available for media representatives requesting them. 

II. News media representatives and other members of the public are allowed to 
videotape, televise, photograph or broadcast all or any part of regular board meetings. 
However, such activities must be conducted in a manner that does not disrupt the 
meetings. Cameras, microphones, and other equipment must not hinder the Board in 
transacting its business. 

III. Questions from reporters to board members will not be allowed while the meeting is 
in progress, except during the time designated for Public Comments. Board members 
or their representatives will be available after the meeting to answer questions and 
clarify actions taken. 

 
Related Policy: 1105 
 
Legal Reference: 84-1408; 84-1409; 84-1411   Millard Public Schools 
Rule Approved: September 4, 1984      Omaha, NE 
Revised: February 4, 2002,  May 21, 2012 
 
 

 

154



          Enclosure  
          May 21, 2012 
 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM: Approval of the Activity Guidelines for High Schools and Middle Schools 
 
MEETING DATE:  May 21, 2012 
 
DEPARTMENT: Activities and Athletics 
 
TITLE AND BRIEF DESCRIPTION:   Board Policy 3923, Travel Not Sponsored by the 

District. 
 
 The District currently has policy in place regarding 

foreign travel by students. Travel is not sponsored 
by the District if such travel occurs outside the 
United States or Canada. What the current policy 
does not address are trips not sponsored by the 
District if such travel is not foreign travel. 

 
 The new policy and its accompanying rule attempts 

to address all private travel when such travel is not 
foreign travel. The same guidelines in place for 
foreign travel are used in the new policy and its 
accompanying rule. The accompanying rule also 
states the guidelines for facility use by non-District 
organizations involved with private travel, as well 
as what announcements need to be made by these 
private organizations regarding District non-
sponsorship during the meeting if that meeting takes 
place on District property. 

 
ACTION DESIRED:     Approval   __X__ 
 
BACKGROUND:      
OPTIONS/ALTERNATIVE CONSIDERATIONS:  The current policy and rule, as 
stated above, does not truly address non-foreign private travel, yet there are trips that 
occur within the country that are not school-sponsored activities. Without this new policy 
and rule, District officials are left to interpret the District’s position on such travel (and 
potential facility usage for such travel) without the support of current policy. Without the 
approval of this policy and rule, the District may continue to interpret how such travel 
will be addressed, but such interpretations are open to challenge. The approval of the new 

155



policy and rule seeks to eliminate a challenge to the current District interpretations of 
such travel. 

.RECOMMENDATIONS:  It is recommended that the board policy 3923 and board 
rule 3923.1 be approved and that the Superintendent or designee be authorized and 
directed to execute the application of the policy and rule. 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:   N/A 

 
IMPLICATIONS OF ADOPTION OR REJECTION:  With approval, the interpretation now 
used for student travel that is not sponsored by the school and/or District has the backing of 
board policy and rule.  
 
TIME LINE:      Immediate 
 
PERSONS RESPONSIBLE:    Director of Activities, Craig Whaley 
 
SUPERINTENDENT’S APPROVAL:  ________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

156



Support Services – Risk Management 
 
Policy:       Activity Limitations – Travel Not Sponsored by the District 
Rule:         Activity Limitations – Travel Not Sponsored by the District 3923.1 
 
Pursuant to Policy 3923, the District does not sponsor nor endorse any student travel when such travel is not a 
school-sponsored and/or District-sponsored activity. In furtherance of such policy, the following rules are 
established: 
 

I. If a private (non-school-related) organization desires to arrange private travel, the organizational 
meetings for such travel should be held at non-school locations. However, if the private organization 
submits a request to use District facilities for such purposes, the request shall comply with the District’s 
facility use policies and procedures and the organization shall be treated as a for-profit organization. 
Further, within the first ten minutes and again during the last ten minutes of any meeting held on District 
property, the individual in charge of such meeting shall inform those in attendance that the travel is in no 
way sponsored or endorsed by the District. 

 
II. No money for such private travel shall be deposited into a District account nor shall any expenses for 

such private travel be paid out of District funds. 
 

III. No private travel fundraising activities shall be conducted on District grounds or as part of any school 
activity. 

 
IV. No teacher, administrator, or other employee of the District shall, in his/her capacity as a District 

employee, promote private travel plans in his/her classroom, at school activities, or during any other time 
when the teacher is on duty with the District. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a teacher may, during the 
summer months when he/she is not under contract with the District, provide services to a private 
organization conducting private travel tours. 

 
 
Related Policies & Rules:  3923 
 
 
Date of Adoption:  May 21, 2012 Millard Public Schools 
 Omaha, NE 
 

157



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
 
 

Agenda Item: Policy 5120  
 
Meeting Date: May 21, 2012 
 
Department Pupil Services 
 
Title and Brief  
Description: Student Withdrawal 
              
 
Action Desired: Approval  
 
 
Background: Changes necessary due to the passage of LB 996, requiring schools to have 

procedures in place for withdrawing certain students from school. 
 
Options/Alternatives 
Considered: N/A 
 
Recommendations: Approval  
 
 
Strategic Plan 
Reference: N/A 
 
Implications of 
Adoption/Rejection: Students wishing to withdraw from school will have to meet specific criteria.  In 

addition, school personnel will be required to conduct an “exit interview” with the 
student and whomever has legal charge or control of the student. 

 
Timeline:  Immediately  
 
Responsible 
Persons: Bill Jelkin, Director of Pupil Services, 
 Dr. Jim Sutfin, Assistant Superintendent of Human Resources  
 
 
 
 
 
Superintendent’s Signature:  ______________________________________________ 
 

158



Pupil Services 
 

Withdrawals 5120 
 

A student may be withdrawn from school only by the parents, guardian, or other person with legal or actual charge 
or control of the student.  If feasible, this should be done at the end of the school day after having first notified the 
principal in writing.  Teachers must be provided advance information in order to prepare records necessary for the 
withdrawal.  Withdrawals which are due to a change of residence, enrollment in a different public, private, 
denominational, or parochial day school, or attendance at a school which elects not to meet accreditation or approval 
requirements pursuant to state law, shall be in accordance with District Rule 5120.1.  Withdrawals of students who 
have reached sixteen (16) years of age and for the purposes of being exempt from the mandatory attendance 
requirements of state law, shall be in accordance with District Rule 5120.2.  
 
 
Policy Approved:  February 20, 2001 Millard Public Schools 
Reaffirmed: February 2, 2009       Omaha, NE 
Revised: April    , 2012 

159



Pupil Services 
 

Withdrawals Due to Change of Residence or School 5120.1 
 

 
I. Withdrawal Procedure.  The procedure for withdrawal of a student from school, is as follows  due to a 

change of residence, enrollment in a different public, private, denominational, or parochial day school, or 
attendance at a school which elects not to meet accreditation or approval requirements pursuant to state 
law, shall be in accordance with the following: 

 
A.   Secure withdrawal authorization from the parent, guardian, or other person with legal or actual 

charge or control of the student. 
 
B.  Obtain appropriate forms from the guidance office or principal’s office. 

 
 C. Have the forms filled out by teacher, return all schoolbooks and property, and make sure all fees 
  are paid. 
 
 D. Take completed forms to the guidance or principal’s office for final clearance. 
 
II. The procedure for withdrawal of a student who has reached sixteen (16) years of age but is less than 

eighteen (18) years of age, and which is for the purpose of being exempt from mandatory attendance 
requirements of state law, shall be in accordance with District Rule 5120.2. 

 
Related Policy and Rule:  5100.2 (III), 5120.2, 5200, 5200.1 
 
Rule Approved: February 19, 2001 Millard Public Schools 
Reaffirmed: February 2, 2009       Omaha, NE 
Revised: April     , 2012 

160



Pupil Services 
 
Withdrawals for Purposes of Exemption from  5120.2      
MandatoryAttendance Requirements 
 
I. Withdrawal Procedure for Purposes of Exemption from Mandatory Attendance  Requirements. 
 
 A. A person who has legal or actual charge or control of a student who is at least sixteen (16) years of 
age but less than eighteen (18) years of age may withdraw such student from school before graduation and be exempt 
from the mandatory attendance requirements of Neb. Rev. Stat. § 79-201 if an exit interview is conducted and the 
withdrawal form is signed as required by subsections I(B) through I(F) of this Rule. 
 
 B. Upon the written request of any person who has legal or actual charge or control of a student who 
is at least sixteen (16) years of age but less than eighteen (18) years of age, the Superintendent or designee shall 
conduct an exit interview if the student is enrolled in a school operated by the District, or resides in the District and 
is enrolled in a private, denominational, or parochial school. 
 
 C. The Superintendent or designee shall set the time and place for the exit interview which shall be 
personally attended by the student, unless the withdrawal is being requested due to an illness of the student making 
attendance at the exit interview impossible or impracticable.  The exit interview shall also be attended by the person 
who has legal or actual charge or control of the student who requested the exit interview, the Superintendent or 
designee, and the student’s principal or designee if the student at the time of the exit interview is enrolled in a 
District school.  Other persons may also attend the exit interview, if such attendance is requested by any of the 
required parties and they agree to attend the exit interview and are available at the time designated for the exit 
interview.  Such other persons may include, but need not be limited to, other District personnel or the student’s 
principal or such principal’s designee if the student is enrolled in a private, denominational, or parochial school. 
 
 D. At the exit interview, the person making the written request shall present evidence that they have 
legal or actual charge or control of the student, and that the student would be withdrawing due to either financial 
hardships requiring the student to be employed to support the student’s family or one or more dependents of the 
student, or an illness of the student making attendance impossible or impracticable.  The Superintendent or designee 
shall identify all known alternative educational opportunities, including vocational courses of study, that are 
available to the student in the District and how withdrawing from school is likely to reduce future earnings for the 
student and increase the likelihood of the student being unemployed in the future.  Any other relevant information 
may also be presented and discussed by any of the parties in attendance. 
 
 E. At the conclusion of the exit interview, the person making the written request may sign the 
withdrawal of the student or may rescind the written request for the withdrawal. 
 
 F. Any withdrawal form signed by the person making the written request shall be valid only if the 
student signs the form unless the withdrawal is being requested due to an illness of the student making attendance at 
the exit interview impossible or impracticable, and the Superintendent or designee signs the form acknowledging that 
the interview was held, the required information was provided and discussed at the interview, and, in the opinion of 
the Superintendent or designee, the person making the written request does in fact have legal or actual charge or 
control of the student and the student is experiencing either financial hardships requiring the student to be employed 
to support the student’s family or one or more dependents of the student, or an illness making attendance impossible 
or impracticable. 
 
 G. A person who has legal or actual charge or control of a student who is at least sixteen (16) years of 
age but less than eighteen (18) years of age may withdraw the student before graduation and be exempt from the 
mandatory attendance requirements of Neb. Rev. Stat. § 79-201 if such student has been enrolled in a school that 
elects pursuant to Neb. Rev. Stat. § 79-1601 not to meet the accreditation or approval requirements by filing with the 
State Department of Education a signed and notarized release on a form prescribed by the Nebraska Commissioner 
of Education. 

161



 
 H. A student who has been withdrawn from school pursuant to this Rule may enroll in a school district 
at a later date as provided in Neb. Rev. Stat. § 79-215 or may enroll in a private, denominational, or parochial school 
or a school which elects pursuant to Neb. Rev. Stat. § 79-1601 not to meet accreditation or approval requirements.  
Any such enrollment shall void the withdrawal form previously entered, and the provisions of Neb. Rev. Stat. §§ 
79-201 to 79-210 shall apply to the student. 
 
II. The District shall submit to the State Department of Education the withdrawal forms or  data regarding 
students who have withdrawn from school pursuant to this Rule, in  accordance with the requirement of state 
law. 
 
 
 
Related Policy & Rules: 5120, 5120.1, 5200.1 
 
Date of Adoption:  ____, 2012 
 
 Millard Public Schools 
 Omaha, Nebraska 
 

162



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET

AGENDA ITEM: First Reading of Policy 6331

MEETING DATE: May 21, 2012

DEPARTMENT: Educational Services

TITLE: Acceleration and Retention

BRIEF DESCRIPTION: Recommended new policy

ACTION DESIRED: X First Reading

BACKGROUND: Policy 6331 is being recommended to formally provide authorization for
the development, implementation, and ongoing review of procedures
governing grade and subject acceleration and grade retention. The District
has had such procedures for many years. The procedures for acceleration
and retention were recently revised, not having been reviewed since 2004.

RECOMMENDATIONS: First reading of Policy 6331

STRATEGIC PLAN N/A

REFERENCE: N/A

IMPLICATIONS OF
ADOPTION OR REJECTION: N/A

TIMELINE: N/A

RESPONSIBLE Mark Feldhausen, Charlene Snyder, Nancy Johnston, Andy DeFreece
PERSON(S):

SUPERINTENDENT’S
APPROVAL:

163



Category: Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment 6331

Policy: Acceleration and Retention

The Superintendent or designee shall develop and implement student acceleration and retention
procedures. The objectives of the procedures shall be to provide parents and District staff with
guidelines and a process for making decisions regarding student grade or subject placement
acceleration, and student grade placement retention, when either the appropriateness of
continued instruction in the current grade or subject placement, or the appropriateness of
promotion to the next grade, are questioned by parents or District staff.

Related Policies & Rules: 5100, 5100.2, 6320, 6320.1

Policy Approved: June 4, 2012 Millard Public Schools
Omaha, NE

164



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM: Delete Rule 6660.1 

 
MEETING DATE: May 21, 2012 
 
DEPARTMENT: Educational Services 
 
TITLE: Problem Solving Process 
 
BRIEF DESCRIPTION: Delete Rule 6660.1 
  
ACTION DESIRED:   X  .  Approval 
 
BACKGROUND: Rule 6660.1 is being deleted as the RtI+I Model includes the 

required implementation procedures. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: Delete Rule 6660.1. 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN Strategy 4,  Action Plan 8 
 
REFERENCE: N/A 
 
IMPLICATIONS OF 
ADOPTION OR REJECTION: N/A 
 
TIMELINE: N/A 
 
RESPONSIBLE Mark Feldhausen, Andy DeFreece, Nancy Johnston, 
PERSON(S): Charlene Snyder, Tami Williams 
 
SUPERINTENDENT’S  
APPROVAL: 
 

165



Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment 
 
Millard Intervention Team Procedures       6660.1 
 
 
I. Millard Intervention Teams (MIT) will be composed of district staff members in each building who are 

trained to assist teachers in evaluating and implementing problem solving and intervention strategies which 
address learning and/or behavioral difficulties manifested by the academic, social, or emotional needs of 
students.  In addition to serving as a support for general education staff, it will function as the general 
education pre-referral process as required by Title 92, Nebraska Administrative Code, Chapter 51. 

 
II. MIT procedures at all grade levels will contain the following components: 
 

A. Standardization of MIT procedures and documentation. 
 
1. The MIT manual will provide standardized procedures and forms for documentation to be 

used across the District. 
 

2. The District MIT Procedures Manual will be reviewed annually by a district committee 
composed of the Director of Pupil Services and representatives from the school 
psychologists, the special education administration, and the elementary and secondary 
principals groups. 

 
B. MIT membership. 
 

1. There will be a minimum of six (6) consultants per building 
 

a. Each elementary school will have a minimum of one (1) MIT team leader. 
 

b. Each middle school will have a minimum of three (3) MIT team leaders. 
 

c. Each high school will have a minimum of four (4) MIT team leaders. 
 

2. Training for MIT members. 
 

a. Every MIT member will receive initial training in the MIT process. 
 
b. All new MIT consultants and MIT leaders will receive initial training prior to 

taking cases.  Follow-up training will be provided within a year. 
 
c. A one (1) day follow-up training for MIT leaders and MIT consultants will 

occur every two (2) years. 
 
d. Building administrators should participate in MIT training. 
 

3. Evaluation of the MIT process. 
 

a. The building principal or designee will be responsible for insuring that the MIT 
process is evaluated for consistency with district procedures and that MIT 
problem solving and intervention strategies assist teachers in the provision of 
general education so that students succeed in school. 

 
b. The Director of Pupil Services will evaluate and monitor building MIT 

procedures to assure consistency of the MIT process across the District. 
 

166



C. The following procedures will be used in each building: 
 

1. A referral is made to the MIT leader by the teacher(s).  At the middle school level, if 
students are first identified in regular grade level team meetings and need more in-depth 
problem solving or intervention strategies, a referral is made by the grade level team to 
the MIT leader. 

 
2. The MIT leader assigns a trained MIT consultant. 
 
3. The parents are contacted to inform them that a referral has been made. 
 
4. The MIT consultant reviews student records, gathers information from special area 

teachers, and schedules the problem clarification interview with the referring teacher(s).  
At the middle school level, the interview could be held during a regular grade level team 
meeting.  At the high school level, the interview includes only the referring teacher if the 
problem is confined to one (1) area or it may include additional personnel who have 
similar concerns. 

 
5. The MIT consultant conducts the problem clarification interview. 

 
a. The problem and replacement behavior/skills are defined. 

 
b. The hypotheses are listed regarding the problem’s causative factors. 

 
c. Previous problem solving and intervention strategies are reviewed. 

 
d. Student strengths and interests are acknowledged. 

 
e. Baseline behavior is established. 

 
f. Goals are specified. 

 
g. General support for the teacher is provided. 

 
6. An intervention plan is developed and initiated.  The plan should incorporate research 

supported interventions. 
 
7. A follow-up meeting to discuss progress and brainstorm possible 

alternatives/modifications is held.  Data are reviewed, brainstorming is repeated, and new 
strategies are developed as needed. 

 
8. If it is determined that progress is not acceptable, the case is referred to the full MIT 

which will include the student’s teachers, the MIT consultant, and at least two (2) other 
trained MIT team members.  At the elementary level, at least three (3) other trained MIT 
team members are included.  At the high school level, if appropriate, the full MIT may 
include administrator(s), specialists, parent(s), and the student. 

 
a. The consultant and teacher present the case to the other MIT members. 
 
b. The team reviews all available data. 

 
c. New strategies are brainstormed. 

 
d. Responsibilities are clarified and assigned for implementation of the new 

strategies. 
 

167



e. New strategies are implemented as assigned and data are gathered.  The MIT 
consultant monitors progress. 

 
9. If acceptable progress is made, strategies are continued as needed.  If the problem is 

solved, the case is terminated. 
 
10. If acceptable progress is not made, the MIT is reconvened and the team brainstorms new 

strategies.  The team will decide to implement the new strategies or if all viable options 
have been considered, the team will refer the student to the Multidisciplinary Team for 
evaluation. 

 
Related Policies & Rules:  6660 
 
Legal Reference:  Title 92, Nebraska Administrative Code, Chapter 51 
 
Policy Approved:  April 16, 2001  Millard Public Schools 
Revised: December 4, 2006 Omaha, NE 
Delete:  May 21, 2012 

168



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET

AGENDA ITEM: Policy 6900 Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment:
Research-Testing

MEETING DATE: May 21, 2012

DEPARTMENT: Educational Services/Assessment, Research, & Evaluation

TITLE AND
BRIEF DESCRIPTION: Policy 6900 Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment:

Research-Testing

ACTION DESIRED: X First Reading

BACKGROUND: Policy changes are needed to reflect current organization. Rule changes
are the result of new guidelines published in the Federal Registry for
compliance with the Family Education Rights to Privacy Act.

RECOMMENDATIONS: First Reading of Policy 6900

STRATEGIC PLAN: N/A

REFERENCE: N/A

IMPLICATIONS OF
ADOPTION OR REJECTION: N/A

TIMELINE: N/A

RESPONSIBLE
PERSON(S): Dr. Mark Feldhausen and Dr. Tami Williams

SUPERINTENDENT’S
APPROVAL:

169



Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment

Research-Testing 6900

Any persons conducting research projects involving staff, students, or facilities of the Millard School District must
submit a request in writing and receive approval from Educational Services (Office of Assessment, Research, and
Evaluation).the Office of the Superintendent (the Planning, Evaluation and Information Services department).

Related Policies & Rules: 6900.1

Policy Adopted: Millard Public Schools
Revised: April 20, 1992; Omaha, NE
September 13, 1999;
December 4, 2006; June 4, 2012

170



Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment

Research - Testing 6900.1

Individuals or organizations seeking approval to conduct research, surveys, or tests involving the staff, students or
facilities of the Millard School District shall observe the following procedures:

I. The “Research Application to Millard Public Schools” forms must be filled out and submitted to from
Educational Services (Office of Assessment, Research, and Evaluation). the Office of the
Superintendent (the Planning, Evaluation, and Information Services department).

II. All research instruments and a description of proposed methods to be used in the project must be
submitted to Educational Services as part of the Office of the Superintendent along with the
application.

III. Applications submitted after March 1 will generally not be considered for implementation during that
school year; exceptions will be at the direction of the Superintendent and/or the Board of Education.

III. IV. Upon receipt of application forms and other required materials a decision on approval, rejection, or
required modifications will be made by Educational Services (Office of Assessment, Research, and
Evaluation). the Office of the Superintendent.

IV. V. Stipulations as to confidentiality, publication of results, etc., will be required as part of the approval
process.
Individuals or organizations that are approved to conduct research, surveys or tests shall enter into a
written agreement with the District. Such written agreement shall:
1. Specify the purpose of the research, survey or test, set forth the scope and duration of the research,

survey or test and shall identify all personally identifiable information from student records that
will be disclosed for the purpose of conducting the research, survey or test;

2. Specifically limit the use of any personally identifiable information from student records only for
the purposes of the research, survey or test;

3. Require the individual or organization to conduct the research, survey or test in a manner that does
not disclose the personal identification of any student or parent to any persons unless such person or
persons has a legitimate need to know such information;

4. Require the individual or organization conducting the research, survey or test to maintain the
confidentiality of all personally identifiable information from student records during all stages of
the research, survey or test, by using appropriate disclosure avoidance techniques; and

5. Require the individual or organization conducting the research, survey or test to destroy any and all
records that contain personally identifiable information within 30 days after the final results of the
research, survey or test have been submitted to the District.

V. VI. Results of research studies, surveys or tests that involve students, staff, or facilities must be sent to
Educational Services (Office of Assessment, Research, and Evaluation) upon completion of the
research. the Planning, Evaluation, and Information Services department as soon as possible.

VI. VII. Part of the decision-making process for approval will take into account the sub-population to be
researched, the required involvement of Millard Public School staff and the degree to which the project
may impact instructional time.

Related Policies & Rules: 6900

Rule Approved: April 20, 1992 Millard Public Schools
Revised: September 13, 1999; December 4, 2006; June 4, 2012 Omaha, NE

171



 -1- 

AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
 
AGENDA ITEM:  Rule 7305.1 – Web and Social Media Publishing 
 
 
MEETING DATE:  May 21, 2012  
 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Technology Division 
 
 
TITLE AND  
BRIEF DESCRIPTION: Rule 7305.1 – Web and Social Media Publishing 
 
ACTION DESIRED: Approval  X  
 
 
BACKGROUND: This Rule accompanies the revisions to Policy 7305, including 

guidelines for using approved social media sites for 
communication with parents, community and appropriate students. 

 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: Approve Rule 7305.1 – Web and Social Media Publishing 
 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:     N/A 
 
 
TIMELINE:  Immediate 
 
 
RESPONSIBLE PERSON(S):  Victoria L. Hoskovec, Dr. James Sutfin, Dr. Mark Feldhausen  
 
 
SUPERINTENDENT’S APPROVAL:    ______________________                                                    
       (Signature) 
 
BOARD ACTION: 
 

172



Technology 
 
Web and Social Media Publishing 7305.1 
 
I. Definitions. 
 

A. Social Media - electronic communication systems, including web logs (blogs), internet chat rooms or 
bulletin boards, learning management systems, websites, e-mail, and cellular and/or mobile device 
applications, whose primary purpose is to provide a multi-directional communication venue for the 
user and others.   
 

B. Approved Social Media Site - All social media sites must be approved by the Executive Director of 
Technology for technical requirements and compliance issues. In addition, approved social media sites 
must have been reviewed and approved by the Director of and/or have been approved by the Associate 
Superintendent for Educational Services for use in student learning activities and teacher-parent-
student communications about learning. Examples of approved social media sites include, but are not 
limited to, ANGEL/myelearning, SchoolMail365, GroupWise, Facebook, and Twitter. 

 
C. Professional Responsibility - Web and social media publishing begins with the active, current use of 

District web site and/or the District-provided learning management system (LMS), in conjunction with 
District provided e-mail systems, to facilitate communication and instruction. The employee may use 
approved supplementary social media sites to support communication and/or instruction. Professional 
responsibility occurs when there is the presentation of oneself as a representative of the District or 
employee thereof whose activities are job related and is subject to the District’s policies, rules, 
procedures, and guidelines. 

 
D. Personal Responsibility - the presentation of oneself in a manner that is outside professional 

responsibility in all comments, postings, etc. Personal responsibility encompasses that which is not job 
related. 

 
 
II.  I. Accountability. 
 

A. District employees who utilize web or social media sites in pursuit of their professional responsibilities 
are subject to the District’s Code of Ethics (Policy 4155 and Rule 4155.1). 
 

B.   A. Each staff member who creates a web page or any part of a web page or supervises the creation of 
a web page or uses an approved social media site or any part of an approved social media site or 
supervises the creation of an approved social media site is responsible for the content and must inform 
the Superintendent/designee or Principal/designee of the existence and the intent/purpose of the page 
prior to such web site or approved social media site being accessible on the World Wide Web.  This 
includes student-produced web and social media content. 

 
C.   B. Each web page or approved social media author or contributing web page and approved social 

media site author shall assume personal responsibility for the information being current, accurate 
(including having correct spelling and grammar), and adhering to dDistrict policies and rules.  This 
includes students who author or contribute to the creation of a web page or approved social media site. 

 
D.   C. All dDistrict or building web and approved social media sites shall have a staff member who shall 

monitor and be responsible for approving the content of the information, which is accessible on each 
web and approved social media site.  

 
E.   D. The content of the information shall be in compliance with the Millard Public Schools District’s 

policy/ policies and rules including, but not limited to, the rules for Journalism: Prohibited Expressions 
(6605.1) and Internet Safety Filtering (7310.1). standards, criteria, and limitations of District Policies 
and Rules 1115.1(I), 1306.1, 3150.1, 4001, 4145.1, 4155.1, 4156.1, 5010, 5020, 5300.3, 5400.6, 
5510.1(I), 5800.1, 6002, 6265, 6605.1(I), 7100.1, and 7310.1, which are incorporated herein. 

 

173



F.   E. Guidelines for web pages and the use of approved social media sites shall be established by the 
Superintendent or designee and shall be published in the District’s Technology User’s Manual. 

 
 
III. Professional Responsibility and Personal Responsibility 

 
A. Professional Responsibility. 
 When using District web and/or approved social media sites, staff may not engage in the following: 
 

1. Simultaneously identify oneself as a District employee and send, solicit, or display materials that 
are offensive, including sexually oriented material, graphic depictions of violence, or material that 
offends or harasses on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, gender, marital status, 
disability, or age. 
 

2. Unprofessional communication that could negatively impact the District’s reputation or interfere 
with the District’s core mission, or unprofessional/inappropriate communication regarding 
members of the District’s community. 
 

3. Acting as a representative of the District or acting in a way that would infer that one is a District 
representative or acting for and on behalf of the District when not authorized to do so (e.g., 
contacting the media or government officials with District e-mail, responding to complaints or 
questions about District business on internet discussion groups, etc.). 
 

4. Sending, receiving, printing or otherwise disseminating proprietary data, trade secrets or other 
confidential information in violation of District policy, proprietary agreements or other contractual 
terms.  Using District-owned data or work product for personal gain.  Using District trademarks 
(name, logos), or branding without authorization from the Office of Communications. 
 

5. Inappropriately sharing confidential information related to District business, including but not 
limited to, personnel actions, internal investigations, research material, or student information.   

 
6. Any activity in violation of local, state, or federal law as it relates to the staff member’s 

employment with the District, including, but not limited to, defamatory remarks; destruction of 
District data or equipment; or accessing or sharing information in violation of HIPAA, FERPA, 
CIPA, or COPPA.  This includes any activity that would cause the District to not be in compliance 
with state or federal law. 
 

7. Any activity in violation of District policies and rules, including, but not limited to the standards, 
criteria, and limitations of District Policies and Rules 1115.1(I), 1306.1, 3150.1, 4001, 4145.1, 
4155.1, 4156.1, 5010, 5020, 5300.3, 5400.6, 5510.1(I), 5800.1, 6002, 6265, 6605.1(I), 7100.1, and 
7310.1, which are incorporated herein. 

 
B. Personal Responsibility. 
 When using non-District web sites and/or personal social media sites outside of the duties as a staff 

member of the District, staff should consider the following: 
 

1. For certificated staff, the District’s Code of Ethics and the State Standards of Professional Practice 
are applicable. 
 

2. District staff are responsible for all matters which they post or publish. 
 

3. All matters which may be posted or published, including photographs, should reflect high 
standards of professionalism and professional discretion, and should not negatively or adversely 
impact relations with students, parents, other staff, or the community. 
 

4. Staff should not “friend” students or parents on their personal Facebook pages until the student has 
been graduated from the District for at least one year. 

 
 

174



IV.  II.. Privacy. 
 

A. All reasonable steps shall be taken to insure that the use of the Internet or World Wide Web and 
approved social media sites shall not abridge the right of privacy of students or staff as provided by 
law, including but not limited to the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA), HIPAA, 
CIPA, and COPPA. 
 

B. Parent permission shall be obtained prior to publishing photographs of students when the students are 
identified by first and/or last names except where such photograph is contained in other official 
dDistrict press or media releases and dDistrict or school publications such as a school newsletter, 
school annual, or school newspaper. 
 

C. Group and individual photographs may be published without permission if names are not used. 
 

D. Student Directory Information (as described below) may be made available on Millard School District 
web pages in compliance with the District’s policy policies and Rrules.  Directory information 
appropriate for the web includes the following: 
 
1. First and last name (without photographs unless parent permission is obtained as stated above); 

 
2. Current grade level; 

 
3. Participation in officially recognized activities and sports; 

 
4. Weight and height of members of athletic teams; 

 
5. Degrees and awards received; and 

 
6. Photographs (without first and last names unless parent permission is obtained as stated above). 

 
 
V.   III. Project PAYBAC® Partners, PTO/PTA Organizations, and Booster Clubs. 
 

A. Project PAYBAC® partners, PTO/PTA organizations, and Booster Clubs may be identified as 
supporters of the Millard Public School District. 
 

B. There shall be no web links to commercial web sites that are of a promotional nature except as 
approved by the Superintendent or designee. 
 

C. District or building web sites may contain links to governmental agencies, dDistrict affiliated 
organizations, which were organized and exist for the sole purpose of supporting the District’s 
educational and extracurricular programs, other educational institutions, public libraries, and public 
museums. 

 
 

VI.   IV. Fundraising Activities. 
 

A. Information about school-related fundraising activities can be published including information about 
the product, the name of the sponsor and/or telephone number. 
 

B. There shall be no on-line purchasing and such use of the District’s computers is strictly prohibited 
unless authorized by the Superintendent or designee. 
 

C. District and building web sites shall not facilitate online purchasing unless authorized by the 
Superintendent or designee. 

 
 

175



VII.  V. Interactive Use. 
 

A. District e-mail addresses of Millard staff and Board members are allowed to be published. 
 

B. When District e-mail addresses are published, the following disclaimer should appear on that page: 
“These e-mail addresses are for use by staff, students, and parents relating to school business only.  
Solicitation is prohibited.” 
 

C. Individual student’s e-mail addresses may be disseminated but must be protected by a unique password 
for each student on servers as identified in Section VI. 

 
 
VIII.  VI.   Where Information Resides. 
 

A. All digital information web sites shall be accessible to the World Wide Web on dDistrict-controlled 
servers under the dDistrict domain name or on servers approved by the Superintendent or designee. 
 

B. All dDistrict policy/ policies and rules apply regardless of where the web sites reside. 
 
 
IX. Not an Open or Public Forum. 
 

A. The District does not by this Rule create or establish an open or public forum and reserves the sole and 
absolute right to determine the acceptable District web and approved social media sites. 
 

B. The District reserves the right to monitor, review, and audit the use of District web and approved social 
media sites.  The district further reserves the right to search District web and approved social media 
sites as part of any investigation into unauthorized use or prohibited or illegal conduct. 

 
 
X. Violations.   

Violation of this Rule may result in disciplinary action. 
 
 
 
Related Policies and Rules:  1115, 1306.1, 4157, 4157.1, 4157.2, 4157.3, 5510.1, 5710, 5800.1, 5800.3, 6605.1, 

7100, 7100.1, 7100.2, 7100.3, 7305, 7310, 7310.1 
 
Rule Adopted:  July 17, 2000   Millard Public Schools 
Revised:  September 10, 2001; May 2, 2005; October 6, 2008; May 21, 2012 Omaha, Nebraska 
 
Renumbered from 1102.1: May 2, 2005 

176



            Enclosure  
May 21, 2012 

 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM: Advertisement Displays Placed at the High School Gymnasiums by 

ScoreTables by Design; Advertisements Sold for Displays at the High 
School Gymnasiums by ScoreTables by Design 

 
MEETING DATE:  Monday, May 21, 2012 
 
DEPARTMENTS: Athletics and Activities 
  
TITLE AND BRIEF DESCRIPTION:   Renewal of Contract for Electronic Advertisement 

Displays Placed in the High School Gymnasiums 
and Advertisements Sold for These Displays by 
ScoreTables by Design Shown during Events Held 
at the Gymnasiums during the 2012-2013, 2013-
2014, and 2014-2015 School Years.   

  
 
ACTION DESIRED:  Approval of Recommendation and Contract 
 
 
BACKGROUND: A recommendation from the high schools’ activities directors and 
District Director of Activities and Athletics that the Board of Education accept the 
renewed contract with ScoreTables by Design and that ScoreTables by Design be 
authorized to sell advertisements to be placed in the electronic displays at the three high 
schools.  

Millard Public Schools and ScoreTables by Design are currently in the last year of a four-
year contract for the advertisement displays in the high school gymnasiums as well as the 
sales of advertisements placed in these displays. There are several advantages to the 
current contract that are applicable to the Buell Stadium contract, if approved: 

 There is not an out-of-pocket cost to the District or its high schools for the 
installation and maintenance of the displays.  

 Millard high schools maintain final approval of any and all advertisement panels 
placed in the displays. 

 During the first three years of the current contract the high schools have received 
a total of $52,219 for their athletic and activities programs that is split equally 
between the high schools. 

177



 The cost of the displays, currently $21,750.00 per year for the six gymnasium 
displays, now is paid off; therefore, this money will be added to the revenue 
provided to the high schools. 

OPTIONS/ALTERNATIVE CONSIDERATIONS:   1) do not approve the 
proposed contract, thereby losing an additional source of revenue for high school athletic 
and activities programs 2) seek alternatives for additional sources of revenue, 3) another 
option for the potential of additional revenue. 

RECOMMENDATIONS:   It is recommended that the contract for the maintenance of 
electronic advertisement displays in the gymnasiums of Millard North High School, Millard 
South High School, and Millard West High School as well as the sales of advertisement panels 
for the electronic displays in the high school gymnasiums be awarded to ScoreTables by Design 
for the 2012-2013, 2013-2014, and 2014-2015 school years and that the Director of Activities 
and Athletics be authorized and directed to execute the contract as well as any and all other 
documents related to such contract. 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:   N/A 
 
IMPLICATIONS OF ADOPTION OR REJECTION:    This recommendation will 
ensure that we have one vendor in charge of all electronic advertisement panels sold for 
the electronic displays and that additional revenue will be available for high school 
extracurricular programs.  

TIME LINE:  The contract, if approved, is to take effect when signed by both parties. 
Anticipation of signing date: May 10, 2012. 
 
PERSONS RESPONSIBLE:   Craig Whaley, Director of Activities and Athletics 
  
 
 
SUPERINTENDENT’S APPROVAL:  ________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

178



ScoreTables by Design® 
Sports Marketing, Gymnasium & Stadium Advertising 

 
Contract 

 
It is agreed between Douglas County School District No. 17, which is more commonly known as 
the Millard School District (District) and ScoreTables by Design, L.L.C., to extend the 
advertising program, established by the contract executed December 7, 2007, pursuant to the 
following terms and conditions: 
 
1.  ScoreTables by Design will provide the following equipment on the terms of a $0 lease to the 
District: 
 
     Equipment:  Two (2) scroll advertising boards (either wall-mounted or score table   
     units) for each of the District’s three high school gymnasiums.  The dimensions of  
     each unit are three (3) feet by eight (8) feet, and each has up to 20 advertising panels. 
  
2.  Additional advertising products may be provided in the future by ScoreTables by Design as 
mutually agreed upon.  The parties will determine location and type of products at such time, and 
the terms for any new products shall be set forth in an Addendum to this Contract.   
 
3.  ScoreTables by Design will sell space on the scroll board primarily on yearly contracts to 
corporations, businesses and organizations (hereafter known as Advertisers), provided that no 
such contract shall extend beyond the term hereof as set forth in Paragraph 6 hereafter. 
 
4.  ScoreTables by Design will be responsible for administering the requirements of Advertisers, 
including (1) executing new and renewal agreements; (2) design, production, installation and 
maintenance of displays; and (3) billing and collections, as needed. 
 
5.  Advertisers shall be subject to approval by the District’s administration, consistent with the 
standards, criteria, and limitations of District Rules 1115.1(I) and 1340.1(II) which are 
incorporated herein.  The District does not by this Contract create or establish an open or public 
forum, and the District reserves the sole and absolute right to determine acceptable 
advertisements. 
 
6.  This is a three (3) -year Contract between the District and ScoreTables by Design, extending 
through the end of the 2014-15 school year with four (4) one (1) –year extensions if each such 
extension is mutually agreed to by both parties in writing, and subject to early termination in 
accordance with Paragraph 14 hereinafter. 
 
7.   ScoreTables by Design will make payments to the District’s Athletic Department (hereafter 
known as Athletic Department) as stipulated below:   
 
 
 
 

(Page 1 of 6) 

179



a) ScoreTables by Design shall pay to the Athletic Department an amount equal to fifty 
(50%) percent of the advertising revenue collected. 

 
b)  For each year of the Contract, ScoreTables by Design in advance of any payment   

to the Athletic Department shall retain $345.00 for each new advertising panel, as  
compensation for producing and installing panels on the equipment specified in  
Paragraph 1. 

 
8.  The advertising equipment specified in Paragraph 1 shall continue to be the property of 
ScoreTables by Design throughout the term of this Contract and any extension hereof.  
ScoreTables by Design shall install said advertising equipment at its own expense, and no 
electrical or structural changes or alterations in or to the facilities of the District shall be made 
without the consent of the District.  During the term and at no cost to the District, ScoreTables by 
Design shall repair, maintain, replace if necessary, and keep in working order said advertising 
equipment, and shall provide District personnel with training regarding the operation of said 
advertising equipment.  Said advertising equipment shall not be removed by the District without 
the written consent of ScoreTables by Design, and the District shall not encumber said 
advertising equipment or permit other equipment to be attached thereto except as authorized by 
ScoreTables by Design.  At the end of term or any extension thereof, or upon early termination 
as provided in Paragraph 14, ScoreTables by Design shall, upon request of the District, remove 
said advertising equipment at no expense to the District.  In the event the District so requests the 
removal of said advertising equipment and ScoreTables by Design fails or refuses to remove said 
advertising equipment within thirty (30) days, the District may remove or otherwise dispose of 
said advertising equipment and all costs incurred by the District shall be the responsibility of and 
reimbursed by ScoreTables by Design. 
 
9.  The District shall not be responsible for, and ScoreTables by Design shall assume all risk of 
any theft, damage, or destruction of the aforesaid advertising equipment and of any goods, 
merchandise, fixtures, equipment, or other property belonging to ScoreTables by Design or any 
person employed by or conducting business with ScoreTables by Design. 
 
10.  ScoreTables by Design shall provide to the District on a quarterly basis a written accounting 
for each calendar month, of all revenues collected from and owed by Advertisers pursuant to this 
Contract, and of all payments and distributions of such revenues to the District and to 
ScoreTables by Design pursuant to this Contract.  Score Tables by Design shall keep and 
maintain accurate and complete records related to this Contract, and ScoreTables by Design 
shall, upon reasonable notice, make all said  
records available to the District for examination.  Upon examination of said records, any 
deficiency in payments to the District shall be paid by ScoreTables by Design within thirty (30) 
days notice of such deficiency, plus reimbursement of all costs associated with such 
examination. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

(Page 2 of 6) 

180



11. ScoreTables by Design shall comply with all federal, state, or local laws, ordinances, and 
rules and regulations applicable to the installation and operation of the advertising equipment.  
Score Tables by Design agrees to procure and maintain, at its sole expense, all necessary permits 
and licenses for the installation and operation of said advertising equipment. 
 
12.  ScoreTables by Design shall, at its sole cost and expense and for the benefit of the District, 
obtain and maintain a General Commercial Liability insurance policy, which includes coverage 
for general liability, products liability, and property damage in an amount not less than One 
Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) for each claim and One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) for 
each occurrence during the term of this Contract and any extension thereof.  ScoreTables by 
Design will also keep in force and effect throughout the term workers’ compensation insurance 
to the extent required by law.  A certificate or certificates of insurance evidencing ScoreTables 
by Design’s insurance coverage and naming the District as an additional insured shall be 
delivered to the District upon execution of this Contract. 
 
13.   ScoreTables by Design shall indemnify and hold harmless the District and its Board of 
Education, officers, employees, and volunteers from suits, actions, losses, damages, claims, or 
liability of any character, type, or description including, but not limited to, all expenses of 
litigation, court costs, and penalties of any kind or nature arising directly or indirectly from the 
acts or omissions of ScoreTables by Design, its agents, servants, employees, contractors, and 
suppliers. 
 
14.  The District may terminate this Contract upon failure of ScoreTables by Design to remedy 
any non-performance after a written notice by the District and failure to cure the non-
performance within thirty (30) days after the date of the notice. 
 
15.  The parties are acting herein as independent contractors and independent employers.  
Nothing herein shall create or be construed as creating a partnership, joint venture, or agency 
relationship between any of the parties, and no party shall have the authority to bind the other in 
any respect.  ScoreTables by Design and any person employed by or conducting business for 
ScoreTables by Design with the District shall not be a partner, employee, agent, or joint venturer 
of the District.  The sole relationship of the parties  
hereto created by this Contract is that of vendor and vendee.  No goods or equipment  
shall be purchased in the name of the District by ScoreTables by Design or any person employed 
by or conducting business with ScoreTables by Design and nor shall any goods or equipment be 
purchased by the District in the name of ScoreTables by Design.  No debts, liabilities, 
obligations or contracts of whatever kind made or incurred by either of the parties hereto shall be 
in the name or upon the credit of the other party, and the other party shall not be liable or 
responsible therefore 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(Page 3 of 6) 

181



16.  The District shall not obtain by virtue of this Contract any right, title, or interest in the 
trademarks of ScoreTables by Design, nor shall this Contract give the District the right to use, 
refer to, or incorporate in marketing or other District business and operations, the name, logos, 
trademarks, or copyrights of ScoreTables by Design. ScoreTables by Design shall not obtain by 
virtue of this Contract any right title, or interest in the trademarks of the District, nor shall this 
Contract give ScoreTables by Design the right to use, refer to, or incorporate in marketing or 
other business and operations of ScoreTables by Design, the name, logos, trademarks, or trade 
names of the District or any of its schools, except as may otherwise be expressly granted in 
writing by the District.  Nothing herein shall create or be construed as creating in favor of 
ScoreTables by Design any exclusive advertising rights or any other exclusive rights. 
 
17.  This Contract shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of 
Nebraska. 
 
18.  This document is intended by the parties as the final and binding expression of their 
agreement and is a complete and exclusive statement of the terms thereof and supersedes all 
prior negotiations, representations, and agreements.  No representations, understandings, or 
agreements have been made or relied upon in the making of this Contract other than those 
specifically set forth herein.  No modifications or waiver of any of the terms and conditions of 
this Contract shall be effective unless such modifications or waiver is expressed in writing and 
signed by each of the parties.  No course of prior dealings between the parties and no use or trade 
customs shall be relevant or admissible to supplement, explain, or vary the terms of this 
Contract, whether the same be consistent with the terms of this Contract or otherwise. 
 
19.  To the extent permitted by law, this Contract shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit 
of ScoreTables by Design and the District and their respective successors and permitted assigns.  
Neither party may subcontract or assign its rights or obligations under this Contract to any other 
entity or person without the expressed written consent of the other, which consent may be 
withheld at the other party’s sole discretion.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event of a 
sale of substantially all of its assets, ScoreTables by Design shall be entitled to assign its rights 
and obligations under this Contract.  No waiver by any party of any default or non-performance 
shall be deemed a waiver of any subsequent default or non-performance. 
 
20.  Any notices or other communications hereunder shall be in writing, shall be sent via 
registered or certified mail, and shall be deemed given when sent. 
 
21.  If any provision of this Contract shall be deemed or declared unenforceable, invalid, or void, 
the same shall not impair any of the other provisions contained herein, which shall continue to be 
enforceable in accordance with their respective terms, except that this clause shall not deprive 
any party of any remedy afforded under this Contract. 
 

 

 

(Page 4 of 6) 

182



22. Pursuant to Nebraska Revised Statute 4-114 ScoreTables by Design is required and hereby 
agrees to use a federal immigration verification system to determine the work eligibility status of 
new employees physically performing services within the State of Nebraska. A federal 
immigration verification system means the electronic verification of the work authorization 
program authorized by the Illegal Immigration Reform and Immigrant Responsibility Act of 
1996, 8 U.S.C. 1324a, known as the E-Verify Program, or an equivalent federal program 
designated by the United States Department of Homeland Security or other federal agency 
authorized to verify the work eligibility status of a newly hired employee. ScoreTables by 
Design is further required and hereby agrees to include this same provision in every contract 
with subcontractors which will be physically performing services within the State of Nebraska in 
conjunction with this Contract with the District. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

(Page 5 of 6) 

183



In agreement hereto, the parties sign this Contract as of the last date written below. 
 
 
ScoreTables by Design, L.L.C. 
 
By _________________________________   Date ____________________ 
      Scott Hale, Representative 
 
Address P.O. Box 7853, Urbandale, IA     50323 _____ 
 
Phone  515-967-5500      FAX   515-967-5522   
 
 
 
Douglas County School District No. 17 
 
 
By _________________________________    Date ____________________ 
 
 
Print Name   Craig T. Whaley     
 
 
Title   District Director of Athletics    
 
 
Address  5606 South 147th Street, Omaha, NE     68137   
 
 
Phone  402-715-8386      FAX   402-715-8409  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

(Page 6 of 6) 

184



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
 

AGENDA ITEM: Response to Instruction and Intervention Model (RtI+I)  
 
MEETING DATE: May 21, 2012 
 
DEPARTMENT: Educational Services  
 
TITLE AND  
BRIEF DESCRIPTION: Response to Instruction and Intervention Model (RtI+I) 
 
ACTION DESIRED: Approval 
 
BACKGROUND: The Millard Public Schools Board of Education approved the original Response to 

Instruction and Intervention Model (RtI+I) on June 15, 2009.  Since the time of 
implementation, a continued focus on staff development, refinement of the 
process and procedures, selection of intervention materials and resources, and 
more focused discussions on individual student needs through Professional 
Learning Communities, Data Review Teams, and the RtI+I Committee, change 
has occurred.  As a result of continued collaboration between district and building 
administrators, District Level Leaders, school psychologists, and teachers and 
through continued implementation and growth, a revised model recommended for 
approval. Major changes to the model include: 

 
 Adjusted the state section to reflect the changes at the state level. 
 Revised the MPS RtI+I Model to be inclusive and no longer have a separate 

Special Education layer. 
 Adjusted District and Building Roles to be consistent with new processes and 

procedures. 
 Adjusted the Problem Solving Process description to reflect the creation of a 

plan including a goal and determination of a method for progress monitoring. 
 Revised the RtI+I Problem Solving Process Chart to be consistent with new 

processes and procedures. 
 Add the RtI+I Tiered Problem Solving Process Flowchart to assist building 

teams in understanding the flow of the process.   
 Removed references and forms related to Millard Intervention Team (MIT) as 

the MIT process has been embedded and adjusted within the RtI+I Model; 
thus, no longer exists. 

 Moved the Glossary of Terms to the Appendix section, which is not part of 
the BOE approved document due to Appendix containing procedural 
information. 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS: Approve proposed RtI+I Model  
 
STRATEGIC PLAN  
REFERENCE:      Strategy 4, Action Plan 8 
 
TIMELINE: Continued implementation and staff development will occur 
 
RESPONSIBLE    Dr. Mark Feldhausen, Andy DeFreece, Dr. Nancy Johnston, Charlene Snyder, 
PERSON(S):  and Dr. Tami Williams 
 
SUPERINTENDENT’S  
SIGNATURE:    ________________________________________________                                                   
 
BOARD ACTION: 
 
 

185



 
 
 

Millard Public Schools 
 
 

Response to  
Instruction and Intervention Model 

 
 

RtI+I Model 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

June 2009 May 2012 
 
 

 

186



Table of Contents 
  
Introduction         2 

 National Perspective       2 
 Nebraska State Suggested Reporting Requirement Response to   4 

Intervention (RtI) Framework    
 Millard Public Schools Response to Instruction and Intervention  8 7 

(RtI+I) Model 
 
RtI+I Model          11 10 

 District Approved Curriculum Model     12 11 
 Assessment        13 12 
 Effective Instructional Practices      14 13 
 Explicit and Systematic Instruction     14 13 
 Differentiated Instruction       15 14 
 District and Building Roles and Responsibilities    15 14 
 Parent Participation in RtI+I Process     17 
 Problem Solving Process       18 

o Problem Solving Process Description    19 
o RtI+I Problem Solving Chart    20 
o RtI+I Tiered Problem Solving Process Flowchart  21 

 Tier Comparisons of RtI+I Model     21 22 
 MIT Request for Assistance       24 
 

Glossary of Terms - Moving to Appendix      26 
 

Appendix          28 
 K-5 Tier I District Approved Classroom Instruction - Reading  28 
 K-5 Tier II Supplemental Targeted Intervention - Reading  29 
 K-5 Tier III Intensive Targeted Intervention Reading   30 
 6-8 Tier I District Approved Classroom Instruction - LA  31 
 6-8 Tier II Supplemental Targeted Intervention - LA   32 
 6-8 Tier III Intensive Targeted Intervention - LA   33 
 Elementary Literacy Intervention      34 
 Elementary Literacy Assessments     35 
 Elementary Literacy Assessment Record Forms    36 
 Considerations for Literacy Intervention Assessments 6-8  42 
 K-5 Literacy – Questions to Guide Instructional Decisions  44 
 Grade 6-8 Literacy – Questions to Guide Instructional Decisions 64  

 
 

 
 
 

187



2 
 

Introduction 
 

National Perspective 
 

On December 3, 2004, Congress reauthorized the Individuals with Disabilities Education 
Improvement Act (IDEA 2004).  The language that Congress uses in IDEA 2004 and No Child 
Left Behind (NCLB 2001) stresses the use of professionally sound interventions and instruction 
based on defensible research, as well as the delivery of effective academic and behavior 
programs to improve student performance. Congress believes that as a result, fewer children will 
require special education services.  Provisions of IDEA 2004 allow school Districts to use 
scientific, research-based interventions as an alternative method for identifying students with 
specific learning disabilities (SLD).  This process is generally referred to as Response to 
Intervention (RTI). 
 
The National Research Center on Learning Disabilities (NRCLD, 2006) defines RTI as: 
 

“…an assessment and intervention process for systematically monitoring student 
progress and making decisions about the need for instructional modifications or 
increasingly intensified services using progress monitoring data.” 

 
RtI is an integrated approach to service delivery that encompasses general, intervention and 
special education through a multi-tiered service delivery model.  It utilizes a Problem Solving 
framework to identify and address academic and behavioral difficulties for all students using 
scientific, research-based instruction.  Essentially, RtI is the practice of: (a) providing high-
quality instruction/intervention matched to all students’ needs and (b) using learning rate over 
time and level of performance to (c) make important educational decisions to guide instruction 
(National Association of State Directors of Special Education, 2005).  RtI practices are 
proactive, incorporating both prevention and intervention and is effective at all levels from early 
childhood through high school.   
 
RtI is intended to reduce the incidence of “instructional casualties” by ensuring that students are 
provided high quality instruction with fidelity.  By using RtI, districts can provide interventions 
to students as soon as a need arises.  This is very different, for example, from the methods 
associated with the aptitude-achievement discrepancy models traditionally utilized for SLD 
identification which have been criticized as a “wait to fail” approach.   
 
What is the Purpose of Response to Intervention? 
Response to Intervention is a practice of providing high-quality, scientifically validated 
instruction and interventions matched to student need, monitoring progress frequently to make 
decisions about changes in instruction or goals and applying child response data to important 
educational decisions.  RtI is a dynamic Problem Solving process in which data are integral in 
making decisions about what skills struggling students lack, and whether intervention instruction 
provided to date has been effective.  There are four fundamental beliefs: 

 Preventive action is better than the wait-to-fail approach. 
 Early intervention is more effective than later remediation. 
 Universal screening helps prevent students from falling through the cracks. 
 Tiers of instruction are available to meet the needs of all students. 

188



3 
 

 
There are Eight Core Principles of Response to Intervention 

1. We can effectively teach all children. 
2. Intervene early. 
3. Use a multi-tier model of service delivery. 
4. Use a Problem Solving model to make decisions within a multi-tier model 
5. Use scientific, research-based validated intervention and instruction to the extent 

available. 
6. Monitor student progress to inform instruction. 
7. Use data to make decisions. A data-based decision regarding student response to 

intervention is central to RtI practices. 
8. Use assessment for screening, diagnostics, and progress monitoring. 

 
*National Association of State Directors of Special Education, Response to Intervention: Policy 
Considerations and Implementation, 2006. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

189



4 
 

Nebraska State Suggested Reporting Requirement Response to Intervention (RtI) 
Framework 
 
Nebraska Essential Elements of Response to Intervention Reporting Requirements: 
*Nebraska RtI Consortium Executive Committee – March 2009 
 
The Nebraska RtI Consortium Executive Committee developed the following suggested 
requirements essential elements to assist Nebraska school districts as they begin designing and 
implement Response to Intervention models.  These guidelines were printed in March 2009 and 
were only suggestions and not meant to be implemented as stated.  The current  essential 
elements below were taken from the NDE website at 
www.education.ne.gov/RTI/rtiframework.html on April 24, 2012.   

When implemented with fidelity, the Essential Elements of RtI provide a framework for 
prevention, early intervention, school improvement and valid data for eligibility decisions.  The 
Essential Elements for RtI are based on principles identified in research for an effective RtI 
system and provide the overarching framework to guide the implementation of RtI.   

The Essential Elements are described below: 

Team Leadership – For effective RTI implementation, districts/schools should have teams that 
provide leadership in coordinating assessments, instructional modifications and intervention 
implementation, and data analysis and decision making at the district and/or school, grade, and 
individual student levels.   

 The District Leadership Team is organized around schools within a District.  The primary 
responsibility is to establish leadership, assist schools in implementing RtI, and ensure 
consistency and fidelity to the RtI model.   

 The Building Leadership team plans and guides building-wide implementation and 
sustainability of RtI.  The Building Leadership Team should: 

o Meet on a regular basis and review school-wide data, 
o Examine the research base of current/future core and intervention programs used 

in the school in collaboration with the district, 
o Monitor implementation of the school-wide plan and make adjustments as 

necessary based on the data, 
o Promote participants in the RtI process through communication with the entire 

school community, 
o Have the authority to make data-based decisions, and to allocate resources, 
o Participate in professional development that pertains to RtI. 

 Tier 2 Teams review universal screening data, follow a progress monitoring plan and 
implement the intervention delivery plan.   

 Individual Problem Solving Team (Tier 3 Team) uses collaborative Problem Solving to: 
(a) plan and evaluate more individualized interventions, (b) monitor student progress, (c) 
adjust interventions based on student performance data, and (d) guide data-based decision 
making about student responsiveness to intervention and instructional decisions. 
 

190



5 
 

Within an RtI model, district and school-based teams provide leadership in assessment 
coordination, instructional modifications and intervention selection/implementation, and data 
analysis and decision making at the district, school, grade, and individual student levels.  Teams 
may provide guidance in the implementation of the entire RtI process or may focus on specific 
components (e.g., school wide data collection, Problem Solving at the individual student level).   
 
Examples of team activities include but are not limited to:  

(a)  reviewing school-wide data,  
(b)  examining the research base of current or future core and intervention programs used in 

the school,  
(c)  attending and providing professional development that pertains to RtI, 
(d)  collecting progress monitoring data on students receiving interventions, and  
(e)  adjusting student interventions based on data.   

 
RtI leadership team members are chosen based on their role in the school and the knowledge and 
expertise they bring to the team.  Participants may include parents, classroom teachers, special 
educators, content experts, school psychologists, and those with other specialized experience.  
An administrator is also included to facilitate school wide ownership and support of the RtI 
process and resource allocation. 

 
Parent Involvement – Parents are informed and involved in their children’s educational process.  
As intensity of intervention increases, parent involvement increases. 

 Informing parents – newsletters describing the RtI process; notified that their child has 
qualified for intervention; form letters are sent to parents describing students’ 
participation in Tier 2 interventions; procedures have been established for parent 
permission, notification, and rights to due process when appropriate; and progress reports 
are provided to parents on a regular basis. 

 Involving parents – parents are part of district and/or school teams; parent schedules are 
taken into account in planning meetings; parents are critical members of Problem Solving 
team for their child; parents are included in decision making meetings regarding their 
child’s progress; and home intervention components to be carried out by the parent are 
designed when appropriate. 

 
Within an RtI model, parents are informed and involved.  Parents are provided with information 
about the RTI process, their child's eligibility for and involvement in intervention(s), and their 
child's academic progress (e.g., data reports).  Procedures for obtaining parent permission, 
notifying parents, and explaining rights to due process are also included when appropriate.  
Information may be provided to parents through a variety of mechanisms, including newsletters, 
form letters, reports, and face-to-face meetings.  Parents may be involved in several aspects of 
the educational process, including participation in the district and/or school-wide team(s), 
planning meetings, Problem Solving teams, and progress-monitoring or decision-making 
meetings regarding their children.  School personnel develop a plan for informing and involving 
parents at each tier or level of support and consider parents' availability when scheduling 
meetings. 
 

191



6 
 

Scientifically or Research Based Core Instruction and Intervention – 
Instructional/intervention at all levels of intensity is scientifically based (based on rigorous 
research) in content covered (e.g., in reading this includes the Big Ideas found in research and 
outlined by the National Reading Panel: phonemic awareness, alphabet principle, fluency, 
comprehension, and vocabulary) and methods used (e.g., modeling affording multiple 
opportunities for active student responding and guided practice, providing corrective feedback). 
Appropriate instructional materials provide systematic scope and sequence that include clear 
guidelines about which skills are taught and the order in which they are introduced.  Regardless 
of the level of intensity, scientifically-based instruction/intervention provides for differentiation 
based on student level of need (e.g., differentiation for those above grade level, on grade level, 
slightly below grade level, significantly below grade level, English language learners, etc.).  The 
scientifically-based instruction/intervention should be appropriate for a system whereby it can be 
implemented based on the collection of student data and the application of clearly-specified 
decision rules guiding its implementation. 
 
Examination of all instructional materials is completed by the district team to determine 
scientific research basis.  Tools used in examining core program materials might include: 

 Consumer’s Guide for Core and Supplements and Interventions 
 FCRR Guidelines for Selecting Core Programs: Questions to Ask When Reviewing 

Research 
 Using Research and Reason in Education:  How Teachers Can Use Scientifically Based 

Research to Make Curricular and Instructional Decisions 
 Identifying and Implementing Educational Practices Supported by Rigorous Evidence:  A 

User Friendly Guide 
 What is Scientifically Based Research? 

 
Instruction and intervention at all levels of intensity (Tiers 1, 2, and 3) within an RtI model is 
scientifically-based, or based on rigorous research in content covered and methods used.  For 
example, in the area of reading, the content of scientifically-based instruction and intervention 
programs includes the "Big Ideas" found in research and outlined by the National Reading Panel: 
phonemic awareness, alphabetic principle, fluency, comprehension, and vocabulary.   
 
Scientifically-based instructional methods for all content areas include modeling, providing 
multiple opportunities for active student responding and guided practice, and providing 
corrective feedback.  Appropriate scientifically-based instructional materials at all levels of 
intensity provide a systematic scope and sequence that includes clear guidelines about which 
skills are taught and the order in which content are introduced.  These materials can be used to 
differentiate instruction based on the level of student need (i.e., to support students, including 
English language learners, who are performing above grade level, at grade level, slightly below 
grade level, significantly below grade level, etc.).  The scientifically-based instruction and 
intervention materials employed are appropriate for a system that uses student data and clearly-
specified decision rules to guide implementation. 
 
Universal Screening Assessment – The universal screening assessment possess the following 
characteristics: 

192



7 
 

 The assessments are valid and reliable for the purpose of screening (e.g., DIBELS, 
AIMSweb). 

 The assessments are efficient without significantly compromising precision. 
 

To ensure quality screening practices; 
 Teams have reviewed the technical manual to ensure reports of adequate reliability and 

validity data and appropriateness for use with diverse samples. 
 Data are collected for all students. 
 Screening is conducted several times a year and each data collection period is during a 2-

week window. 
 Professional development on the administration and scoring of the assessment measures 

and on the use of the assessment data for decision making has been completed by all 
school staff involved in assessing students and using screening data. 

 Ongoing reliability checks are conducted to ensure accurate data are collected for 
decision making. 

 Teachers routinely meet to review and analyze data and make instructional changes. 
 
Universal screening assessments are used to assess the performance of all students in a particular 
skill area(s) and are valid and reliable for the purpose of screening.  Screening involves 
collecting data for all students several times a year during a specified period of time (e.g., within 
a two-week window).  School personnel review assessment technical manuals prior to 
administering screening assessments to verify reports of adequate reliability and validity and 
appropriateness for use with diverse samples.  In addition, they conduct ongoing reliability 
checks to ensure accurate data are collected for decision making.  School personnel also 
participate in professional development on the administration and scoring of assessment 
measures and the use of assessment data for decision making.  Routine teacher meetings (e.g., 
meetings after each screening assessment period) are conducted to review and analyze data and 
to make instructional changes. 
 
Individual Progress Monitoring – The progress monitoring assessments possess the following 
characteristics: 

 The assessments yield data that come from objective, reliable, valid, and sensitive 
measurements of student progress. 

 There are a sufficient number of assessment forms/probes at each grade level to allow for 
weekly assessment without duplication of the same form/probe. 
 

To ensure quality progress monitoring practices: 
 The assessments are administered on a weekly basis. 
 Professional development on the administration and scoring of the assessment measures 

and use of assessment data for decision making has been completed by all school staff 
involved in assessing students and using progress monitoring data. 

 Ongoing reliability checks have been conducted to ensure accurate data are being 
collected for decision making 

 Clearly specified quantitative/graphable goals for progress are established before 
intervention. 

 An electronic database is used to manage and document student data. 

193



8 
 

 An individual progress monitoring graph is created for each student receiving Tier 2 or 
Tier 3 intervention.  Graphs include sufficient baseline data, a total of at least 7 data 
points, an aim line, a goal line, and phase change lines.  Graphs are updated and regularly 
shared with appropriate stakeholders. 

 Students are assessed a minimum of 7 times prior to making any determination about the 
effectiveness of each intervention. 
 

Individual progress is monitored for students who are identified for intervention within an RtI 
model.  Objective, reliable, valid, and sensitive measures are used in this process.  Multiple 
assessment forms or probes are used at each grade level, allowing regular assessment without 
duplication of probes.  Assessments are administered on a regular basis (e.g., weekly); student 
progress is graphed for each student receiving intervention; and clearly specified, quantitative 
progress goals are set prior to intervention to inform decision making.  To facilitate the decision 
making process, graphs include visual displays of baseline data, a pre-determined number of data 
points, an aim line, a goal line, and phase change lines.  Individual districts or schools establish 
guidelines regarding the number of progress-monitoring data points (e.g., 7 data points) 
necessary to determine students' response to intervention(s).  An electronic database may be used 
to manage and document student data and to facilitate ongoing reliability checks to ensure 
accurate data are collected for decision making.  Professional development on the administration 
and scoring of assessment measures and the use of assessment data for decision making is 
provided to school personnel.   
 
Planned Service Delivery Decision Rules – Decision rules for multi-tiered intervention 
selection and responsiveness to intervention are established before RtI is used.  Clear guidelines 
are established for determining student movement between and within tiers.  Decision rules 
provide guidance for the evaluation of student performance based on individual goals and 
changes in student performance over time as determined by progress monitoring assessments. 
 
A written decision rule outline includes: 

 How data are validated, 
 Which data are used for decision making, and 
 Criteria for making instructional/intervention decisions at each tier of support. 

 
Decision rules provide instructional guidance within an RtI model based on individual student 
goals and changes in student performance (i.e., rate, level, consistency) over time as determined 
by progress monitoring assessments.  Decision rules for intervention selection and modification, 
movement between tiers of service, and responsiveness to intervention are established before 
RTI is used.  Decision rules typically include information regarding how data are validated, 
which data are used for educational decision making, and criteria for making instructional and 
intervention decisions at each tier of support. 
 
Intervention Delivery – Skilled, certified personnel deliver or supervise quality interventions.  
Those delivering interventions are adequately trained on the intervention being delivered.  
Interventions are conducted for a minimum of 14 weeks and 56 sessions with at least one 
substantive change in intervention prior to being identified as inadequately responding to 
intervention.  Sessions are at least 30 minutes in length.  Substantive changes are made based on 

194



9 
 

a sufficient amount of time and data (e.g., two 7-week periods with weekly data collection and a 
minimum of 28 intervention sessions).  Based on student response to intervention, the need for 
an increase of decrease in support is determined by the building leadership team. 
 
Intervention delivery is conducted in addition to the provision of core instruction, and involves: 

 Appropriately applying scientifically-based interventions 
 Selecting interventions on basis of student needs identified diagnostically, and 
 Increasing intervention intensity when students are less responsive. 

 
Within an RtI model, scientifically-based interventions are provided in addition to core 
instruction.  Skilled, certified personnel deliver or supervise the delivery of scientifically-based 
interventions.  Personnel delivering interventions are trained on both the specific intervention 
being delivered and on effective instructional methods such as modeling, and providing multiple 
opportunities for active student responding, guided practice, and corrective feedback.   
 
Interventions are selected and modified by RtI leadership teams based on students' needs 
identified using data from diagnostic and progress monitoring assessments.  Leadership teams 
establish minimum standards for the intervention duration and the amount of data collected 
before determining whether a student is responding or not responding to intervention and before 
making substantive intervention changes.  Intervention intensity increases when students are less 
responsive. 
 
Fidelity of Instruction – An adherence plan is in place for core instruction, supplemental 
programs, and interventions.  Teachers participate in the development of this plan and the plan is 
shared with all teachers.  The plan supports successful implementation of instruction across tiers 
of instruction/intervention, and is not used for teacher evaluation.  As outlined in the plan, 
fidelity checklists and adherence protocols are used and the fidelity of implementation is 
assessed on a regular basis by an impartial professional familiar with the 
instructional/intervention programs.  This is intended to prevent drift in the intervention plan, 
and to ensure that the high quality of instruction is maintained.  As the intensity of interventions 
increases, adherence checks are made more frequently.  
 
Scientifically-based instruction and intervention at all levels of intensity (Tiers 1, 2, and 3) 
within an RtI model is delivered with fidelity (as intended by the program developers).  To 
support high quality instruction and prevent drift in the intervention plan, an adherence plan is 
developed for core instruction, supplemental programs, and interventions.  The RtI leadership 
team, including teachers, participates in the development of this plan, and the plan is not used for 
teacher evaluation.  As part of the adherence plan, an impartial professional who is familiar with 
the instruction and intervention programs regularly observes instruction and intervention delivery 
using fidelity checklists and adherence protocols and provides feedback to the interventionists.  
Adherence checks are made more frequently as the intensity of interventions increases. 
 
 
 
 
 

195



10 
 

Millard Public Schools Response to Instruction and Intervention (RtI+I) Model 
 
The Millard Public Schools Response to Instruction + Intervention (RtI+I) Model is based on an 
instructional staff that is knowledgeable, including skilled teachers who use a systematic and 
explicit approach to instruction.  While most models use the title of Response to Intervention 
(RtI), our RtI+I model begins with the regular classroom teacher’s instruction (I), then adds  (+) 
the intervention (I) teacher’s instruction through a collaborative planning process. 
 
The model also emphasizes the importance of the building principal as the instructional leader, 
the use of data to guide instruction, appropriate intervention and practice, parent involvement, 
and other research-based practices.  The model provides Millard educators with a process for 
delivering quality, research-based instruction using the District’s Approved Curricula.  The 
model provides a foundation for reducing the prevalence of struggling learners by creating a 
seamless K-12 instructional system aligning with federal and state legislative requirements.   
 
The RtI+I Model is a systematic, data-driven approach to instruction that utilizes all resources 
within a school and the District in a collaborative manner to create a single, well-integrated 
system of instruction and interventions informed by student data.  The model focuses on the 
individual student and provides a vehicle to strengthen performance for struggling students 
before educational problems increase in intensity and special education seems the only viable 
option.  Leadership is critical to the implementation of RtI+I.  To be effective, RtI+I must 
harness and coordinate the full resources of the school, District, and community.  Administrators 
and their leadership teams, in collaboration with all teachers, have central roles in the planning, 
implementation, and successful day to day use of the RtI+I approach.  Analyzing how students 
respond to instruction and implementing the model, promotes collaboration and shared 
responsibility for the learning of all students across all personnel and programs located in any 
given school.  Throughout the process decisions are based on a child’s response to scientific, 
research-based instruction and intervention. 
 
The Millard Public Schools RtI+I is a 3-Tier Model that provides a process for delivering 
comprehensive, quality instruction to all students, from preschool through high school.  The 
model is designed to provide research-based instruction and targeted intervention that leads to 
successful academic achievement.  The model consists of three tiers of instruction: Tier I, Tier II, 
and Tier III. 
 
Tier I:  District Approved Classroom Instruction 
Tier I focuses on providing effective classroom instruction for all students. All students receive 
high quality scientific, research-based instruction from general education teachers in the District 
approved curriculum.  The District approved curriculum provides the foundation for instruction 
upon which all strategic and intensive interventions are formulated.  While Tier I instruction 
occurs in the general education setting, it is not necessarily grade level instruction.  Instruction 
at Tier I includes all developmental domains such as behavioral and social development along 
with instruction in academic content areas.  Tier I instruction must be both differentiated and 
culturally responsive to serve approximately 80100% of the student body and is effective for the 
vast majority of students which research indicates 80-85% of the student body will be successful 
within Tier I.  At this phase, general education teachers match students’ prerequisite skills with 

196



11 
 

course content to create an appropriate instructional match and use evidence-based instructional 
strategies with fidelity.   
 
Tier II:  Supplemental Targeted Instruction 
Tier II provides supplemental targeted instruction in addition to Tier I and addresses the specific 
needs of students who do not make adequate progress in Tier I.  Tier II interventions should be 
targeted, scientifically based, and aligned with district approved classroom instruction.  
Approximately 14-15 percent of students will require Tier II instruction.  The duration of this 
instruction varies based on student assessment and progress monitoring data, and is generally 
provided by a trained teacher/specialist or other trained personnel under the teacher’s/specialist’s 
supervision. 
 
Tier III:  Intensive Targeted Intervention 
Tier III is designed to provide intensive, targeted intervention to the most at-risk learners, those 
who have not responded adequately to Tier II instruction.  This small percentage (3-5%) of 
students requires instruction that is more explicit, more intensive, and specifically designed to 
meet their individual needs.  This intervention is extended over a longer period of time, and its 
form varies based on student assessment and progress monitoring data.  Tier III intervention 
replaces Tier II instruction and is provided by a trained teacher/specialist or other trained teacher 
personnel under the teacher’s/specialist’s supervision. 
 
Student Movement through the Tiers 
Student movement through the 3 Tiers is a fluid process based on student assessment data and 
collaborative team decisions.   
 
Referral to Multidisciplinary or Section 504 Team  
Following Intensive Targeted Instruction that has not resulted in the student’s satisfactory rate of 
achievement of grade level skills and concepts, the student may be referred to a Multidisciplinary 
or Section 504 Team for consideration and possible evaluation to determine eligibility for 
services as a student with a disability.  Documentation of conformity with and implementation of 
the RtI+I process is a required component of the referral.  When highly unusual circumstances 
exist and comprehensive implementation of the RtI+I process presents an inappropriate and 
possibly damaging delay in determining a student’s eligibility for services as a student with a 
disability, referral to the building Multidisciplinary or Section 504 Team may be made.   
 
Millard Public Schools Policies and Rules 
The District RtI+I Model will be regulated by the District 6000 Curriculum, Instruction, and 
Assessment Policies and Rules as it relates to the written, taught and assessed curriculum; staff 
development; and the Millard Instructional Model.    
 
Millard Public Schools District Strategic Plan (2009) 
Strategy 4:  We will develop and implement plans to utilize instructional best practices, 
formative and summative assessments, and student data designed to ensure high achievement for 
all students and all demographic subgroups. 

197



12 
 

SPECIFIC RESULT: Implement a response to intervention (RTI) model that uses standardized 
assessments, common data indicators and research-based interventions. 
 
Action Plan 8 Steps: 

1. Implement a District-wide response to intervention (RTI) model for K-12 
interventions based on individual academic achievement level for any student in 
need. 

2. Identify valid and reliable K-12 universal screening, diagnostic, progress and 
strategic monitoring tools that have a strong positive correlation to District 
standards, indicators and assessment. 

3. Provide professional development in the administration and scoring of assessments 
and the use of data for instructional planning and decision making. 

4. Identify and evaluate appropriate scientifically or research based core instruction and 
interventions. 

5. Determine a menu of intervention materials available with District support and 
professional development for building-level implementation with fidelity, 

6. Develop a process to monitor the fidelity and adherence of core instruction, 
supplemental programs and interventions. 

7. Identify data analysis teams that use data decision making criteria for determining 
instructional/intervention decisions at each tier of support. 

8. Evaluate the effectiveness of interventions in closing the achievement gap. 

198



13 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

General Education 
Instruction + Intervention 

Special Education  
Instruction + Intervention 

Tier III 
3-5% of Students 

 

 Intensive intervention delivered with fidelity by 
specially trained staff and/or paraprofessional 

 Research-based content and strategies 
 Significant increase in intensity, frequency, and 

duration of intervention (ex: 1:1; 30-60 minutes 
daily, etc.) 

 Intervention in addition to classroom instruction 
 Weekly progress monitoring 
 MIT Problem Solving Team evaluates and 

problem solves every 4 data points 

For students with disabilities 
needing Tier III Intervention 

 

 Intensive intervention delivered with fidelity by special education staff 
 While intervention may supplant much of classroom District approved 

instruction, continued instruction in general education class by classroom 
teacher supports and is applicable to intervention instruction  
- Instruction planned by special education staff and requires collaboration 

with general education classroom teacher 
- Instruction delivered by special education staff 

 Instructional time includes intervention and classroom instruction and is not 
less than the required amount of grade level instructional time, i.e., the 
intervention instruction is not a  reduction of instructional time, intensity, or 
frequency 

 Weekly progress monitoring by special education staff 

ALL elements from General Ed Tier II are in  
place for students with disabilities in Tier II 

 

In addition: 
 District approved curriculum and supplemental instruction 

planned by general education classroom teacher/s and special 
education teacher 

 District approved and supplemental instruction delivered by 
general education teacher and special education teacher (e.g., 
small group, co-teaching, push-in, pull-out) 

 In addition to District approved instruction, intervention tied to 
District approved program: 
- Intervention planned by general education and special 

education staff 
- Intervention delivered by classroom teacher, general 

education specialist or special education staff 
 Weekly progress monitoring by special education staff

Intervention 2 
 If 4 consecutive data points below the line, 

move to Tier III. 

Intervention 1 
 If 4 consecutive data points below the line, 

move to Intervention 2. 

ALL elements from General Ed Tier I are 
in place for students with disabilities in 

Tier I 
 

In addition 
 District approved curriculum instruction planned by 

general education classroom teacher/s and special 
education teacher 

 Instruction delivered by general education teacher and 
special education teacher (e.g., small group, co-
teaching, push-in, pull-out) 

 Bi-weekly or Strategic Progress monitoring as appr 

Tier II 
10-15% of Students 

 

 Supplemental intervention delivered with fidelity by 
specially trained staff and/or paraprofessional 

 Research-based content and strategies 
 Small group instruction in addition to classroom 

instruction 
 Bi-weekly progress monitoring 
 MIT Team Individual student Problem Solving begins after 

4 consecutive data points below the line 

Intervention 2 
 If 4 consecutive data points below the 

line, move to Tier III. 

Intervention 1 
 If 4 consecutive data points below line, begin MIT 

Team individual student Problem Solving and 
move to Intervention 2. 

Tier I 
80% of Students 

 

 District approved curriculum delivered with fidelity 
 Taught by the general education classroom teacher 
 Explicit, consistent, sequential, comprehensive instruction 
 Research-based content and strategies 
 Differentiated instruction and classroom-based intervention 
 PLC data collection and evaluation of student progress 
 Universal Benchmark Screening 3 times yearly (K-8)  
 Benchmark Screening 3 times yearly identified students (9-12) 
 Strategic progress monitoring monthly, for identified targeted students  

MPS RtI+I Model 

199



14 
 

District Approved Curriculum Model 
 
Components of the Millard District Approved Curriculum Model include curriculum, 
assessment, instructional delivery, high quality instructional materials, intervention, 
environment, and family. 
 

 Standards - District content standards derived from Nebraska State Standards and 
Indicators or from content-specific professional organizations and District-established 
content standards. These content standards describe the knowledge, skills, and processes 
that are taught, learned, and assessed. 
 

 Indicators - Specific skills and strategies a student will learn and apply within a content 
area. 

 
 Assessment - Screening, diagnostic assessment, progress monitoring, and outcome 

assessment. 
 

 Curriculum - A course of study deemed critical and usually made mandatory for all 
students of a school or school system. District approved curricula are often instituted at 
the primary and secondary levels by school boards, Departments of Education, or other 
administrative agencies charged with overseeing education. District approved curricula 
must be scientific and research-based. 
 

 Instructional Delivery - Highly trained professional staff, adequate time, flexible 
grouping, explicit and systematic instruction, and use of data to inform instruction. 

 
 High Quality Instructional Materials - Scientifically research based materials that 

support the multiple needs of individual learners, and supports whole group and small 
group instruction.  
 

 Intervention - Additional support, extended learning, supplemental services, and 
differentiated instruction. 
 

 Environment - High expectations, engage practice, home support and practice, 
technology, organized, and student accessible. 
 

 Family - Regular communication with family, student practice, partnership with school. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

200



15 
 

Assessment 
 
Assessment is the process of collecting, reviewing, and using information to make educational 
decisions about student learning.  The type of information collected is determined by the 
intended use of the results or type of decision that is needed.  An effective instructional program 
should include the following types of assessment: 
 

 Universal Benchmark Screening Assessments are measures of a student’s current 
achievement proficiency based on grade-level performance standards.  These assessments 
should be administered at least three times a year (fall, winter, spring).  It is important to 
ensure these District approved assessments are easy to administer and interpret. These are 
efficient measures of critical skills known to be strong indicators that predict student 
performance (e.g., AIMSweb Benchmarks, SRI, SMI). 

 
 Diagnostic Assessments define a student’s strengths and weaknesses with critical skills.  

Diagnostic assessments are individually administered to at-risk students and help teachers 
plan instruction by providing in-depth information regarding students’ skills and 
instructional needs (e.g., Fountas & Pinnell Benchmark Assessment System, GRADE, 
GMADE). 

 
 Progress Monitoring Assessments are used to determine whether students are making 

adequate progress with critical skills and current instruction and intervention. These 
assessments should be administered as part of the instructional routine:  weekly, bi-
weekly, or monthly, depending on student need. The more intense the intervention, the 
more frequently progress monitoring should occur. Assessment data should be collected, 
evaluated, and used on an ongoing basis to plan instruction and inform needed 
interventions (e.g., AIMSweb probes). 

 
 Strategic Monitoring Assessments are used for periodic (monthly) monitoring of 

student performance to ensure that students continue to make adequate progress in 
targeted areas (e.g., AIMSweb probes). 

 
 Outcome Assessments provide an evaluation of the effectiveness of instruction and 

indicate student year-end achievement when compared to grade-level performance 
standards.  These summative assessments are administered to all students and are often 
used for school, District, or state reporting purposes (e.g., ELO, NeSA). 

 
 
 

201



16 
 

Effective Instructional Practices 
 
The Millard Instructional Model includes the standards of Practices that Promote Successful 
Student Learning.  The five domains of the Millard Instructional Model include planning, 
instruction, assessment, learning environment, and professional responsibilities. Within these 
domains are three main components of effective instruction that include instructionally effective 
teachers, explicit and systematic lessons, and differentiated instruction. 
 
Instructionally Effective Teachers 
Instructionally effective teachers have a significant impact on students’ achievement.  They 
select and administer assessments that identify the diverse instructional needs of all students, 
with an understanding that the use of ongoing assessments measuring student achievement is the 
single most important determinant of the effectiveness of implemented practices. 
 
Through experience and training, instructionally effective teachers possess the skills to employ 
instructional techniques that have the greatest impact on learning.  They effectively: 

 Provide explicit and systematic lessons. 
 Determine instructional timelines and targets. 
 Select and use a variety of research-based materials, including the District approved 

program and appropriately leveled texts. 
 Form flexible groups to meet the needs of individual students. 
 Administer progress monitoring assessments to instruct and regroup students according to 

student knowledge and skill acquisition. 
 Create an environment in which children have access to a variety of high-quality 

opportunities and materials. 
 Create multiple opportunities for students to engage in learning opportunities. 
 Provide multiple opportunities for students to appropriately practice and apply skills in a 

variety of contexts. 
 Manage student activity and behavior. 
 Utilize instructional resources effectively. 
 Engage parental support. 

 
 

Explicit and Systematic Instruction 
 
Explicit instruction is essential to student achievement.  Research supports the assertion that 
skills and strategies must be explicitly and systematically taught.  They must be modeled and 
practiced in multiple settings with a variety of materials.  A gradual release of teacher support 
must follow until the student achieves the desired level of proficiency and automaticity.  Explicit 
instruction does not leave anything to chance, and it does not make assumptions about skills and 
knowledge that children acquire on their own.   
 
Explicit instruction recognizes that learning is a cyclical process.  Progress monitoring may 
indicate that the student has not mastered the new skill or strategy.  If this occurs, skills and 
strategies are re-taught within the appropriate phase of explicit instruction. 

202



17 
 

Differentiated Instruction 
 
Differentiated instruction should be provided for all students as part of Tier I instruction.  The 
classroom teacher should provide flexible instructional grouping of students based on their 
ongoing identified need to produce a positive trajectory to achieve grade level indicators. 
 
All students should receive the same content.  The classroom teacher should adjust the degree of 
complexity of the content to meet the needs of students performing well beyond expectations, on 
level, or far below expected level of achievement.  Classroom teachers should be clear about 
what they are trying to teach and why.  Teachers should have clear objectives for instruction, 
deliver targeted instruction utilizing the District indicators and approved curriculum, provide 
focused activities, and adjust the instructional complexity through differentiation.  Teachers must 
have classroom procedures firmly in place to facilitate differentiation.  They should provide 
ongoing monitoring of student success to determine changing differentiated instructional needs.  
 
In Tier II and Tier III, differentiation is provided through addressing specific, targeted needs.  
This instruction occurs in smaller groups with increased intensity.  Progress monitoring occurs 
more frequently and provides the information needed to make instructional decisions. 
 
 

District and Building Roles and Responsibilities 
 
Educational Services   

 Provide staff development on RtI+I Model and Problem Solving Process at Tier I & II & 
III. 

 Provide staff development and support on implementation of District approved 
curriculum with fidelity for teachers. 

 Provide staff development and support for administrators in evaluating the 
implementation of Tier I District approved curriculum as meeting fidelity. 

 Provide staff development and support of implementation of intervention programs with 
fidelity for teachers. 

 Provide evaluation and feedback on the implementation of intervention programs as 
meeting fidelity (Tier II and Tier III General Education and Special Education). 

 Identifyication of Tier I, II, and III intervention program and strategies. 
 
District Interventionists 

 Consult on the Problem Solving Process. 
 Participate in the Problem Solving Process as student is moved from Tier II to Tier III. 
 Participate in staff development related to the Problem Solving Process. 

 
Pupil Services: School Psychologists   

 Participate as requested and consult as needed in the Problem Solving Process. 
 Provide staff development on the Problem Solving Process. 
 Classroom teachers, specialists and psychologists participate as trainers in the Problem 

Solving Process. 
 Participate in the Problem Solving Process as student is moved from Tier II to Tier III. 

203



18 
 

 Participate in the Problem Solving Process as student moves to MDT and possible 
verification. 

 Participate in staff development related to the Problem Solving Process. 
 
Building Administrators   

 Identify membership of the building Problem Solving and/or Data Review Teams 
including roles/responsibilities of consistent and fluid members. 

 Provide space and staff support for the administration of benchmark assessments. 
 Strategically schedule identified students with effective instructors at prime learning 

times during the school day. 
 Lead the building Data Review Team and meet with teachers to review and problem 

solve student needs reflected in the data. 
 Participate in staff development to evaluate that the District approved curriculum is being 

implemented with fidelity related to the Problem Solving Process. 
 Ensure the District approved curriculum is being implemented with fidelity. 
 Assist staff to develop skills to implement programs with fidelity. 
 Provide a continuum of K-12 Intervention support. 
 Participate in the Problem Solving Process for students moving between Tiers or Special 

Education verification. 
 Ensure appropriate home communication is provided. 
 Assist with providing home intervention components to be carried out by the parent and 

provide training/modeling when appropriate. 
 
Teachers  

 Support the administration of District benchmark assessments. 
 Provide data from formative and summative classroom assessments that support the 

Problem Solving Process. 
 Assist with the Problem Solving Process documentation (Appendix). 
 Participate in staff development to implement District approved curriculum with fidelity 

related to the Problem Solving Process. 
 Implement District approved curriculum and interventions with fidelity. – written, taught 

and assessed curriculum 
 Provide for individual and/or small group Tier I interventions through differentiation as 

appropriate. 
 Administer diagnostic assessments as appropriate and based on RtI+I Guidelines. 
 Consult with administrator, building Data Review Team, PLC Team and intervention 

staff in the Problem Solving Process to provide appropriate Tier I Interventions. 
 Collaborate to assure instructional practices on skills are specific to individual student 

needs who are participating in Tier II and III instruction and special education instruction. 
 Assist with designing and providing home intervention components for parent and 

student use. 
 
Building Intervention Staff/Special Education Staff  

 Support the administration of District benchmark assessments. 
 Assist Collaborate with classroom teachers with regarding Tier I intervention and 

differentiation practices. 

204



19 
 

 Assist classroom teachers with the Problem Solving Process documentation 
(pg.16Appendix). 

 Participate in staff development related to the Problem Solving Process. 
 Implement District approved curriculum and interventions with fidelity. 
 Administer diagnostic assessments as appropriate and based on RtI+I Guidelines. 
 Collaborate to assure instructional practices on skills are specific to individual student 

needs who are participating in Tier II and III instruction and special education instruction. 
 Consult Collaborate with administrator, building Data Review Team and other specialists 

on providing a continuum of PreK-12 Intervention support. 
 Assist with designing, coordinating, and providing home intervention components, 

including training/modeling, to be carried out by a parent when appropriate. 
 

Students   
 Be engaged and participate in class and intervention instruction. 
 Participate in the Problem Solving Process when appropriate. 

 

Parents   
 Participate in the Problem Solving Process by providing their perspective and support 

regarding their child’s progress including but not limited to participation in decision 
making meetings, phone communication, letter communication, etc. 

 Participate in decision making meetings regarding child’s progress. 
 Carry out home intervention program components as designed. 

205



20 
 

Parent Participation in RtI+I Process 
 
Involving parents at all phases is a key aspect of a successful RtI+I program.  Parents can 
provide a critical perspective and their support can increase the likelihood that interventions will 
be effective.  For this reason, schools must make a concerted effort to inform and involve parents 
as early as possible, beginning with instruction in the District approved curriculum. 
 
Examples of informing parents/families: 
 
 Newsletters describing the RtI+I process are sent to parents. 
 Parents are notified that their child has qualified for intervention and are apprised of their 

child’s progress while receiving intervention services. 
 Parents are provided with appropriate resources (and training if necessary) to support 

intervention components within the home. 
 Form letters are sent to parents describing student’s participation in Tier 2 interventions. 
 Procedures have been established for parent permission, notification, and rights to due process 

when required. 
 Progress reports are provided to parents on a regular basis. 
 
Examples of involving parents: 
 
 Parents are part important members of the district and/or school-wide Problem Solving 

tTeam(s) for their child. 
 Parents are included in decision making meetings discussions regarding their child’s progress. 
 Parent schedules are taken into account in planning meetings. 
 Parents are essential members of the Problem Solving team for their child. 
 Home intervention components to be carried out by the parent are designed when appropriate 

and training/modeling is provided. 
 
As intensity of intervention increases, parent involvement increases.  Because RtI+I is a method 
of delivering the general education curriculum for all students, written consent is not required 
before administering universal screenings and program assessments within a multi-tiered RtI+I 
system when these tools are used to determine instructional need.  However, when further 
diagnostic assessment is recommended for consideration for participation in Tiers II and III, 
parents must be notified.  Additionally, when a student fails to respond to interventions and the 
decision is made to evaluate a student for special education eligibility, written consent must be 
obtained in accordance with special education procedures. 
 
 
 

206



21 
 

Problem Solving Process  
 
Problem Solving is a data-based decision making process that is used to identify needed 
interventions for students in Tiers I, II and III.  Decisions are made by teams that are composed 
of individuals who are qualified to make the important educational decisions to help students 
succeed in school.  
 
To facilitate the Problem Solving process at any of the Tiers, the information collected during 
assessment must inform instructional decision-making.  In making decisions, teams should use 
this approach: 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

**Define and 
Clarify the 
Problem 

Analyze the 
Cause and 
Develop a 

Hypothesis 

Develop an 
Intervention 

Plan 

Implement the 
Intervention 

Plan 

Evaluate the 
Intervention 

Plan 

Set a goal based 
on analysis of data 

 
Choose a method 

of progress 
monitoring 

207



22 
 

Problem Solving Process Descriptions 
 
Define and Clarify the Problem: 
When a concern is raised, the first step is to review the concern and attempt to identify and 
clarify the problem.  The team should first review existing student data to determine specific 
problems.  The team should try to narrow the problem (based on available data) to identify the 
deficit skill areas (e.g., phonemic awareness, Problem Solving skills, math calculations, 
vocabulary, peer interactions, etc.).  This may also include gathering further assessment data. 
 
Analyze the Cause and Develop a Hypothesis: 
Once the problem is defined, the team needs to develop a hypothesis as to why the problem is 
occurring and continuing.  This involves analyzing those variables that can be altered through 
instruction in order to find an instructional solution.  This includes questions of fidelity, missing 
skills, motivational factors, or lack of exposure to the general curriculum.  The team should focus 
on explanations of the problem that can be addressed through instruction.  In addition to the 
cause of the problem, the team needs to consider the student’s rate of learning.  In doing this, the 
team reviews the student’s learning trend (progress) in the areas identified.  The team should also 
compare the student’s progress to peers over time. 
 
Develop an Intervention Plan:   
Once the problem has been analyzed, the team identifies researched-based interventions that will 
meet the student’s needs.   The intervention plan must be consistent with appropropriate Tier 
guidelines for  research-based curriculum interventions, resources and strategies.  The plan also 
includes an implementation timeframe for duration and frequency, identification of who will 
provide the intervention, a goal for progress (with graphic representation of baseline, aimline) 
and plan for evaluation (progress monitoring).   
 
Two methods of delivering Tier II and Tier III interventions include: Standard Protocol and 
Individual Problem Solving Protocol.   Standard Protocol is defined as targeted group 
intervention programs based on scientifically valid instructional practices used to address 
frequent student referral concerns (district identified intervention programs).   Individual 
Problem Solving Protocol is individualized research-based interventions selected to match the 
profile of a particular student’s strengths and weaknesses (not a published program but based on 
scientifically valid instructional practices). 
 
Implement the Intervention Plan: 
Interventions must be implemented with fidelity.  To ensure fidelity, qualified appropriately 
trained staff must deliver the interventions according to the prescribed process and prescribed 
time frame.  Schools should document their delivery of the interventions (see Intervention 
Fidelity forms). 
 
Evaluate the Intervention Plan: 
In order to determine if the intervention is working for a student, the team must collect data 
through progress monitoring.  The frequency of progress monitoring depends of the Tier.  A 
student’s current performance and progress is compared to his/her projected “aimline”.  Tier 
guidelines are used to make appropriate modifications or revisions in the intervention or to 
recommend movement up or down through the Tiers. 

208



23 
 

RtI+I Problem Solving Process Chart 
Pr

ob
le

m
 S

ol
vi

ng
 P

ro
ce

ss
 

D
ef

in
e 

an
d 

C
la

rif
y 

th
e 

Pr
ob

le
m

 
A

na
ly

ze
 th

e 
C

au
se

 a
nd

 D
ev

el
op

 a
 H

yp
ot

he
si

s 
D

ev
el

op
 a

n 
In

te
rv

en
tio

n 
Pl

an
 

Im
pl

em
en

t t
he

 In
te

rv
en

tio
n 

Ev
al

ua
te

 th
e 

In
te

rv
en

tio
n 

D
at

a 
R

ev
ie

w
 T

ea
m

 
M

em
be

rs
 - 

B
ui

ld
in

g 
A

dm
in

is
tra

to
r a

nd
 id

en
tif

ie
d 

st
af

f 
Fu

nc
tio

n 
- O

ng
oi

ng
 a

na
ly

si
s a

nd
 d

is
se

m
in

at
io

n 
of

 d
at

a 

Problem Solving Process Supports 
PLC Teams: 

 Review benchmark, formative assessment 
data 

 Assist teacher in identifying strategies & 
materials to meet the student’s needs  

 

PLC Team Members 
Student Support Team 

Specialists 
Administrator 

MEPs 

Tier I Intervention 
 Deliver by General Education teacher  
 Use District approved curriculum with 

fidelity 
 Strategically monitor - monthly 
 Begin portfolio collection 

 

Grade Level or Content 
Student Support Team  
Area Team Members 

Specialists 
Administrator 

MEPs 
Counselor 

Tier II Intervention 
 Deliver by Specialist or trained staff 

member 
 Progress monitor 
 Periodically review student data 
 Employ fidelity of intervention program 
 Complete sections of the Intervention 

Summary Report 
 Continue portfolio collection, including 

assessment data and other evidence 
 

Intervention 1 
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -  

Intervention 2 
 Begin Tier II 2 Documentation form 
 Begin/continue RtI+I Individual Student 

Folder collection 
 Pending individual student need, begin 

Tier III Referral process  
 

Grade Level or Content 
Student Support Team 
 Area Team Members 

Specialists 
Administrator 

District Interventionists 
Special Education 

Psychologists 
MEPs 

Counselor 
 

 
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -  

 
MIT Problem Solving Team 

Tier III Intervention 
 Begin Tier III Documentation form 
 Deliver by Specialist or trained staff 

member  
 Progress monitor 
 Periodically review student data 
 Employ fidelity of intervention program 
 Complete sections of the Intervention 

Summary Report 
 Continue portfolio RtI+I Individual 

Student Folder collection, assessment 
data and other evidence 

 

Grade Level or Content 
Student Support Team 
 Area Team Members 

Specialists 
Administrator 

District Interventionists 
Special Education 

Psychologists 
MEPs 

Counselor 

 Review data  
 Additional time in Tier II or III 

Intervention 
 Decision to send to MDT  

 

Grade Level or Content 
Student Support Team 
 Area Team Members 

Specialists 
Administrator 

District Interventionists 
Special Education 

209



24 
 

Psychologists 
MEPs 

Counselor 

210



25 
 

 
 

 
 

    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tier I Core Instruction 
 

PLC – Collects and 
Analyzes Data 

Making 
Progress 

Tier I Core Instruction 
+ 

Tier II 1 Intervention & 
Progress Monitoring  

(28-42 Sessions) 

Making 
Progress 

Making 
Progress 

Next steps which may include one or 
more of the following: 
 

 Continue with Tier II 2 
 Revise Tier II 2 
 Move to MDT 1 
 Examine IEP 
 Other 

Yes 

No

Yes

Yes 

No

No

Tier I Core Instruction 
+ 

Tier II 2 Intervention & 
Progress Monitoring  

(28-42 Sessions) 

Data Review Team: 
 Includes Fluid Participation (Administrators, Teachers, Interventionists, 

Specialists, etc.) 
 Ensures documentation 
 Develops and monitors individual student learning goals 
 Understands Standard Protocol and Individual Problem Solving Protocol 

RtI+I Tiered Problem Solving Process Flowchart 

Data Team 
Discussion   

 
Problem solving 

 

Data Team 
Discussion   

 
Problem solving 

 
Tier II 2 

Documentation form 

Data Team 
Discussion   

 
Problem solving 

Team begins: 
 

Tier III Referral process 
 

Tier III Documentation form 

Or

211



26 
 

Tier Comparisons of RtI+I Model 
  
 Tier I - Classroom Tier II - Targeted Tier III - Intensive 
  Intervention 1 Intervention 2  
Focus  For all students  For students with identified 

needs that have not 
responded to Tier I efforts 

 For students who have not 
responded to Tier II, 
Intervention 1 efforts 

 For students identified with significant 
difficulties that have not responded to 
Tier I and Tier II efforts  

 
Curriculum & 
Materials 

 Use scientifically research based 
District approved curriculum 

 Implement instructional program 
and materials with fidelity 

 

 Use scientifically research based materials and practices that 
support District approved curriculum and target skill deficits 

 Use intervention and content materials that support Tier 1 
instruction  

 Implement instructional program and materials with fidelity 
 

 Use scientifically research based 
intervention programs, materials, and 
strategies that specifically target 
diagnosed deficits 

Instructional 
Organization 

 Large group instruction 
 Differentiated, small group 

instruction for application of 
skills, reteaching, and/or 
additional practice 

 

 Homogeneous small groups of 2 to 5 students 
 Explicit instruction targeting special skill deficits 
 Opportunities for review and practice 

 Small, homogeneous groups of 2 or 3 
or individual 

 Explicit, intense, differentiated 
instruction 

 Use of multi-sensory approaches as 
appropriate 

 
Instructor  Instructionally effective 

classroom teacher 
 

 Instructionally effective classroom teacher, specialist, or 
trained staff member determined by the school 

 

 Instructionally effective 
teacher/specialist qualified to instruct 
students who continue to struggle 

 
Assessment  Universal screening assessment 

occurs beginning, middle, and 
end of year 

 District approved program 
assessments 

 Formative assessments 
 Strategic progress monitoring  

 

 Diagnostic assessment for 
making targeted 
instructional decisions 

 Monitoring progress occurs 
every two weeks on target 
skill to ensure adequate 
progress and learning 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 Diagnostic assessment for 
making targeted 
instructional decisions 

 Monitoring progress occurs 
every week on target skill 
to ensure adequate progress 
and learning 

 

 Further diagnostic assessments as 
needed 

 Monitoring progress occurs weekly on 
target skill to ensure adequate progress 
and learning 

212



27 
 

 Tier I - Classroom Tier II – Targeted Tier III - Intensive 
  Intervention 1 Intervention 2  
Time  District guidelines 

 
 Minimum of 20-30 minutes 

per day 2-3 x per week in 
small groups in addition to 
classroom instruction.  
Varies based on student 
need and program 
expectations 

 Minimum 14 weeks/28-42 
sessions 

 

 Minimum of 30 minutes 
per day 3-4 x per week in 
small groups in addition to 
classroom instruction.  
Varies based on student 
need and program 
expectations 

 Minimum 14 weeks/28-42 
sessions 

 

 30-60 minutes daily in addition to 
general classroom Tier I instruction 

 Minimum 14 weeks/70 sessions 
 

Decision 
Rules 

 Data should identify which 
children may need:  
o Targeted instructional support 

within the District approved 
curriculum 

o Further assessment to confirm 
screening data and/or provide 
diagnostic information 

o Consideration for Tier II 
support and services 

 Tier I and Tier II supports 
implemented as planned 
and monitored 

 Data appropriately graphed 
to aid in analysis using 
MPS Problem Solving 
model: 
o Baseline data, goal line 
o Minimum 4 data points 

above line 
(consideration for 
movement back to TierI 

o Consideration for 
continuation of current 
support and services 

o 4 consecutive data 
points below the line 
begin MIT and move to 
Intervention 2 

 Tier I and Tier II supports 
implemented as planned 
and monitored 

 Data appropriately graphed 
to aid in analysis using 
MPS Problem Solving 
model 

 MIT Problem Solving 
process followed 
o Goals and goal line set 
o Consideration for 

continuation of current 
support and services if 
data points above the 
line 

o 4 data points below line 
(consideration of 
change to Tier III 
intervention and/or  
MDT referral) 

 Data appropriately graphed to aid in 
analysis: 
o Goals and goal line set 
o Minimum 8 data points above line 

(for consideration for movement to 
Tier II) 

o Consideration for continuation of 
current support and services 

o 8 data points below line referral to 
MDT  
 

Setting  General education classroom 
 

 Appropriate setting designated by the school, may be push in 
or pull out of the general education classroom 

 Appropriate setting designated by the 
school, may be push in or pull out of 
the general education classroom 

 
 
 
 
 
 

213



28 
 

 Tier I - Classroom Tier II – Targeted Tier III - Intensive 
  Intervention 1 Intervention 2  
Support  Home practice and support 

 Reteaching: Individual Learning 
Plans 

 Encouragement of parent-school 
partnerships 

 Provision of parent training as 
needed 

 Professional development for 
school personnel 

 District approved Curriculum 
support provided by MEP 

 Use of trained support personnel to provide practice 
opportunities under the direction of the interventionist and/or 
classroom teacher 

 Reteaching: Individual Learner Plans 
 Before/After school programs as appropriate 
 Provision of parent training as needed for home practice and 

support 
 Professional development for all school personnel 

 Use of trained support personnel to 
provide practice opportunities under 
the direction of the interventionist 
and/or classroom teacher 

 Reteaching: Individual Learner Plans  
 Before/After school literacy programs 

as appropriate 
 Provision of parent training as needed 

for home practice and support 
 Professional development for all 

school personnel 
 

RtI+I 
Model 
Check 

 80% of students or more will 
make appropriate progress at this 
level of support and achievement 
gaps among different subgroups 
should not exist (if less, examine 
fidelity and differentiation within 
core curriculum). 

 

 Only No more than 6-8% 
of students will need this 
level of supplemental 
instruction to make 
appropriate progress (if 
greater, examine supports 
and services available in 
Tier I). 

 Only No more than 6-8% 
of students will need this 
level of supplemental 
instruction to make 
appropriate progress (if 
greater, examine supports 
and services available in 
Tier I and Tier II 
Intervention 1).  

 Only No more than 3-5% of students 
need this level of intense instruction to 
make appropriate progress  (if greater, 
examine supports and services within 
Tier I and Tier II) 

214



29 
 

MIT Request for Assistance 
 

STUDENT:  DATE:  

TEACHER:  GRADE:  
 
Check any academic concerns: 

Reading Math Written Language Briefly describe academic concerns: 
    Phonemic Awareness  Calculation ___ Voice 
 Phonics/Decoding  Fluency/fact recall ___ Organization 
 Comprehension  Understanding concepts ___ Content 
 Fluency  Reasoning/Problem Solving ___ Conventions 
___ Vocabulary   ___ Effective sentences 
    ___ Word choice 
 
Check any speech or language concerns:                                                       Fine/gross motor concerns: 

 Articulation  Use of grammatical forms  Fine Motor 

 Fluency (stuttering)  Oral expression  Gross 
Motor 

 Voice  Understanding of abstract language   
 Expressive  Difficulty understanding directions   
 Receptive  Difficulty following more than 1 step directions   
 
 
Check any behavioral or social-emotional concerns: 

 Inattentive  Argues with teacher   Anxious Briefly describe behavioral/social/emotional concerns:  
(what, when, how often; what activities are difficult 
for this student?):  Disorganized  Verbally aggressive towards peers  Depressed 

 Difficulty remaining 
seated or sitting still  Verbally aggressive towards adults  Selectively mute (does 

 not talk in school) 

 Does not keep hands 
and feet to self  Physically aggressive towards peers  School Phobic  

 Does not complete work 
on time  Physically aggressive towards adults  Lack social skills 

 Other:  

 
 
_____Hearing Screening ____Vision Screening 

Briefly describe speech/language or motor 
concerns: 

215



30 
 

TIER I: UNIVERSAL/CLASSROOM INTERVENTIONS 
What differentiation strategies or accommodations have you used to help this student become more successful in class?  Indicate what works.   
 Flexible grouping  Before/after school help  More time on assignments Tier I Intervention Data: 

 Test accommodations  1:1 support  Shortened assignments 

 Peer tutor/buddies  Other?  Describe: 

  

  

 
TIER II: TARGETED GROUP INTERVENTIONS 
 
What targeted group interventions has this child received?  
 READ  Math Help  Study Center 

 ELI  Re-Teaching  Flexible Grouping 

 Intensive BIST  1:1 support  Group/Individual  
Counseling 

 Behavior Card  Other?  Describe 

  
  
TIER II INTERVENTION DATA 
1. Briefly describe the targeted group intervention (what, # minutes, how often, # of weeks) 
 
 

 

 

 
2. Summarize the data from the group intervention outlined above  
 
Start Date:  End Date:  # of Instructional 

Weeks:  

Baseline:  Goal Set:  Student Outcome 
Data:  

 
*Attach baseline and progress monitoring data collected from the group intervention (e.g.; graphs, BRI’s, Aimsweb, Math intervention kit data, common 
assessment data, etc.) 

216



31 
 

Glossary of Terms   Moving to Appendix section 
 
Aimline: Line on a graph that represents expected student growth over . 
 
District Approved Curriculum: Course of study deemed critical and usually made mandatory for 
all students of a school or school system. District approved curricula are often instituted at the 
primary and secondary levels by school boards, Departments of Education, or other 
administrative agencies charged with overseeing education. District approved curricula must be 
scientific and research-based. 
 
Curriculum-Based Measurement (CBM): Tools for measuring student competency and progress 
in the basic skill areas of reading fluency, spelling, mathematics, and written language.  

Data-Based/Data-Driven Decision: Process of collecting, analyzing, and summarizing 
information to answer a question and to guide development, implementation, and evaluation of 
an action. Data-based decision making is continuous and regular, and most importantly linked to 
educational/socially important questions.  

Data Points: Points on a graph that represent student achievement or behavior relative to a 
specific assessment at a specific time. 
 
Diagnostic Assessments: Define a student’s strengths and weaknesses with critical skills.  
Diagnostic assessments are individually administered to at-risk students and help teachers plan 
instruction by providing in-depth information regarding students’ skills and instructional needs 
(Example: QRI, GORT-4). 
 
Differentiated Instruction: Process of designing lesson plans that meet the needs of the range of 
learners; such planning includes learning objectives, grouping practices, teaching methods, 
varied assignments, and varied materials chosen based on student skill levels, interest levels, and 
learning preferences; differentiated instruction focuses on instructional strategies, instructional 
groupings, and an array of materials.  

Explicit Instruction: Systematic instructional approach that includes a set of delivery and design 
procedures derived from effective schools' research merged with behavior analysis; essential 
components of well-designed explicit instruction include a) visible delivery features of group 
instruction with a high level of teacher and student interactions and b) the less observable, 
instructional design principles and assumptions that make up the content and strategies to be 
taught. 

Fidelity of Implementation & Instruction: Implementation of an intervention, program, or 
curriculum according to research findings and/or on developers’ specifications. 

Instructionally Effective Teachers: Instructionally effective teachers implement the Practices that 
Promote Successful Student Learning through the five domains of the Millard Instructional 
Model including planning, instruction, assessment, learning environment, and professional 
responsibilities. They select and administer assessments that identify the diverse instructional 
needs of all students, with an understanding that the use of ongoing assessments measuring 
student achievement is the single most important determinant of the effectiveness of 
implemented practices. 

 

217



32 
 

Intensive Interventions: Academic and/or behavioral interventions characterized by increased 
length, frequency, and duration of implementation for students who struggle significantly; often 
associated with narrowest tier of an RTI+I tiered model; also referred to as tertiary interventions.  

Outcome Assessments: Evaluation of the effectiveness of instruction and indicate student year-
end achievement when compared to grade-level performance standards.  These assessments are 
administered to all students and are often used for school, District, or state reporting purposes 
(e.g., ELO, NeSA). 
 
Problem Solving Process:  Process in which a group of education professionals come together to 
consider student-specific data, brainstorm possible strategies/interventions, and develop a plan of 
action to address a student-specific need.  

Progress Monitoring Assessments: Progress monitoring assessments are used to determine 
whether students are making adequate progress with critical skills and current instruction. These 
assessments should be administered as part of the instructional routine:  weekly, bi-weekly, or 
monthly, depending on student need. The more intense the intervention, the more frequently 
progress monitoring should occur. Assessment data should be collected, evaluated, and used on 
an ongoing basis to plan instruction and inform needed interventions (e.g., AIMSweb probes). 

 
Response to Intervention: Practice of providing high quality instruction and interventions 
matched to student need, monitoring progress frequently to make changes in instruction or goals, 
and applying child response data to important educational decisions. 
 
Scientific Research-Based Intervention: Curriculum and educational interventions that have been 
proven to be effective for most students based on scientific study. 
 
Strategic Monitoring Assessments: Periodic (monthly) monitoring of student performance to 
ensure that students continue to make adequate progress in targeted areas (e.g., AIMSweb 
probes). 
 
Trendline:  Line on a graph that connects data points; compare against aimline to determine 
responsiveness to intervention. 

Universal Benchmark Screening Assessments: Universal benchmark screening assessments are 
measures of a student’s current achievement proficiency based on grade-level performance 
standards.  These assessments should be administered at least three times a year (fall, winter, 
spring).  It is important to ensure these assessments are easy to administer, District approved, and 
interpret. These are efficient measures of critical skills known to be strong indicators that predict 
student performance.  

218



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 

Meeting Date: May 21, 2012 

Department Human Resources 

Action Desired: Approval 

Background: Personnel items: (1) Resignation; (2) Hire; (3) Leave Of Absence 
 (4) Contract Amendment 
 
Options/Alternatives  
Considered: N/A 
 
Recommendations: Approval 

Strategic Plan 
Reference: N/A 

Implications of  
Adoption/Rejection: N/A 
 
Timeline: N/A 

Responsible 
Persons: Jim Sutfin, Ed.D. 
 
   
 
 
Superintendent’s Signature: __________________________________________ 

219



May 21, 2012 
 
 

RESIGNATIONS 
 
 
Recommend: The following resignation be accepted: 
 

 

1. Stephanie Jurgens – Foreign Language teacher at Millard North High School.  Resigning 
for another job in education at the end of the 2011-2012 school year. 

2. Greg Fearday – Business teacher at Millard South High School.  Resigning because of 
relocation at the end of the 2011-2012 school year. 

3. Katie J. Tessin – Grade 2 teacher at Cottonwood Elementary School, currently on a 
Leave of Absence.  Resigning to complete additional education at the end of the 2011-
2012 school year. 
 

220



May 21, 2012 
 

 
TEACHERS RECOMMENDED FOR HIRE 

 
 
Recommend: the following teachers be hired for the 2012/2013 school year: 
 

1. Erin M. Aguirre – BA – Luther College.  Orchestra teacher at Central Middle School for the 
2012-2013 school year.  Previous Experience: Great Bend, KS (1999-2005) 

2. Cathy J. Bremer – MA+12 – Doane College.  Math teacher at Millard West High School for the 
2012-2013 school year.  Previous Experience:  Fremont, NE Schools (2001-present); David City, 
NE Schools (1997-2001) 

3. Tiffany L. Davis – MA – University of Virginia.  Special Education Resource teacher at Cody 
Elementary School for the 2012-2013 school year. Previous Experience: Jenkins Elementary 
(2010-2011); International School, Italy (2008-2010) 

4. James J. Ebke – BA – University of Nebraska, Lincoln.  Math teacher at Millard North High 
School for the 2012-2013 school year. 

5. David R. Falke – MA – Grace University.  Social Studies teacher at Millard North High School 
for the 2012-2013 school year. 

6. Barry A. Glynn – MA – College of St. Mary.  Language Arts teacher at Millard North High 
School for the 2012-2013 school year. 

7. Jessica R. Gorat – BA+18 – University of Nebraska, Omaha.  Business teacher at Millard South 
High School for the 2012-2013 school year.  

8. Holly E. Hartel – MA – College of St. Mary.  Language Arts teacher at Millard South High 
School for the 2012-2013 school year. 

9. Shawn P. Juricek – BA – University of Nebraska, Lincoln.  Social Studies teacher at Millard 
North Middle School for the 2012-2013 school year. 

10. Megan L. Kestel – BA+9 – St. John’s University.  Grade 6 teacher at Beadle Middle School for 
the 2012-2013 school year.  Previous Experience:  St. Stephen the Martyr (2006-present) 

11. Malinda A. Kroll – MA – University of Nebraska, Omaha. Middle School Counselor at Millard 
North Middle School for the 2012-2013 school year.  Previous Experience:  Westside High 
School (2010-2011); Papillion/La Vista Schools (2006-2010) 

12. Ashli A. Martin – MA – College of St. Mary.  Business teacher at Millard South High School for 
the 2012-2013 school year. 

13. Daniel J. Meyer – MA+9 – Peru State College.  Math teacher at Anderson Middle School for the 
2012-2013 school year.  Previous Experience: OPS (2007-present)  

14. Andrew J. Montgomery – MA – University of Nebraska, Omaha.  Math teacher at Millard South 
High School for the 2012-2013 school year. 

15. Kaleena M. Mora – MA – University of Nebraska, Omaha.  Grade 1 teacher at Reeder 
Elementary School for the 2012-2013 school year.  Previous Experience: Short-Term Contract 
(2011-2012); CADRE teacher, MPS (2010-2011) 

16. Jamie P. Poljanac – MA – University of Minnesota.  Social Studies teacher at Beadle Middle 
School for the 2012-2013 school year. (Short-Term Contract) 

221



17. Blaise J. Scheef – BA – University of Nebraska, Lincoln.  Math teacher at Millard North High 
School for the 2012-2013 school year. 

18. Cara A. Schrock – MA – Concordia University.  Reading teacher at Beadle Middle School for the 
2012-2013 school year. Previous Experience: OPS (2007-present) 

 

222



May 21, 2012 

LEAVE OF ABSENCE 

Recommend: The following Leave of Absence be accepted: 
 
1. Angela J. Hamilton – Grade 4 teacher at Ezra Elementary School.  She is 

requesting a Leave of Absence (Year 1) for the 2012-2013 school year for 
personal reasons. 
  

223



May 21, 2012 
 

 
CONTRACT AMENDMENTS 

 
 
Recommend:  The following contract amendments be accepted: 
 

1. Sarah E. Jessick – Vocal Music teacher at Neihardt Elementary School.  Amend regular 
(1.0) full time contract to a Job Share, part time (.5) FTE, for the 2012-2013 school year. 

2. Elizabeth E. King – Vocal Music teacher at Aldrich Elementary School.  Amend regular 
(1.0) full time contract to a Job Share, part time (.5) FTE, for the 2012-2013 school year. 

3. Raymond A. LeBlanc – Business teacher at Millard South High School.  Amend contract 
from (.5) part time FTE to (1.0) full time FTE (.5 FTE Business teacher at Horizon High 
School and .5 FTE Business teacher at Millard South High School) for the 2012-2013 
school year. 

4. Maria G. Scarpello Yearian – Foreign Language teacher, (.5) at Horizon High School.  
Amend contract from (.5) part time FTE to (1.0) full time FTE Foreign Language teacher 
at Kiewit Middle School for the 2012-2013 school year. 

224



 
 

AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
 

AGENDA ITEM: Legislative Update 
 
MEETING DATE: May 21, 2012 
 
DEPARTMENT: Office of the Superintendent    
 
TITLE AND BRIEF DESCRIPTION: Legislative Update for the 103rd Legislature 2nd session. 
 
ACTION DESIRED: APPROVAL          DISCUSSION          INFORMATION ONLY   XX      
 
Bill Mueller will be here to discuss the attached legislative summary.   
 
 

   
 
 
 
   
RECOMMENDATION:   
 
STRATEGIC PLAN:  Implemented Strategies and Superintendent’s Goals 
 
RESPONSIBLE PERSON:  Angelo Passarelli 
 
SUPERINTENDENT’S APPROVAL:                                                                  
        (Signature) 
 
 

225



MILLARD PUBLIC SCHOOLS 
LEGISLATIVE SUMMARY 

102nd Legislature - Second Session - 2012 
 

  

     
    BILL 

NO. INTRODUCER(S) DESCRIPTION AND 
SUMMARY OF BILL 

COMM. & 
HRG. DATE GF SF FR Status POSITION 

LB33 Louden Change valuation of agricultural and horticultural land 
 
Beginning January 1, 2012 Ag and horticultural land shall be valued at 70 rather than 
75% of its actual value.  Changes acceptable range for valuation from 69-75% to 64-
70% of actual value.  Changes state aid value of ag and horticultural land to 67 rather 
than 72%.   

Revenue 
01/21/11  
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1524 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Oppose 

LB50 Krist Adopt the Elementary and Secondary Educational Opportunity Act and provide for 
income tax credits 
 
Provides income tax credits for contributions to entities that provide scholarships to 
children attending privately operated elementary or secondary schools.  Scholarships 
can only be granted to kids of certain incomes. For grades K-8, the household income 
eligibility is three times the standard for free or reduced price lunch; for grades 9-12 
the eligibility is increased to four times. 

Revenue 
02/16/11 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1524 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Oppose 

LB53 Krist Change free transportation provisions relating to learning community students 
 
Provides that Learning Community school districts must provide free transportation to 
students residing in the learning community and attending school in the school district 
if the student is transferring pursuant to the open enrollment provisions of section 79-
2110 and either (i) is a 
student who contributes to the socioeconomic diversity of enrollment at the school 
building to which he or she attends, transfers and lives more than one mile from the 
school to which he or she transfers, or (ii) is a student attending a focus school or 
program and lives more than one mile from the school building housing the focus 
school or program. 
 
Deletes eligibility for free and reduced lunch kids who don't affect diversity of 
building. 

Education 
02/28/11 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1525 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Support 

226



LB58 Adams Provide for a study of dual-enrollment courses and career academies 
 
Provides that the Coordinating Commission for Postsecondary Education should study 
dual enrollment courses and report to the Legislature before December 15, 2011.   

Education 
03/15/11 
at 1:30 p.m. 
room 1525 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 
 
LB58 amended 
into LB637 

Support 

LB123 Heidemann Provide for disciplinary actions and policies relating to cyber-bullying 
 
Provides that cyber-bullying shall constitute, in some cases, grounds for long-term 
suspension, expulsion, or mandatory reassignment.  Cyber-bullying means any 
ongoing use of electronic mail, text messaging, social networking web sites, or any 
other form of electronic communication, on or off of school grounds, with the 
intention of causing harm or serious emotional distress to students or school 
personnel. Requires school districts to develop policies concerning cyber-bullying 
prevention and education. 

Education 
01/18/11 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1525 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Oppose 

LB125 Avery Create the Children's Health Advisory Committee 
 
To create and provide duties for the Children's Health Advisory Committee, to 
provide duties for the chief executive officer of the Department of Health and Human 
Services and the Commissioner of Education to provide for and require schools to 
implement nutrition and physical activity standards. 

Health and Human 
Services 
02/10/11 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1510 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Oppose 

LB145 Haar Provide for school transportation safety committees 
 
Provides for creation of school transportation safety committees and submission of 
child access routing plans for each school within a school district.  Further provides 
for committee procedures when a new school is proposed.   

Education 
02/28/11 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1525 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Oppose 

LB148 Avery Exclude lobbying expenses from the definition of general fund operating expenditures 
for state aid to education purposes 
 
The one-liner says it all. 

Education 
01/31/11 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1525 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 
 
LB148 
amended into 
LB 235 

Oppose 

LB149 Avery Adopt the Blind Persons Literacy Rights and Education Act 
 
Provides that a teacher employed by or under contract with a school district, 
educational service unit, other education agency, or the State Department of 
Education who teaches blind or visually impaired children shall demonstrate 
competence in reading and writing Braille. Provides how such demonstration may be 
made. 

Education 
02/08/11 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1525 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Oppose 

227



LB173 Avery Prohibit natural resources district board members from running for or holding more 
than one office 
 
No person serving in a natural resource district shall simultaneously hold another high 
elective office. 
  

Government, 
Military and 
Veterans Affairs 
02/02/11 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1507 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Monitor ? 

LB189 Council Adopt the Criminal Offender Employment Act 
 
On an initial application for public employment, there shall be no question or 
checkbox for the applicant regarding the applicant's criminal record. Any criminal 
record of the applicant shall not operate as an automatic bar to otherwise qualified 
applicants in obtaining public employment and shall only be taken into consideration 
after the applicant has been selected as a finalist for employment. Certain criminal 
records shall not be used in connection with application for public employment. 

Business and Labor 
01/24/11 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 2102 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Oppose 

LB192 Council Require school districts to offer instruction in sexual health education 
 
Provides that beginning with school year 2012-13, each school district must offer 
instruction in sexual health education with a curriculum pursuant to listed criteria in 
the bill and State Board of Education regulations. 

Education 
02/08/11 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1525 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Oppose 

LB236 Adams Change provisions relating to state aid to schools 
 
Reduces the base limitation rate for school district to 0% for 2011-12 and 2012-13, 
which would affect budget lids and several elements of the aid formula.  Elements of 
the budget lids would be permanently modified.  Modifications reducing total amount 
of state aid:  The cost growth factor would be permanently reduced by eliminating the 
factor that is added on to the two years of basic allowable growth rates in the 
calculation.  Need stabilization and the averaging adjustment would be eliminated 
beginning with the 2011-12 calculation of aid.  The local effort rate would be 
increased from $1.00 to $1.025 for 2011-12 and 2012-13.  The allocated income tax 
reduction would be extended for 2011-12 and 2012-13 and would be increased to $21 
million. NCSA Summary. 
 
It is estimated that LB236 would decrease the amount of state aid distributed in 
FY2011-12 by $184.8 million and the amount distributed in FY2012-13 by $231.9 
million of general funds. 

Education 
01/25/11 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1525 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Oppose 

228



LB247 Pahls Adopt the Classrooms First Act 
 
Requires 65% or more of each district’s total operating expenditures on direct 
classroom instruction beginning in 2012-13.  Defines what constitutes “direct 
classroom instruction”. Requires Commissioner of Education to send an “intervention 
team” to any district failing to comply, in order to help the school board and 
administration meet the requirements of the legislation.  Beginning in 2013-14, failure 
to comply for three consecutive years would mean loss of accreditation. NCSA 
Summary. 

Education 
01/25/11 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1525 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Oppose 

LB266 Sullivan Change the Open Meetings Act relating to closed sessions 
 
Provides that a public body may go into closed session for the evaluation of the job 
performance of a nonelected official or employee if such person has not requested a 
public meeting.  Current statute provides the body may go into closed session for 
evaluation of the job performance of a person when necessary to prevent needless 
injury to the reputation of a person and if such person has not requested a public 
meeting. 

Government, 
Military and 
Veterans Affairs 
01/26/11 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1507 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Support 

LB273 Dubas Change the Tax Equity and Educational Opportunities Support Act to provide for 
converted contracts and converted contract option students 

Education 
01/31/11 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1525 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 
 
LB273 
amended into 
LB 235 

Support 

LB287 Adams Change provisions relating to summer school and early childhood summer sessions 
 
Expands the existing TEEOSA summer school allowance for students enrolled in a 
summer session of an early childhood education program.  Changes the calculation of 
the allowance.  Further provides that each school district will receive an additional 
six-tenths of a summer school student unit for each early childhood education student 
unit attributed to a free lunch and free milk. NCSA Summary. 

Education 
01/31/11 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1525 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 
 
LB287 
amended into 
LB235 

Support 

LB364 Fischer Change provisions relating to calculation of state aid to schools 
 
Revises state aid formula to eliminate the instructional time allowance, the teacher 
education allowance, and the student growth adjustment for computation of state aid 
in school fiscal year 2011-12 and beyond.  Although the effect on individual school 
districts is not yet known, Senator Fischer has indicated her intent was to reduce the 
total liability for state aid to schools.  NCSA Summary. 

Education 
01/31/11 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1525 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Oppose 

LB381 Speaker Flood Change provisions relating to educational service units, withdraw from the Compact 
for Education, and eliminate a student achievement coordinator 

Education 
02/14/11 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1525 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Monitor 

229



LB439 Heidemann Change valuation of agricultural and horticultural land for school tax purposes 
 
Provides that for school district taxation purposes, agricultural and horticultural land 
shall be valued at 65% of its actual value, and greenland 65% of its special value.  
Provides that the acceptable range of TERC variation for such land for school district 
taxation purposes is 59% to 65% of actual value.  For purposes of TEEOSA, provides 
that agricultural and horticultural land has a state aid value of 62% of actual value and 
greenland has a state aid value of 62% of the special valuation. NCSA summary.   

Revenue 
03/03/11 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1524 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Oppose 

LB446 Adams Change duties and funding provisions relating to educational service units 
 
Provides that an ESU may consist of a single school district if that district is a Class 
IV or Class V district.  Provides that only an ESU with four or members or that is 
composed of a single Class IV or V school district may levy a tax.  Provides for the 
calculation of the adjusted students number for a single member ESU.  Provides that it 
is the intent of the legislature that each multidistrict ESU use 5% of its funding for 
core services and technology infrastructure for cooperative projects between member 
school districts and 5% for core services and technology infrastructure statewide 
projects.   

Education 
02/14/11 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1525 

###### ###### ###### Passed 3/8/12 
Signed by the 
Governor 
3/14/12 

Oppose 

LB531 Fulton Change permissible budget reserves for schools 
 
Lowers MPS allowable reserve percentage from 20% to 15%.  Provides that any 
reduction in a school district’s budget made to comply with the budget limitation 
under the state aid formula must affect classroom expenses at a last resort.  The 
obvious intent behind the bill is to force school districts to utilize its reserves toward 
instructional staff and to place instructional staff as the priority for budget 
expenditures.  NCSA Summary. 

Education 
02/01/11 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1525 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Oppose 

LB537 Karpisek Change provisions relating to budget limitations and property tax levy limitations Revenue 
02/04/11 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1524 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Support 

LB572 Price Limit transfers of students between learning community member school districts 
 
Provides that if a learning community coordinating council creates an elementary 
learning center within a member school district, a student residing in such member 
school district is not eligible to transfer to another school district within the learning 
community. 

Education 
02/28/11 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1525 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Oppose 

230



LB582 Haar Adopt the Student Expression Act 
 
Provides that the right of students to free expression in all public schools in Nebraska 
shall not be abridged except as provided in the Student Expression Act.  Prohibits 
certain types of student expression including (1) obscene expressions, defamatory 
expressions, and expression that creates clear and present danger of unlawful acts or 
causes material and substantial disruption of the school or invasion of privacy.  
Provides that the Legislature encourages school districts to adopt and publish policies 
on student expression following the guidelines of the Student Expression Act. 

Education 
03/08/11 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1525 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Oppose 

LB615 Krist Change provisions relating to access to student records and learning community 
reporting and diversity plans 
 
See LB 636 

Education 
02/22/11 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1525 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Oppose 

LB633 Adams Change provisions relating to certain tax levies and certain bonds of school districts 
and authorize refunding bonds 
 
(LB634:  Change provisions relating to the tax levy authority of school districts 
relating to certain bonds) 

Education 
03/01/11 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1525 

###### ###### ###### Signed by the 
Governor 
2/28/12 
 
LB634 
amended into 
LB633 

Support 

LB634 Adams Change provisions relating to the tax levy authority of school districts relating to 
certain bonds 
 
Allows a school district to exceed the maximum levy of 5.2¢ (to cover environmental 
hazard abetment and other projects) in any year in which: (1) the taxable valuation of 
the district is lower than the taxable valuation in the year in which the district last 
issued bonds pursuant to this section and (2) the maximum levy of 5.2¢ is insufficient 
to meet the combined annual principal and interest obligations for all bonds issued 
under section 79-10,110.  The amount generated from a district's levy in excess of the 
maximum levy of 5.2¢ upon the taxable valuation of the district may not exceed the 
combined annual principal and interest obligations for such bonds minus the amount 
generated by levying the maximum levy of 5.2¢ upon the taxable valuation of the 
district and minus any federal payments or subsidies associated with such bonds. 

Education 
03/01/11 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1525 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 
 
LB634 
amended into 
LB633 

Support 

LB635 Adams Change the Quality Education Accountability Act 
 
Requires the State Board of Education to establish an index to be used to measure the 
performance of individual public schools beginning with school year 2012-13.  
Schools who do not meet the minimum level of performance established by the board 
would be designated as a “priority school” and an intervention team would be 
established for each priority school.  The intervention team would develop annual 
progress plans.  Provides for possible loss of accreditation after 5 years of being a 
priority school.   

Education 
03/15/11 
at 1:30 p.m. 
room 1525 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 
 
LB635 
amended into 
LB 637 

Support 

231



LB636 Adams Change provisions relating to access to student records and learning community 
reporting and diversity plans 
 
Permits the disclosure of certain student records to learning community employees, 
but without identifiable personal information.  Requires the learning community 
coordinating council to annually report data and information provided by member 
school districts under certain sections to the Education Committee.  Changes 
requirements for the learning community school districts to provide copies of 
applications submitted to attend a focus school, focus program, magnet school, or 
school building not in the student’s attendance area and to mark whether that 
application was accepted or rejected.  
 
See LB 615 

Education 
02/22/11 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1525 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Oppose 

LB680 Heidemann Adopt the School Employees Cash Balance Retirement Act 
 
Creates a cash balance retirement system for new hire school employees, similar to 
the current plan offered to state employees, often referred to as a hybrid of both 
defined benefit and defined contribution plans.  Does not impact the retirement system 
for existing school employees.   Under the State Employees Retirement Plan, 
employees contribute about 4.8% of salary and the employer (the state) contributes 
about 7.5% of salary to an employee account.  The employee cannot control 
investment of the account, but is guaranteed an annual return of at least 5% a year.  
The account can receive a higher return, depending on investment earnings.  At 
retirement, the employee may buy an annuity, or withdraw the balance in a lump sum 
or in installments.  The bill will likely be referred to an interim study after the session 
adjourns.   
 
NCSA:  Would create a cash balance retirement system for new hire school 
employees.  It is important to note this legislation would not change the retirement 
system for existing school employees.  The bill proposes a retirement system similar 
to the current plan offered to state employees, often referred to as a hybrid system 
(both a defined benefit and defined contribution plan).  Senator Heidemann offered 
the bill knowing that it would require significant study.  The bill will likely be 
referred to an interim study after the session adjourns. 
 
 
  

Nebraska 
Retirement Systems 
03/01/11 
at 12:10 p.m. 
Room 1525 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Oppose 

LB717 Council Change school board election, membership, and salary provisions 
 
Provides for 3-5 member school boards for all school districts.  Provides for term 
limits and a $20,000 salary to all school board members.  

Government, 
Military and 
Veterans Affairs 
01/18/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1507 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Oppose 

232



LB720 Lautenbaugh 
 
LAUTENBAUGH 
PRIORITY BILL 
(2012) 

Change membership provisions and provide salaries for Class V school boards 
 
Provides term limits and a $20,000 salary for Class V school district board members. 
Reduces number of school board members to from 12 to 5 for Class V school 
districts.   

Government, 
Military and 
Veterans Affairs 
01/18/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1507 

######     Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Monitor 

LB731 Mello 
 
SPEAKER FLOOD 
PRIORITY BILL 
(2012) 

Adopt the Remanufacturing Pilot Project Act and provide an income tax credit 
 
Provides for a refundable and transferable tax credit to a taxpayer, nonprofit 
organization, or governmental unit for each ton of material recycled or composted in 
Nebraska in excess over the amount of the same material recycled, composted or 
disposed of in a base year. The per-ton credit shall equal the statewide average tipping 
fee.  The tax credit is funded by using 10% of the fee collections under litter fees and 
the Waste Reduction and Recycling Incentive Act. 

Revenue 
02/02/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1524 

######     Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Monitor 

LB736 Schumacher Require provision of secret-ballot envelopes for elections Government, 
Military and 
Veterans Affairs 
01/25/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1507 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Monitor 

LB746 Hadley Change school permit provisions Transportation and 
Telecommunications 
01/30/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
$oom 1113 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Monitor 

LB753 Avery Create funds and provide funding for childhood obesity prevention measures through 
sales taxation of soft drinks 
 
Creates an Obesity Education Fund within the Dept of Education funded by sales and 
use taxes on soft drinks.  $100,000 for statewide database, remaining funds to school 
districts.  Creates Obesity Prevention Fund with the Dept of Health and Human 
Services (ten percent of total funds) to be distributed to local public health 
departments. 

Revenue 
02/22/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1524 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Monitor 

233



LB758 Avery Change provisions relating to gifts given by a lobbyist or principal Government, 
Military and 
Veterans Affairs 
01/19/12 
at 1:30 p.m.  
Room 1507 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Monitor 

LB763 Louden Change provisions relating to freeholder petitions and elementary sites Education 
01/17/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1525 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Monitor 

LB778 Coash Change loan eligibility under the Excellence in Teaching Act 
 
Allocates the first $1 million in the Education Innovation Fund from Lottery proceeds 
to the Excellence in Teaching Cash Fund to fund the Attracting Excellence to 
Teaching Program.  Currently the first $40,000 is allocated in that manner.  Allows in 
2012-13 those who did not previously have a loan from the Attracting Excellence to 
Teaching Program to apply for a loan.  Currently only those currently receiving such a 
loan can apply in 2012-13. 

Education       01/09/12 
motion to 
withdraw bill 
filed 
01/10/12 bill 
withdrawn 

Monitor 

LB785 Christensen Authorize possession of firearms as prescribed 
 
Generally prohibits any business entity, owner, manager, or legal possessor of real 
property, or public or private employer from establishing a policy that prevents a 
person from storing a firearm in his or her car which is parked on that real property.  
Authorizes a civil action for persons damaged by such a policy or terminated from 
employment as a result of violating such a policy.   

Judiciary 
02/22/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1113 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Oppose 

LB800 Louden Change provisions relating to appraised value of school lands 
 
Provides that that for sales of educational lands at public auction, appraised value is 
the value as determined by the Board of Educational 
Lands and Funds.  Currently the value is established by a certified general real 
property appraiser under section 72-257 or 72-258. 

Education 
01/17/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1525 

###### ###### ###### Passed 3/1/12 
Signed by the 
Governor 
3/7/12 

Monitor 

234



LB802 Lautenbaugh Authorize carrying of concealed handguns by certain authorities within the scope of 
their employment 
 
Allows the Attorney General and his assistant attorneys and investigators, the U.S. 
District Attorney and his assistant attorneys, and county attorneys and their deputy 
attorneys to carry a concealed weapon in all the places where concealed weapons are 
not now permitted under state law.   

Judiciary 
01/25/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1113 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Monitor 

LB809 Lautenbaugh Change provisions relating to evaluation of certificated employees of schools 
 
Require all school districts to evaluate probationary and permanent employed teachers 
based upon actual classroom observations by a school district administrator, unless 
otherwise agreed to in a collective-bargaining agreement, for a minimum of 90 
minutes per semester with no one observation being less than 30 minutes. Under 
current law, if deficiencies are noted in the work performance of a probationary 
employed teacher, the evaluator must provide the teacher at the time of the 
observation with a list of deficiencies, a list of suggestions for improvement and 
assistance in overcoming the deficiencies, and follow-up evaluations and assistance 
when deficiencies remain.  LB 809 would extend this requirement to permanent 
employed teachers also. 

Education 
01/23/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1525 

      Killed 2/8/12 
 
LB809 
amended into 
LB 870 

Oppose 

235



LB821 Health and Human 
Services 
Committee 
 
HEALTH AND 
HUMAN 
SERVICES 
PRIORITY BILL 
(2012) 

Create the Nebraska Children's Commission and require legislation to create the 
Department of Children's Services 
 
Legislation to provide the creation of a state agency to oversee all programs providing 
services to children and families and to create and provide duties for a commission.   
The Health and Human Services Committee of the Legislature, in cooperation with 
the Department of Health and Human Services and the Nebraska Children’s 
Commission prepare legislation for the 2013 Legislative Session, to create the 
Department of Children’s Services with the responsibility for all child welfare service 
programs which are the responsibility of the state, including child welfare, behavioral 
health, developmental disabilities, public health, and Medicaid as such programs 
apply to children. This department will assume responsibility for duties currently 
assigned to the Office of Juvenile Services and the Division of Children and Family 
Services of the Department of Health and Human Services.  The assistant director of 
the Division of Medicaid and Long-Term Care of the Department of Health and 
Human Services will also serve as an assistant director of the Department of 
Children’s Services within the department and will oversee Medicaid needs relating to 
children.  The chief executive officer of the department shall be appointed by the 
Governor subject to the approval of the Legislature.  The department will begin to 
provide services on July 1, 2013.  The Nebraska Children’s Commission will develop 
and implement the Department of Children’s Services and create a strategic plan for 
reform of welfare programs and services in Nebraska.  The commission will consist of 
26 members representing the three branches of government. 
 
(LB957:  Adopt the Office of Inspector General for Nebraska Child Welfare Act) 

Health and Human 
Services 
02/01/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1510 

###### ###### ###### Passed w/E 
4/5/12 
Signed by the 
Governor 
4/11/12 
 
LB 957 
amended into 
LB 821 

Monitor 

LB822 Adams Change notice provisions relating to changes in real property valuations 
 
Provides that the notice sent by assessors to owners of property whose valuations have 
changed shall contain a statement that all classes of real property have been reviewed 
and fall within an acceptable range of values, rather than a statement that describes the 
average level of value of all classes and subclasses of real property in the county as 
determined by TERC. 

Revenue 
01/19/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1524 

###### ###### ###### Passed 4/4/12 
Signed by the 
Governor 
4/10/12 

Monitor 

LB823 Adams Change duties of county treasurers 
 
Provides that if a school district treasurer has not filed an official bond pursuant to 
section 11-107 or evidence of equivalent insurance coverage, the county treasurer 
may hold funds collected or received for the school district until such time as the bond 
or evidence of equivalent insurance coverage has been filed. 

Government, 
Military and 
Veterans Affairs 
02/02/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1507 

###### ###### ###### Passed 4/4/12 
Signed by the 
Governor 
4/10/12 

Monitor 

236



LB836 Pahls Change provisions relating to deposit and investment of public funds in certificates of 
deposit and time deposits 
 
Replaces references to the term “certificates of deposits or time” with the term 
“interest bearing deposits” as it relates to the conditions on the authorization given to 
the state or political subdivisions to invest or deposit funds. 

Banking, Commerce 
and Insurance 
01/17/12  
at 1:30 p.m. Room 
1507 

###### ###### ###### Passed w/E 
3/1/12 
Signed by the 
Governor 
3/7/12 

Monitor 

LB839 Council Require reporting of sexual misconduct by a school employee 
 
Requires reporting by a school employee who has received a report from a student of 
an allegation of sexual contact, sexual penetration, sexual abuse, or sexually 
exploitation on the part of a teacher or school employee. 

Judiciary 
01/25/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1113 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Monitor 

LB846 Sullivan Require employers to maintain employee emergency contact information 
 
Requires all employers to maintain certain current emergency contact information and 
make reasonable efforts to contact the employee’s primary and secondary emergency 
contacts when the employee is treated at a medical facility for an on the job injury. 

Business and Labor 
01/23/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 2102 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Monitor 

LB866 Haar Adopt the Nebraska Fair Employment Opportunity Act 
 
Prohibits employers with 20 or more employees from refusing to consider for 
employment or refusing to offer employment to an individual because the individual 
is unemployed.  Prohibits the same employers from advertising that unemployed 
individuals are disqualified from being hired or will not be considered.  Provides for 
civil fines after investigation by the Equal Opportunity Commission.  

Business and Labor 
01/23/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 2102 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Oppose 

LB869 Janssen Change provisions relating to the State Athletic Commissioner and change 
membership of the Athletic Advisory Committee 

Government, 
Military and 
Veterans Affairs 
02/16/12 
1:30 p.m. 
Room 1507 

###### ###### ###### Passed 4/4/12 
Signed by the 
Governor 
4/10/12 

Monitor 

237



LB870 Adams 
 
EDUCATION 
PRIORITY BILL 
(2012) 

Provide for an accountability system to measure school performance under the 
Quality Education Accountability Act 
 
Require the State Board of Education to establish by August 1, 2012 an accountability 
system to be used to measure the performance of individual public schools and school 
districts beginning with the 2012-13 school year. The system must combine multiple 
measures, including graduation rates, student growth and student improvement on 
statewide assessments, and other indicators of the performance.  The legislation 
permits the measures selected by the State Board to be combined into a school 
performance score and district performance score. The State Board must establish 
levels of performance for the indicators used in the accountability system in order to 
classify the performance of public schools and school districts.  NDE would be 
required to annually report the performance of individual public schools and school 
districts as part of the statewide assessment and reporting system. 
 
(LB809:  Change provisions relating to evaluation of certificated employees of 
schools) 
(LB1144: Provide for career academy schools) 

Education 
01/17/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1525 

###### ###### ###### Passed 4/2/12 
Signed by the 
Governor 
4/6/12 
 
LB809 and 
LB1144 
amended into 
LB 870 

Support 
LB809:  Oppose 
LB1144:  Oppose 

LB875 Howard Prohibit driving while using wireless communication devices in school crossing zones 
and construction zones 
 
Except as otherwise provided in subsection (2) of this section, no person shall use a 
handheld wireless communication device or an interactive wireless communication 
device while operating a motor vehicle which is in motion in a school crossing zone 
or a maintenance, repair, or construction zone.  This does not apply to A person 
performing his or her official duties as a law enforcement officer, a firefighter, an 
ambulance driver, or an emergency medical technician; or a person operating a motor 
vehicle in an emergency situation. $200 fine for first offense. 

Transportation and 
Telecommunications 
01/30/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1113 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Monitor 

LB884 Sullivan Create the Agricultural Literacy Task Force Agriculture 
01/31/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 2102 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Monitor 

LB895 McGill Provide for teacher certification for military spouses 
 
Provides that the Education Commissioner shall issue a certificate to teach in 
Nebraska to a military spouse if the military spouse satisfies a variety of enumerated 
conditions. Provides for a temporary certificate.   

Education  
01/23/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1525 

      Killed 1/25/12 Monitor 

238



LB902 Harr 
 
HARR PRIORITY 
BILL (2012) 

Redefine a term relating to property tax exemptions and change provisions relating to 
a sales tax exemption for purchases by the state or a governmental unit 
 
Provides a definition of “property of the state and its governmental subdivisions” for 
the purposes of exempting such property from property tax: (A) property held in fee 
title by the state or a governmental subdivision or (B) property beneficially owned by 
the state or a governmental subdivision in that it is used for a public purpose and is 
being acquired under a lease-purchase agreement, financing lease, or other instrument 
which provides for transfer of legal title to the property to the state or a governmental 
subdivision upon payment of all amounts due thereunder.  Applies both 
retrospectively and prospectively.   
 
LB902 would reverse a state tax ruling that would cost Omaha taxpayers an additional 
$7.5 million a year and would deliver unexpected tax bills to several other cities and 
counties for previously tax-exempt projects.  The bill is intended to address whether 
libraries, stadiums, parking garages and other public facilities built using a "lease-
purchase" arrangement should be taxed. 

Revenue 
02/09/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1524 

###### ###### ###### Passed w/E 
3/30/12 
Signed by the 
Governor 
4/5/12 

Support 

LB906 Wallman Change death benefits under the Nebraska Workers' Compensation Act 
 
Caps workers’ compensation reasonable expenses of burial at 13 times the state 
average weekly wage in the year of death rather than the current cap of $6000.  
Provides a $25,000 payment to a deceased employee’s personal representative if there 
is no spouse, child, or other dependent entitled to a deceased employee’s workers’ 
compensation benefits.   

Business and Labor 
01/30/12 
1:30 p.m.  
Room 2102 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Monitor 

LB909 Lautenbaugh Provide an employer defense under the Nebraska Workers' Compensation Act 
 
Creates an affirmative defense for an employer in a workers’ compensation action that 
the employee was willfully negligent in obtaining employment. Defines willful 
negligence in obtaining employment to mean an employee, as an applicant, to 
knowingly make false statements about his or her physical condition in an 
employment application or preemployment questionnaire. 

Business and Labor 
01/30/12 
1:30 p.m.  
Room 2102 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Monitor 

LB912 McCoy Provide requirements for local laws regulating discrimination 
 
Prohibits a political subdivision from adopting or enforcing a local law or policy that 
creates a protected classification unless such classification is contained in the Age 
Discrimination in Employment Act, the Nebraska Fair Employment Practice Act, the 
Nebraska Fair Housing Act, or sections 20-126 to 20-143 or 48-1219 to 48-1227. 
Does not apply to a law or policy that applies only to the employees of the political 
subdivision. 

Judiciary 
02/22/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1113 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Support 

239



LB913 Adams 
 
ADAMS 
PRIORITY BILL 
(2012) 

Change base limitation provisions and certain dates relating to the Tax Equity and 
Educational Opportunities Support Act 
 
Provide a gradual phase-back to the normal base spending limitation of 2.5% over a 
period of several years.  Under current provisions of TEEOSA, the base spending 
limit for schools in 2012-13 is set at one half percent but is increased to one percent 
for 2012-13. The base spending limit for 2013-14 would have been 2.5% under the 
current provisions of TEEOSA.  Under LB 913, the base limit would be set at 2%, 
which means, if no further legislative action intervenes, the base limit for 2014-15 
would be 2.5%.The bill also changes provisions related to the local effort rate (LER) 
for school districts. Sets the date for state aid certification, budget authority 
certification, and certification of applicable allowable reserve percentages as May 1, 
2012. 

Education 
02/13/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1525 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Support 

LB916 Nebraska 
Retirement Systems 
Committee 
 
NEBRASKA 
RETIREMENT 
SYSTEMS 
COMMITTEE 
PRIORITY BILL 
(2012) 

Change provisions relating to retirement 
 
Introduced at the request of the Nebraska Public Employees Retirement System and 
contains a number of clarifications and Internal Revenue Code compliance updates in 
the retirement plans.  The provisions of LB 973 and 1036 were amended into it. 
 
(LB973:  Provide for the use of retirement benefits to pay civil damages) 
(LB1036:  Provide for a cash balance benefit election for certain county and state 
employees and create county and state retirement funds) 

Nebraska 
Retirement Systems 
01/26/12 
at 12:10 p.m. 
Room 1524 

###### ###### ###### Passed w/E 
4/2/12 
Signed by the 
Governor 
4/6/12 
 
LB973 and 
LB1036 
amended into 
LB 916 

Monitor 
LB973: Monitor 

LB917 Cornett Change truancy provisions for absences relating to military employment activities 
 
Truancy policy shall not include absences due to documented illness or absences 
related to deployment activities as provided in Article V, Section E, of the Interstate 
Compact on Educational Opportunity for Military Children. 
 
See LB933, LB1165 

Judiciary 
02/03/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1113 
RESCHEDULED 
02/13/12 
at 9:30 a.m. 
Room 1113 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Monitor 

240



LB933 Ashford 
 
LANGEMEIER 
PRIORITY BILL 
(2012) 

Change provisions relating to truancy 
 
Schools shall review cases in which the child is absent for more than 20 days and 
determine if any  further action is necessary to get the child to attend school regularly. 
If the school district and the county attorney determine that further action is necessary 
to address the child's attendance, there shall be a meeting between the parents of the 
child, the school, and the county attorney or his or her designee at a location 
determined by the school.  Deletes requirement for the county attorney to file a 
complaint. 
 
See LB917, LB1165. 

Judiciary 
02/03/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1113 
RESCHEDULED 
02/13/12 
at 9:30 a.m. 
Room 1113 

###### ###### ###### Passed 4/2/12 
Signed by the 
Governor 
4/6/12 

Monitor 

LB947 Hadley 
 
HAAR PRIORITY 
BILL (2012) 

Change averaging adjustment and a certification date under the Tax Equity and 
Educational Opportunities Support Act 
 
Increases the 2012-13 base limitation for school districts to 2% from .5% Increases 
2012-13 averaging adjustment by .5%.  Changes 2012 certification date to April 15. 

Education 
02/13/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1525 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Support 

LB948 Lambert Change provisions and a penalty relating to intimidation by telephone call 
 
Broadens the offense of intimidation by telephone to include intimidation by 
electronic communication device.  Changes classification from Class III misdemeanor 
to Class I.  Electronic communication device means any device which, in its ordinary 
and intended use, transmits by electronic means writings, sounds, visual images, or 
data of any nature to another electronic communication device. 

Judiciary 
01/27/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1113 

######     Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Monitor 

LB956 Ashford Authorize an increase in city sales tax rates 
 
Increases the allowable local option sales tax from 1.5% to 2%.  Requires a local 
option sales tax rate above 1.5% to be put before the voters.  Terminates the tax after 
10 years or upon repayment of bonds, whichever is later.  Requires an Interlocal 
agreement with a school district or a county before a city can go above the 1.5% rate. 
 
Any increases approved by voters would sunset after 10 years, unless the revenue is 
used to repay bonds for a specific project.  The proposal would also require cities to 
partner with school districts or counties to address long-term needs. 
 
See LB 357 

Revenue 
02/16/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1524 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Monitor 

241



LB959 Janssen 
 
COASH 
PRIORITY BILL 
(2012) 

Provide immunity to employers for job references  
 
As passed LB 599 allows an employer to disclose, with immunity, certain information 
about a current or former employee if that employee gave his or her written consent.  
The information eligible for disclosure includes: (i) Date and duration of employment; 
(ii) Pay rate and wage history on the date of receipt of written consent; (iii) Job 
description and duties; (iv) The most recent written performance evaluation prepared 
prior to the date of the request; (v) Attendance information; (vi) Results of drug or 
alcohol tests administered within one year prior to the request; (vii) Threats of 
violence, harassing acts, or threatening behavior related to the workplace or directed 
at another employee; (viii) Whether the employee was voluntarily or involuntarily 
separated from employment and the reasons for the separation; and (ix) Whether the 
employee is eligible for rehire.  An employer could still be liable for disclosing 
information about an employee or former employee if it was shown by a 
preponderance of the evidence that the information disclosed was false, and the 
current or former employer had knowledge of its falsity or acted with malice or 
reckless disregard for the truth. 

Business and Labor 
02/06/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 2102 

###### ###### ###### Passed 4/4/12 
Signed by the 
Governor 
4/10/12 

Support 

LB962 Pahls 
 
PAHLS PRIORITY 
BILL (2012) 

Change provisions relating to tax expenditure reporting 
 
Require the Department of Revenue to make a report that lists each tax exemption 
relating to sales and use tax by specific categories.   

Health and Human 
Services 
02/13/12 
at 9:30 a.m. 
Room 1524 

###### ###### ###### Passed 4/2/12 
Signed by the 
Governor 
4/6/12 

Monitor 

242



LB968 Speaker Flood Provide for deficit appropriations 
 
As amended, the deficit appropriations bill provides funding for the University of 
Nebraska’s Building a Healthier Nebraska initiative which includes $15 million for a 
building addition at the University of Nebraska at Kearney to house an expanded 
University of Nebraska Medical Center College of Nursing Kearney division and a 
new UNK-based UNMC School of Allied Health Professions. $50 million for a 
cancer research tower at UNMC, part of a larger cancer center project that will 
position UNMC to earn prestigious Comprehensive Cancer Center designation from 
the National Institutes of Health. A commitment to pay the debt service on a $50 
million bond over ten years at $6 million a year for a new Veterinary Diagnostic 
Center at the University of Nebraska-Lincoln’s Institute for Agriculture and Natural 
Resources. 
 
(LB859:  Provide funding for renovation of Centennial Mall) 
(LB901: Designate funds to be used for services for persons with developmental 
disabilities) 
(LB952: Change appropriation provisions relating to the medical assistance program) 
(LB955:  Appropriate funds to the Department of Economic Development) 
(LB1017:  Transfer funds to the Affordable Housing Trust Fund) 
(LB1055:  Appropriate funds for a Kearney Division nursing and allied health 
professions facility) 
(LB1066:  Appropriate funds for planning and design of a veterinary diagnostic 
laboratory facility) 
(LB1089:  Appropriate funds for construction of a cancer research facility) 

Appropriations 
01/24/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1524 

###### ###### ###### Passed w/E 
3/27/12 
Signed by the 
Governor 
4/2/12 
 
LB859, LB901, 
LB952, 
LB1017, 
LB1055, 
LB1066, and 
LB1089 
amended into 
LB968 

Support 

LB970 Cornett 
 
MCCOY 
PRIORITY BILL 
(2012) 

Terminate the inheritance tax and change income tax rates and calculation 
 
LB 970 was introduced on behalf of the Governor.  As introduced it expanded 
brackets and lowered rates for both the state individual and state corporate income 
tax.  It also eliminated the inheritance tax.  But as passed by the Legislature, the bill 
only made changes to the individual income tax.  The bill lowers the rates beginning 
in 2014 on income on the first $2,400 from 2.56% to 2.46%; on income between 
$2,400-$17,500 from 3.57% to 3.51%; and on income between $17,500-$27,000 from 
5.12% to 5.01%.  The bill also expands tax brackets for all categories of filers 
beginning in 2015.  For example, the brackets for an individual filer go from $0-
$2,400 to $0-$3000; the $2,400-$17,5000 bracket goes to $3,000-$18,000 and the 
$17,500-$27,000 bracket goes to $18,000 - $29,000.   The estimated loss of revenue 
from LB 970 is $7.863 M in 2013, $33.706 M in 2014, and $55.608 M in 2015. 
 
See LB 1102 
 
Governor's Tax Plan Legislation 

Revenue 
01/26/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1524 

###### ###### ###### Passed 4/5/12 
Signed by the 
Governor 
4/10/12 

Monitor 

243



LB973 Coash Provide for the use of retirement benefits to pay civil damages 
 
Provides for the attachment of a judgment against an individual’s state sponsored 
retirement account (e.g. judges, school employees, state patrol) if that individual has 
been convicted of or pleads no contest to a felony that is defined as assault, sexual 
assault, kidnapping, child abuse, false imprisonment, or theft by embezzlement and is 
found liable for civil damages as a result of such family.  Provides that benefits or 
annuities to the extent reasonably necessary for the support of the employee or 
appointee or any of his or her beneficiaries are exempt. 

Nebraska 
Retirement Systems 
01/31/12 
at 12:10 p.m. 
Room 1525 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 
 
LB973 and 
LB1036 
amended into 
LB 916 

Monitor 

LB974 Pirsch Change the income tax rate 
 
Lowers primary income tax rate for establishing tax rate schedules from 3.70% to 
3.60%. 

Revenue 
02/24/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1524 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Monitor 

LB975 Smith Adopt the Fair Bidding Act 
 
Unless otherwise required by federal law, the bill would prohibit all state, state 
agency, and political subdivision contracts, RFPs, or bid specifications for 
construction from containing a term that prevents a bidder or their subcontractor from 
entering into or adhering to collective-bargaining agreements relating to construction 
under the public contract or a term that discriminates against bidders, public 
contractors, or subcontractors based on the status as a party or nonparty to, or the 
willingness or refusal to enter into, a collective-bargaining agreement relating to 
construction under the contract.  Further, state, state agency or political subdivision 
grants, loans, tax abatements, or tax credits may not be conditioned upon either of the 
terms above.   

Government, 
Military and 
Veterans Affairs 
02/22/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1507 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Monitor 

LB977 Mello Adopt the Property Tax Relief Act 
 
Provides that the first $8000 of a homestead is exempt from property taxation.  
Requires homestead owner to submit an application.  Reimburses counties for lost 
revenue.   

Revenue 
02/08/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1524 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Monitor 

LB985 Krist Provide for a juvenile justice pilot program 
 
Program to be administered by the Office of Probation Administration. Purposes: (1) 
provide access to services in the community for juveniles placed on probation, (2) 
prevent unnecessary commitment of juveniles to the Department of Health and 
Human Services and to the Office of Juvenile Services, (3) eliminate barriers 
preventing juveniles from receiving needed services, (4) prevent unnecessary 
penetration of juveniles further into the juvenile justice system, (5) enable the 
juvenile's needs to be met in the least intrusive and least restrictive manner, (6) reduce 
the duplication of resources within the juvenile justice system through intense 
coordinated case management and supervision, and (7) use evidence-based practices 
and responsive case management to improve outcomes for adjudicated juveniles. 

Judiciary 
01/26/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1113 

###### ###### ###### Passed w/E 
3/30/12 
Signed by the 
Governor 
4/5/12 

Monitor 

244



LB989 Haar Allow exceptions to property tax levy limitations and school district budget authority 
for 21st Century Community Learning Centers 
 
Defines a K-12 21st Century Community Learning Center and exempts it from 
property tax levy limitations.   

Revenue 
02/23/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1524 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Support 

LB990 Fulton 
 
SPEAKER FLOOD 
PRIORITY BILL 
(2012) 

Change flag display provisions for schools and require recitation of the Pledge of 
Allegiance 
 
Requires the American flag to be displayed in each public school classroom.  Further 
provides that all pupils enrolled in a school district shall be led in a group recitation of 
the Pledge of Allegiance to the flag of the United States during the first class of each 
day that school is open and in session. 

Education 
02/07/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1525 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Monitor 

LB991 Krist Provide for a study relating to countywide school districts 
 
Requires the appointment of a study committee to study (a) the costs and effects of 
requiring a single countywide school district in each county in Nebraska and (b) the 
feasibility of allowing exceptions to such a requirement for any existing school 
district that includes property in more than one county.   

Education 
02/07/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1525 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Oppose 

LB996 Wightman 
 
SEILER 
PRIORITY BILL 
(2012) 

Change provisions relating to compulsory attendance 
 
Removes the 16 year old with parental consent exception to the statute that requires 
those under the age of 18 to attend school. 

Education 
01/30/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1525 

###### ###### ###### Passed 4/3/12 
Signed by the 
Governor 
4/9/12 

Support 

LB999 Price Authorize the display of an honor and remember flag at public buildings 
 
Provides that certain public buildings, including school houses, may fly upon request 
a flag recognized and accepted by internationally recognized veterans organizations as 
commemorating and honoring the members of the United States Armed Forces who 
lost their lives in the line of duty. 

Government, 
Military and 
Veterans Affairs 
02/15/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1507 

###### ######   Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Monitor 

245



LB1011 Dubas Adopt the Property Tax Relief Act 
 
Provides a refundable income tax credit up to $4000 to agricultural property owners 
and year-around owner-occupied residential property owners.  The amount of the 
credit is determined by subtracting a percentage of the claimant's household income 
from the amount of property taxes accrued in the preceding calendar year.  The 
percentage subtracted varies by the claimant’s household income and ranges from 4% 
for incomes below $10,000 to 18% for incomes above $30,000. A person with $3000 
in property taxes and $27,000 in household income would receive a credit of $570 
($3000 – (.09 x $27,000)).  A person with $10,000 in property taxes and $40,000 in 
household income would receive a credit of $1000 ($10,000 – (.18 x $40,000)). 

Revenue 
02/23/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1524 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Monitor 

LB1012 Lautenbaugh Change medical treatment and temporary disability provisions under the Nebraska 
Workers' Compensation Act 
 
For workers’ compensation purposes, the bill allows an employer to provide work at a 
different employer or non-profit, if the work meets the doctor imposed temporary 
restrictions. Eliminates workers compensation benefits when an employee is fired for 
cause or resigns. Provides that an employee's refusal or neglect to avail himself or 
herself of medical or surgical treatment furnished by the employer shall result in a 
rebuttable presumption that the employee's disability would have been reduced or his 
or her condition would have been improved if he or she had availed himself or herself 
of such medical or surgical treatment.  Eliminates workers compensation benefits 
during a period an individual is incarcerated unless the injury occurred while the 
individual was employed by a for-profit employer engaged in interstate commerce.   

Business and Labor 
01/30/12 
1:30 p.m.  
Room 2102 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Monitor 

LB1020 Nordquist 
 
SPEAKER FLOOD 
PRIORITY BILL 
(2012) 

Adopt the Nebraska Coordinated School Health Act 
 
Creates a grant program for schools to establish school based health centers. 

Education 
01/31/12 
at 1:30  p.m. 
Room 1525 

###### ###### ###### Passed w/E 
4/5/12 
Returned by 
Governor 
without 
approval on 
4/11/12 
Failed to 
become law 
notwithstanding 
the objections 
of the Governor 
4/18/12 

Monitor 

246



LB1023 Avery Provide for the waiver of education-related fees for dependents of veterans 
 
Sets a retirement contribution rate from state troopers at XX of monthly compensation 
beginning on July 1, 2012. 

Government, 
Military and 
Veterans Affairs 
02/15/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1507 

######     Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Monitor 

LB1038 Council Require blood-lead testing prior to school enrollment 
 
Provides that between October 1, 2012 and December 1, 2012, each member who is 
employed and participating in the County Employee Retirement System or Nebraska 
State Employee Retirement System prior to January 1, 2003 may elect to join the cash 
balance benefit plan rather than the defined benefit plan.  

Education 
01/31/12 
at 1:30  p.m. 
Room 1525 

###### ###### ###### Passed 4/4/12 
Signed by the 
Governor 
4/10/12 

Oppose 

LB1039 Brasch 
 
SPEAKER FLOOD 
PRIORITY BILL 
(2012) 

Change provisions relating to school bus safety requirements 
 
Provides a fine and loss of points from a driver’s license for not stopping for a school 
bus which is stopped and has the stop arm extended.    

Transportation and 
Telecommunications 
01/30/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
$oom 1113 

###### ###### ###### Passed 3/30/12 
Signed by the 
Governor 
4/5/12 

Monitor 

LB1045 Haar Authorize school district expenditures in case of disaster or emergency as prescribed 
 
Provides that in the event of a disaster, a school may make emergency expenditures, 
enter into contracts, and incur obligations for emergency management purposes 
regardless of existing statutory limitations and requirements pertaining to 
appropriations, budgeting, levies, or the manner of entering into contracts. 

Education 
02/21/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1525 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Support 

LB1061 Heidemann 
 
HEIDEMANN 
PRIORITY BILL 
(2012) 

Change provisions relating to valuation of agricultural land 
 
Provides for a new valuation method of agricultural and horticultural land for school 
district taxation purposes.  The percentage of actual value to be used declines from 
73% in 2013 to 65% in 2017 and after. 

Revenue 
02/08/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1524 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Oppose 

LB1068 Adams Create and provide duties for the Medicaid in the Public Schools Task Force 
 
Creates a task force to examine the efficiency and effectiveness of the current systems 
for seeking medicaid reimbursements from the federal government for physical 
therapy, occupational therapy, speech therapy, and administrative claims; and the 
feasibility of expanding the special education services for which medicaid 
reimbursements from the federal government are sought. 

Education 
02/21/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1525 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Monitor 

247



LB1074 Schilz Provide duties for the State Department of Education relating to the federal Family 
Educational Rights and Privacy Act 

Education 
02/07/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1525 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Support 

LB1076 Karpisek Change requirements for copies of public records and speaking at public meetings 
 
Limits the public’s right to speak at a public body’s meeting to just speaking on 
agenda items.  Provides that custodians of records need only provide copies of records 
if requested and if copying equipment is reasonably available.  Provides that, after a 
request, custodians of public records need not copy, produce, or generate any public 
record created within a certain time frame unless the request specifies a specific 
subject matter. 

Government, 
Military and 
Veterans Affairs 
02/22/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1507 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Monitor 

LB1079 Mello 
 
CONRAD 
PRIORITY BILL 
(2012) 

Provide grants for educational bridge programs for low-income adults Education 
02/06/12 
at 1:30 p.m 
Room 1525 

###### ###### ###### Passed w/E 
4/2/12 
Signed by the 
Governor 
4/6/12 

Monitor 

LB1084 Christensen Require all land leased by the Board of Educational Lands and Funds be open to the 
public for hunting, fur harvesting, and fishing 

Education 
02/21/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1525 

      Killed 2/23/12 Monitor 

LB1090 Wallman 
 
WALLMAN 
PRIORITY BILL 
(2012) 

Provide for the awarding of grants and the distribution of information relating to the 
Summer Food Service Program by the State Department of Education 

Education 
01/31/12 
at 1:30  p.m. 
Room 1525 

###### ###### ###### Passed 4/5/12 
Signed by the 
Governor 
4/11/12 

Monitor 

LB1098 Council Repeal the Build Nebraska Act and change distribution of sales and use tax revenue 
 
The bill removes the proceeds of the one quarter cent of sales tax to be collected on or 
after July 1, 2013 to July 1, 2033, for the Build Nebraska Act. (Removes the funding 
from LB 84, passed in 2011, to be used for new high priority roads projects, 
expressways and infrastructure funding to cities and counties.) 

Revenue 
02/16/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1524 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Monitor 

248



LB1104 Adams 
 
AVERY 
PRIORITY BILL 
(2012) 

Change the Postsecondary Education Act 
 
(LB954:  Change provisions of the college savings plan) 

Education 
02/06/12 
at 1:30 p.m 
Room 1525 

###### ###### ###### Passed 4/3/12 
Signed by the 
Governor 
4/9/12 
 
LB954 
amended into 
LB1104 

Monitor 

LB1105 Adams Change and eliminate provisions relating to schools Education 
02/07/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1525 

######     Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Monitor 

LB1124 Council Provide for designation of priority schools 
 
Provides for creation of an accountability system to measure performance of schools.  
Schools that do not reach certain target standards are designated as a priority school.  
Provides for intervention teams to develop progress plans for priority schools.  Directs 
Department of Education to establish a kindergarten readiness advisory group.   

Education 
01/30/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1525 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Monitor 

LB1131 McGill Adopt the Innovation, Discovery, and Entrepreneurial Act Education 
01/30/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1525 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Monitor 

LB1144 Ashford Provide for career academy schools 
 
Allows the creation of a career academy school to provide holistic education to help 
students find a career-based educational alternative to a college-bound educational 
curriculum. 

Education 
01/30/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1525 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 
 
LB1144 
amended into 
LB 870 

Oppose 

LB1145 McGill 
 
JUDICIARY 
PRIORITY BILL 
(2012) 

Change and provide provisions and penalties relating to human trafficking and 
pandering 
 
Requires signage which advertises the National Human Trafficking Resource Hotline 
to be posted at airports, high schools, hospitals, and other places.  Changes 
classification of pandering to Class III if the prostitute is under 18 years of age.  
Provides various items are to be seized without a warrant and subject to forfeiture if 
used in connection with a human trafficking offense.  Allows a conviction to be 
vacated in certain instances when the defendant’s participation was the result of 
having been a victim of trafficking.  Creates a commission. 

Judiciary 
02/16/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1113 

###### ###### ###### Passed 4/5/12 
Signed by the 
Governor 
4/11/12 

Monitor 

249



LB1154 Lathrop Provide job training programs for recipients of unemployment insurance benefits 
 
Allows money in the Nebraska Training and Support Trust Fund to be used for 
support of public and private on-site job training programs designed to train 
Nebraskans currently receiving unemployment insurance benefits and to be used for 
costs associated with providing those programs. 

Business and Labor       Motion to 
withdraw bill 
filed 1/20/12 
Bill withdrawn 
1/23/12 

Monitor 

LB1156 Carlson Exempt non-equalized schools from expenditure limits in the Tax Equity and 
Educational Opportunities Support Act 

Education 
02/13/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1525 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Oppose 

LB1165 Fulton Change provisions relating to truancy and excessive absenteeism 
 
If a child is habitually truant, the school district shall review the case and determine if 
any further action is necessary to get the child to attend school regularly. If the school 
district determines that further action is necessary to address the child's attendance, 
there shall be a meeting between the school district and the parent, guardian, or 
custodian of the child at a location determined by the school. If the school district 
determines after such meeting that further action is necessary to get the child to attend 
school regularly, the school district may file a report with the county attorney of the 
county in which the child resides. Excessive absenteeism means excused or 
unexcused absences from school in excess of the number of days or hourly equivalent 
stated in the school district policy and (b) truant means not excused to the satisfaction 
of district policy by the parent, guardian, or other person having control of the child. 
 
See LB917, LB933. 

Judiciary 
02/03/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1113 
RESCHEDULED 
02/13/12 
at 9:30 a.m. 
Room 1113 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Oppose 

LB1168 Lautenbaugh Adopt the School District Purchasing Act 
 
Provides a uniform purchasing procedure for school district purchases of equipment, 
supplies, other items of personal property, and services.  Provides for sales of surplus 
personal property which is obsolete or not usable by the school district. 

Education 
02/21/12 
at 1:30 p.m. 
Room 1525 

      Killed at 
adjournment 
4/18/12 

Oppose 

 

250



AGENDA  SUMMARY  SHEET 
 
 

AGENDA ITEM: Insurance Report 
 
MEETING DATE: May 21, 2012 
 
DEPARTMENT: General Administration 
 
TITLE & BRIEF 
DESCRIPTION: Insurance Report – An annual report from the District’s insurance consultant 
 
ACTION DESIRED: Approval              Discussion             Information Only     x                                 .       
 
BACKGROUND: The District has engaged the services of the Harry A. Koch, Company (HAKCO) 

as its insurance consultant.  Each year, the consultant makes a report to the board 
and addresses any questions the board members may have. 

 
 Bill Unger (HAKCO) will give a short presentation (see information attached) and 

respond to any questions. 
 
OPTIONS AND 
ALTERNATIVES: n/a 
 
RECOMMENDATION: n/a 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN 
REFERENCE: n/a 
 
IMPLICATIONS OF 
ADOPTION/REJECTION: n/a 
 
TIMELINE: Most of the District’s insurance policies renew on June 1st. 
 
RESPONSIBLE PERSON: Ken Fossen, Associate Superintendent (General Administration) 
 
SUPERINTENDENT’S 
APPROVAL: __________________________ 

251



 

 

 
 

Millard Public Schools 
2012 Commercial Insurance Risk Management Report 

 
Millard Public Schools property and casualty program renews on June 1, 2012.   The 
exposures and rates are up in 2012 (see exhibit 1).  The total premium has increased 
13% or $192,922 from the expiring term mainly due to the workers compensation 
line of coverage.  The remaining lines of coverage had rate increases in the one to 
five percent range.   
 
The insurance carriers and coverages have remained the same on all lines of 
coverage.   We marketed the property and automobile lines of coverage to sixteen 
various insurance companies, however Travelers continues to provide the best 
coverage and rate for these lines.   We did not market the workers compensation or 
package (general liability, school board legal liability, medical malpractice, and 
fiduciary) since these were major changes, and within their first term with Millard 
Public Schools.   As of last year’s marketing results, Liberty Mutual was the best 
priced alternative as all other carries were over $1 million dollars in premium.    
 
This year the workers compensation premium has increased 17%  to $983,372 due 
to adverse loss experience.   At the nine month term, workers compensation losses 
were at a 52% loss ratio.   From Millard’s actual historical experience we know that 
losses will develop an additional 84% on average after the nine month evaluation 
(see exhibit 3).  If this comes true for the 2011 term, the workers compensation 
losses will mature at $789,000 (or 96% loss ratio).   
 
Millard Public Schools’ commercial insurance program will experience an overall 
increase of 13% across all lines which is slightly above the average market results.   
However, 85% of the additional premium is due to the workers compensation.   In 
2012 the average renewal is up five to ten percent on average, however, if there is 
adverse loss experience, a company can expect an increase above 10% which is 
where Millard Public Schools falls.   
 

252



 

 

 
It is important to look back at the overall cost of risk for Millard Public Schools to 
gain a greater perspective of historical costs.   In 2011, Millard moved to a $100,000 
large deductible for the general liability, automobile, and school board legal.   The 
cost savings was tremendous.  The change to United Educators provided Millard 
Public Schools with an overall premium savings in excess of $300,000.   This has 
proven to be a good decision for Millard as losses in the package have been better 
than average.  To date, only $65,982 has been incurred with 82% being held in 
reserves.  The three year historical perspective will show that while premiums have 
increased in 2012, the total cost of insurance is 6.3% below 2010 costs.   
 
In the 2012/13 term, the focus will be on safety and loss prevention.  Injuries to 
teachers, para professionals, and special education teachers account for 58% of all 
loss dollars.   Injuries to support services account for the remaining 42% of loss 
dollars.   Slips and falls are the leading cause of loss (53%), with manual material 
handling (backs and shoulders) as the second leading cause of loss (25%).   
 
 
The Future Market 
 
Millard Public Schools’ total premium is driven by the workers compensation.  This 
line makes up 61% of total dollars spent.   The cost of healthcare and the increase of 
indemnity in the state of Nebraska will continue to have upward pressure on 
premiums.   Insurance carriers are experiencing a 117% combined loss ratio and 
thus are weary on being overly competitive on this line of coverage.  We will 
consider alternative loss sharing programs for the workers compensation at future 
renewals.  The remaining package is self insured up to the first $100,000 and rates 
should remain stable for the coming years.   Bottom line, the district’s loss 
experience will have a direct impact on the total cost risk.   
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Don Kamins        Bill Johnson      Bill Unger 
Vice President        Sr. Vice President    Vice President 

 

253



Coverage  2012

Insurance Carriers

 2010

Premium 

 2011

Premium 

 2012

Premium 

Comments

Property Travelers 301,105$       302,174$       328,990$       1% Exposure Increase; 7% rate increase; 

Inland Marine Travelers 6,093$           6,093$           7,821$           31% Exposure increase; 2% rate decrease

Boiler & Machinery Travelers 28,624$         28,989$         30,275$         1% Exposure Increase; 4% rate increase

Casualty Policy (GL, Auto Liab, 

MedMal, School Board Legal 

Liability, Fiduciary)

United Educators 509,267$       182,096$       181,057$       3% Exposure Increase;

Expiring premium includes 1st year program fees

(Cost saving of $327,171 from 2010 to 2011)

Automobile – Physical Damage Travelers 28,140$         29,096$         32,065$         5% exposure and rate increase

Workers Compensation Liberty 809,043$       823,470$       983,372$       2% Exposure Increase; 14% rate increase;

Exp Mod decreased from 1.05 to 1.02

Crime Travelers 8,510$           9,100$           9,057$          

Pollution/Mold Liability Lloyds 36,519$         35,535$         35,535$        

Sub Total 1,727,301$   1,416,553$   1,608,172$  

Harry A. Koch Co Consulting Fee 45,414$         46,197$         47,500$         CPI BOLS All Urban Consumer Index .02821

Total Cost with Consulting Fee 1,772,715$   1,462,750$   1,655,672$  

School District #17 of Douglas County
Millard Public School District
2012 Insurance Proposal

1. All policies are written "net cost" without commisison to HAK Co.

254



SCHOOL DISTRICT #17 OF DOUGLAS COUNTY AKA MILLARD PUBLIC SCHOOLS

Valued as of April 2012

Policy Year SCHOOL BOARD LEGAL
# of Claims Incurred Losses # of Claims Incurred Losses # of Claims Incurred Losses # Caims Incurred Losses # Caims Incurred Losses # Caims Incurred Losses

Paid & Reserved Paid & Reserved Paid & Reserved Paid & Reserved Paid & Reserved Paid & Reserved

2000 16 6,600$                 15 4,100$                 Unknown -$                       0 -$                       
2001 6 30,230$               20 115,000$             Unknown -$                       0 -$                       
2002 164 541,629$              4 2,445$                  7 1,141$                 27 27,237$               1 -$                       0 -$                       
2003 168 515,257$              1 -$                     6 11,047$               26 36,821$               1 -$                       0 -$                       
2004 168 234,014$              0 -$                     7 19,557$               27 80,868$               0 -$                       0 -$                       
2005 138 311,017$              1 -$                     1 475$                    21 18,840$               1 1,055$                   0 -$                       
2006 158 425,374$              0 -$                     7 15,291$               35 86,016$               0 -$                       0 -$                       
2007 158 521,618$              1 2,004$                  10 27,451$               36 216,112$             2 -$                       0 -$                       
2008 108 401,347$              2 2,637$                  12 18,954$               30 88,614$               0 -$                       0 -$                       
2009 110 727,901$              1 -$                     14 8,460$                 35 8,314$                 5 7,416$                   0 -$                       
2010 108 1,533,443$           1 -$                     6 9,961$                 24 8,332$                 1 -$                       0 -$                       
2011 159 450,772$              1 12,296$                3 6,302$                 17 60,397$               1 -$                       0 -$                       

Total 1439 5,662,372$           12 19,382$                95 155,469$             313 750,651$             12 8,471$                   0 0

•Remuneration

GENERAL LIABILITYAUTO UMBRELLA EXCESSWorkers Compensation Property/Boiler Machinery

255



Millard Public School District
Loss Triangles
Valued : April, 2012
 
 
Incurred 
Loss plus 
ALAE

Effective 
Year Premium Loss Ratio 9 21 33 45 57 69 81 93 105 117 129

Development - 
1st Yr to Last

1999 338,417$      63% 108,086$             134,793$     160,478$ 168,557$ 164,561$ 160,263$ 160,263$ 156,795$ 212,816$  212,884$  212,816$  97%
2000 360,146$      93% 313,500$             314,262$     379,035$ 379,132$ 376,180$ 376,180$ 377,051$ 333,412$ 333,412$  333,412$  333,412$  6%
2001 408,635$      122% 114,426$             249,951$     342,269$ 443,323$ 458,325$ 498,857$ 500,073$ 501,571$ 498,071$  498,071$  498,071$  335%
2002 435,760$      124% 156,680$             249,437$     272,570$ 275,585$ 353,869$ 638,444$ 623,800$ 541,629$ 541,629$  541,629$  246%
2003 555,301$      93% 370,554$             552,329$     685,913$ 733,961$ 547,061$ 598,539$ 515,257$ 515,257$ 515,257$  39%
2004 638,223$      37% 173,394$             212,401$     226,789$ 234,692$ 235,363$ 234,442$ 234,442$ 234,442$ 35%
2005 792,959$      39% 185,239$             233,974$     317,678$ 313,275$ 311,002$ 311,002$ 311,002$ 68%
2006 708,796$      60% 434,241$             473,767$     427,055$ 425,359$ 425,359$ 425,359$ -2%
2007 718,848$      66% 320,733$             521,515$     477,669$ 521,618$ 521,618$ 49%
2008 554,234$      76% 410,635$             462,160$     422,065$ 401,347$ -2%
2009 606,965$      93% 284,339$             563,667$     727,901$ 156%
2010 809,043$      208% 1,680,434$          1,533,443$  -9%
2011 823,470$      52% 429,082$             

Average Development

Months from Inception

84.85%

0%
15%
30%
45%
60%
75%
90%

105%
120%
135%
150%
165%
180%
195%
210%
225%

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

Millard Public Schools

Loss Ratio by Year

-50%
0%

50%
100%
150%
200%
250%
300%
350%
400%

Millard Public Schools

Development after 9 months

256


	Board Packet May 21, 2012
	Agenda May 21, 2012
	Administrative Memorandum May 21, 2012
	E.1. Approval of Board of Education Minutes - May 7, 2012
	Financials
	E.4. Approval of Committee of the Whole Meeting Minutes
	G.1. Approval of Policy Travel Not Sponsored by the District
	G.2. Approval of Policy 6660 Problem Solving Process
	G.3. Approval of Policy 7305 Technology - Web and Social Media Publishing
	H.1. Approval of Collective Bargaining Agreement with the MEA
	H.3. Approval of 2012 Graduates
	Millard North High
	Millard South High
	Millard West High
	H.4. Approval of High School Calendars
	Millard North High
	Millard South High
	Millard West High
	Millard Community Calendar
	H.5. - H.11. Reaffirm Policy 1105, Rule 1105.1, Policy 1120, Rule 1120.1, Policy 1125, Policy 1215, Rule 1215.1 
	H.5. Policy 1105 Community Relations News Media
	H.6. Rule 1105.1 Community Relations - News Media - School Department and School-Related Groups
	H.7. Policy 1120 Community Relations - Board of Education Meetings
	H.8. Rule 1120.1 Community Relations - Board of Education Meetings
	H.9. Policy 1125 Community Relations - Responsibilities of the Board of Education
	H.10. Policy 1215 Community Relations - Citizens' Advisory Committees:  For the Staff
	H.11. Rule 1215.1 - Community Relations - Citizens' Advisory Committees:  For the Staff
	H.12. Approval of Rule 1105.2 Community Relations - New Media - Coverage of Board Meetings
	H. 14. First Reading of Policy 5120 Student Withdrawal
	H.15. First Reading of Policy 6331 - Curriculum, Instruction and Assessment - Acceleration and Retention
	H.16. Delete Rule 6660.1 Problem Solving Process 
	H.17. First Reading of Policy 6900 Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment - Research-Testing
	H.18. Approval of Rule 7305.1 Technology - Web and Social Media Publishing
	H.19. Approval of Renewal of Contract with Score Tables by Design
	H.20. Approval of Response to Instruction and Intervention Model (RtI+I)
	H.21. Approval of Personnel Actions
	Resignations
	New Hires
	Leaves of Absence
	Contract Amendments
	I.1. Legislative Update  Report
	I.2. Insurance Report



